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30 September 2019
The Hon Michael Gunner MLA
Minister for Trade and Major Projects
Minister for Northern Australia
Minister for Business and Innovation
Minister for Defence Jobs, and Veterans Affairs
Parliament House
Darwin NT 0800

Dear Minister
In accordance with the provisions of Section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993, I
am pleased to present the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation 2018–19 Annual Report on activities
and achievements.
Pursuant to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993, the Financial Management Act 1995 and
the Information Act 2002, I advise that to the best of my knowledge and belief:
a) proper records of all transactions affecting the agency are kept and that employees under their control
observe the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, the Financial Management Regulations
and Treasurer’s Directions
b) procedures within the agency afford proper internal control in accordance with the
Treasurer’s Direction G2.2; include controls identified in the department’s risk management register;
and a current description of such procedures is recorded in the accounting and property manual which
has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 1995
c) no indication of malpractice, major breach of legislation or delegation, major error in or omission from
the accounts and records exists
d) in accordance with the requirements of section 15 of the Financial Management Act 1995, the internal
audit capacity available to the agency is adequate and the results of internal audits have been reported
to the accountable officer
e) the financial statements included in the annual report have been prepared from proper accounts and
records and are in accordance with Treasurer’s Directions
f) all Employment Instructions issued by the Commissioner for Public Employment have been satisfied
g) the agency has implemented processes to achieve compliance with the archives and records
management provisions as prescribed in Part 9 of the Information Act 2002.
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Purpose of the report
This annual report highlights the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation’s achievements for the
2018–19 financial year.
This report has been prepared to meet the requirements of section 28 of the Public Sector Employment and
Management Act 1993, section 11 of the Financial Management Act 1995 and Part 9 of the Information
Act 2002.
It provides the Ministers, the Northern Territory Legislative Assembly and other interested parties with a
record of the department’s functions, significant activities undertaken, and performance for
2018–19.

Report structure
The report contains the Chief Executive Officer’s overview and comprises the following reporting chapters:
1. Our Organisation: a snapshot of the organisation’s vision, purpose, functions and structure.
2. Our Performance: a summary of the department’s progress and achievements during 2018–19
against the planned outcomes outlined in 2018–19 Budget Paper No. 3 and the Department of
Trade, Business and Innovation Strategic Directions 2017–21.
3. Corporate Governance: performance related to the corporate governance framework underpinning
the operations of the organisation.
4. Our People: an overview of the department’s human resource management and compliance
relating to legislative requirements.
5. Financial Report: the department’s financial management and performance.
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Message from the Chief Executive Officer
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation delivered strategic
projects, policies and initiatives throughout the 2018–19 financial year
to create a pipeline of investment, grow local businesses and
encourage a culture of innovation in the Territory.
As the lead agency for economic development, and following on from
an economic high the Territory experienced from the INPEX Ichthys
Project and the subsequent decline in economic activity post
construction, the department’s focus is now on regulatory reform to
deliver market certainty. This creates an environment conducive to
innovation and expedites private investment decision-making.
The aim is to foster an economy that is resilient, diversified, adaptable
and attractive to private investment so it is not affected by the peaks
and troughs of industry sectors or individual projects. To achieve this
aim, the department is delivering a more refined approach to
identifying and securing new private investment to the Territory,
providing stronger guidance, clarity and investment stewardship to businesses along their investor journey.
From 1 July 2019 the new Investment Territory team will lead the whole-of-government effort to double
the Territory’s average growth rate from the current forecast of 2.5 per cent to 5 per cent, adding a
billion dollars to the Territory economy and creating jobs. The team will bring together key private sector
investment attraction functions from across government and will help deliver the recommendations of the
Government’s Final Report, A Plan for Budget Repair.
An enhanced Economic Innovation function within the department will also lead key regulatory and policy
reforms to maximise the Territory’s investment potential.
The Business and Workforce functions will continue to focus on encouraging excellence in Territory
business, promoting investment and expansion across the Territory’s diverse industries and regions, and
fostering industry development to benefit all Territorians.
In the past year, the department’s work encouraged the expansion of existing businesses in the Territory
and attracted and developed major projects. We continued to focus on our priority sectors — energy,
minerals, agribusiness, the pastoral sector, defence and international education — by driving initiatives and
reforms that encouraged more private sector investment.
We worked to continuously improve our procurement policy and practices to ensure that the money
government spends achieves best value for Territorians and benefits Territory businesses to the greatest
extent possible.
We continued to position the Territory to be a world-class gas production, manufacturing and services hub
through implementing our Five Point Plan to expand the LNG export hub; grow the service and supply
industry; establish gas based processing and manufacturing; grow research, innovation and training; and
contribute to national energy security.
The Territory now supplies more than 10 per cent of Japan’s annual global LNG imports. This is just the
beginning, with land available to expand our LNG production, undeveloped large scale offshore reserves
and potentially globally significant onshore gas resources
Green shoots are already emerging, signalling that the Territory‘s economic future in the immediate term is
brightening. As of 30 June 2019 there is currently more than $31 billion worth of major projects currently
being facilitated. Once landed, these projects will create more than 3700 jobs during construction and over
3000 jobs when operational.
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One of the highlights of private sector investment in 2018–19 is the development of the high-end Darwin
Westin Hotel, which reached a major milestone with the start of roadworks at the Waterfront site in
March 2019. This $200 million private sector investment will support 500 jobs during its construction
phase and will provide 150 jobs and a significant boost to the tourism industry once it is operational in
2022.
We identified economic opportunities focusing on targeted national and international engagement through
Team NT, and this is one facet of our work leading the strategic engagement and policy agenda for
Developing Northern Australia.
Defence is an important aspect of the Territory’s history and attracting further defence investment to the
Territory will be a vital part of the further development of Northern Australia. We continued to work in
partnership with Defence and industry to grow local capability to be nationally competitive and meet the
demands of the future.
The Territory has committed $100 million to the Darwin Ship Lift and Marine Industry Park. The Ship Lift
will support more than 100 jobs in construction and will position Darwin as a hub for marine maintenance
and servicing in the region.
Space is one of the Territory’s future growth sectors and emerging opportunities for the Territory in the
space economy was a focus for our industry development efforts in 2018–19. In an exciting development,
NASA announced in May 2019 that it will work with Equatorial Launch Australia (ELA) to use the
Arnhem Space Centre for its sounding rocket program in 2020.
We supported Territory businesses and projects to become investment ready by implementing the
Local Jobs Fund. The $89 million co-investment fund is designed to accelerate major and significant
projects in the Territory that create and support jobs. The fund opened for applications in May 2019.
It is through meaningful population expansion that we will secure scale for sustained economic growth.
We provided added impetus for new Territorians to join us through the Welcome to Territory Incentives
program which opened in November 2018 and targets interstate workers to fill high priority occupations
and boost the Territory’s population.
We encouraged a sustainable innovation ecosystem in the Territory through the Northern Territory
Business Innovation Strategy launched in October 2018. All 34 actions of the strategy to ignite and inspire
innovation are now either complete or are underway.
We cultivated ideas in partnership with enterprising Territorians through Business Innovation Support
Initiatives (BISI). The program provided $512 390 in grant funding to 32 businesses to support Territory
businesses to bring great ideas to fruition.
Honing a more skilled Territory workforce is vital to building the Territory’s capacity to attract and sustain
private investment. There were 27 Business Upskills workshops delivered across the Territory in 2018,
reaching 534 Territorians. Quality of the workshops was high, with 91 per cent of attendees rating the
workshops as good or great.
In 2018–19 the department worked to drive a more skilled and agile Territory workforce, and position the
Territory as a destination of choice for work and study nationally and internationally. We released the
inaugural 2018–19 Skilling the Territory Annual Investment Plan, which is a transparent way to outline the
Territory’s investment priorities in workforce development.
The number of Territorians starting or restarting an apprenticeship or traineeship increased by 367 on the
previous year, or 17 per cent, to 2465. These are strong commencement figures, the highest since 2015.
The largest increases in apprentice or trainee numbers were in health and support services, alcohol and
other drugs, and early childhood education and care, which are important sectors delivering services to our
community.
It is fantastic to report that there were 922 Aboriginal people in-training at 31 December 2018,
representing an increase of 164 (or 22 per cent) compared to 31 December 2017, with Aboriginal people
comprising 29 per cent of all trainee and apprentice commencements in 2018.
There were 113 programs supported under the Aboriginal Responsive Skilling Grants, at a total value of
$1.92 million. These have been delivered on behalf of 62 businesses and organisations, supporting
workforce training projects for 1613 Territorians.
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There were more than 40 applications to the 2019 round of Aboriginal Workforce Grants to support
initiatives that result in more Aboriginal Territorians entering work and developing careers.
The agency continued its important work in encouraging better economic development outcomes for
Aboriginal businesses. Following over 500 stakeholder engagements in 2017–18, the department
developed policy options for the Aboriginal Contracting Framework that were presented to stakeholders
for review and refinement in Darwin, Katherine, Nhulunbuy, Tennant Creek, Alice Springs and seven
remote communities.
Growing the international education and training sector is part of the Territory’s strategy for budget repair.
The industry is worth $32 billion per year to the Australian economy and analysis undertaken by Deloitte in
2017 showed each international student spends an average $37 400 each year. There are currently about
2500 international students in the Territory. In 2019 we released a plan to grow that number to 10 000
international students enjoying an enriching experience here in the Territory by 2025. This increase would
boost the market’s current $91 million economic contribution to more than $300 million.
Strengthening our relationships with key trading partners in the Asia Pacific region is an important focus for
the agency and in April 2019, the department successfully delivered a Business Engagement Program as
part of the Arafura Games that brought together hundreds of delegates from the region to showcase and
encourage trade and investment opportunities.
I am proud of the deliverables our team produced in 2018–19 in bringing to fruition our vision for a strong,
vibrant economy for all Territorians.
I look forward to us continuing to grow local capacity, increase private sector investment in the Territory
and achieve excellence in our own business to deliver jobs and a resilient and strengthened Territory
economy.

Shaun Drabsch
Chief Executive Officer
30 September 2018
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1. Our Organisation
What we do

Our vision and purpose

The department is the lead agency responsible
for economic policy and delivering a competitive
investment environment in the Territory.
The department works to attract greater trade
and investment opportunities to develop the
north, encourage development of a skilled and
capable workforce equipped for the jobs of the
future, and support business growth and
sustainability by delivering a broad range of
programs and services to business, industry and
workers.

With a vision for a strong vibrant economy for all
Territorians, our mission is to drive private
investment and create jobs by:
•
•
•
•
•

Our values

Our Ministers

The department strives to uphold the
NT Public Sector Values:

On 31 January 2019 the Business and Innovation
portfolio transferred from the
Hon Nicole Manison MLA to the Chief Minister,
reducing our number of ministers from four to
three. At 30 June 2019 the department reported
to the following Ministers:

•
•
•
•
•
•

The Hon Michael Gunner MLA
•
•
•
•

Minister for Northern Australia
Minister for Trade and Major Projects
Minister for Business and Innovation
Minister for Defence Jobs, and Veterans
Affairs

At 30 June 2019 the department had:
•
•

Minister for Workforce Training

The Hon Natasha Fyles MLA
•

commitment to service
ethical practice
respect
accountability
impartiality
diversity.

Our resources

The Hon Selena Uibo MLA
•

connecting business and government across
industries and regions
fostering a culture of innovation in the
Territory
creating a pipeline of investment
growing local capacity
achieving excellence in our own business.

Minister for the Arafura Games
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256.5 full-time equivalent staff based in
Alice Springs, Darwin, Katherine, Nhulunbuy
and Tennant Creek
provided 69% of its total final budget of
$183 million in grants and procurement to
grow the Territory’s workforce, industry and
businesses.

1. Our Organisation

2018–19 highlights
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Financial snapshot
Income by category

Expenditure by category

Expenditure by output group compared to 2017–18
Business and Industry
Development and
Support expenditure
decreased in
2018–19 due to the
cessation of the
Home Improvement
Scheme and
Immediate Work
Grants.
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Our structure
Organisational structure at 30 June 2019.
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Looking forward to 2019-20
In April 2019, the Government’s Fiscal Strategy Panel released its Final Report, A Plan for Budget Repair.
The report recommended a range of reforms to return the budget to a sustainable position over the
medium to long term.
The report highlighted the need to continue the Territory Government’s commitment to creating jobs and
growing the economy through increased private investment. The report recommended:
•
•

establishing an Office of Investment Attraction
developing a microeconomic reform roadmap with the key objective of making the Territory a
globally competitive capital investment destination.

Another key recommendation from the report was to restructure agencies to consolidate similar and
related functions, reducing the duplication of services across government.
The Administrative Arrangements Order effective 1 July 2019 has resulted in the following changes to the
department’s functions and structure.

Corporate services
Corporate services has been further centralised into the Department of Corporate Information and
Services, resulting in major changes to the department’s Strategic Services division. The following business
units reported on in this report transferred out of the department as of 1 July 2019:
•
•
•

People and Capability
Business Systems and Information Services
Procurement Services

Investment attraction and microeconomic reform
Major projects, microeconomic reform and investment attraction functions across government have been
consolidated into the department, providing a coordinated approach to attracting private investment in the
Territory. As of July 1 2019, the department welcomed staff and resources from the following
departments:
•
•
•

Department of Primary Industry and Resources
Department of Treasury and Finance
Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture.

The department has been restructured as of 1 July 2019, to better reflect its new functions and
responsibilities. A summary of the new divisions and their functions is listed below.

Business and Workforce
This division combines the existing divisions of Business and Innovation NT and Workforce NT, as well as
the Regional Economic Development group from the Northern Australia Development and Trade division.
This division provides a great opportunity to build on the exceptional work that has already been done in
providing programs, services and initiatives to support NT businesses, industry and communities.
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Economic Innovation
This division will contain three key functions:
•
•
•

building on the initiatives already identified in the Economic Development Framework (EDF)
through the development and implementation of a Microeconomic Reform Roadmap targeted at
making the Territory a globally attractive investment destination.
advance policies and strategies that build local industry capability and resilience, including
harnessing Territory Government procurement as a powerful tool to shape industry policy including
undertaking industry analysis.
support new private investment through the specific development and infrastructure policies and
strategies which are essential components of the business supply chain and ensure the availability
of infrastructure and services which maintain the Territory’s position as an attractive and
competitive destination for private investment.

Investment Territory
Investment Territory will deliver the Territory Government’s commitment to an Office of Investment
Attraction, creating a more coordinated and efficient approach to attracting and securing investment and
trade in the Territory. More private sector investment is critical to getting the economy back on its feet and
developing the North, The division has three core responsibilities:
•
•
•

strategic leadership and coordination of the whole-of-government approach to investment
promotion and attraction
engaging with the market to grow awareness and build key trade and economic relationships
investment facilitation for major projects, facilitated projects and significant projects.

Department structure as of 1 July 2019

9

Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Annual Report 2018–19

2. Our Performance
Strategic Directions 2017–21
Strategic Directions 2017–21 outlines the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation’s vision to drive a
strong, vibrant economy for all Territorians.
•
•
•
•
•

Connecting business and government across industries and regions
Fostering a culture of innovation in the Territory
Creating a pipeline of investment
Growing local capacity
Achieving excellence in our own business.

These five goals align with Government’s priorities, acknowledge the diversity of our activities and provide
shared objectives that we all contribute to in achieving outcomes for the Territory.
This section provides performance reporting against each of the deliverables set for the 2018–19 financial
year.

Performance reporting structure

Output group: Employment and
Skilling

Performance reports reflect the structure of the
department reporting in Territory Budget
Paper No. 3 (BP3) and incorporate reporting against
the objectives of Strategic Directions 2017–21.

Outcome: A skilled workforce that meets the
current and future needs of Territory employers
and industry.

Departmental performance is reported by
functional division arranged by output groups as
follows:

Reporting division
•

Output group: Business and Industry
Development and Support

Output group: Corporate and
Governance

Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory
economy.

Outcome: Improved organisation performance
through strategic and governance leadership and
the provision of corporate services functions.

Reporting divisions
•
•
•
•
•

Workforce NT

Business and Innovation NT
Strategic Infrastructure and Projects
Northern Australia Development and Trade
Procurement NT
Strategic Policy and Research business unit
(part of Strategic Services)

Reporting division
•
•
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Strategic Services
Corporate and Governance activity and
performance is also reported in Chapters 3
and 4.
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Output group - Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Business and Innovation NT
Objective: Foster increased business competitiveness and productivity, including Aboriginal and regional
enterprises and priority industry sectors, by building capability through targeted grant programs, business
services and advice, and supporting business incubation and innovation.
As at 30 June 2019 this division contained the following business units:
•
•
•

Small Business Champions
Grants and Business Support Services
Innovation

From 1 July 2019 this division will become a part of the Business and Workforce division which will bring
Regional Economic Development, Business and Innovation NT and Workforce NT under one umbrella.
Business and Innovation NT’s programs, services and initiatives will continue to ensure that the Territory
maintains a diversified and growing economy.

Key performance indicators
Business and Innovation NT
Contacts with Territory Business Centres for licence and
business services1
Businesses assisted through the Business Growth Program
Percentage of businesses reporting the Business Growth
Program is useful for their business2
Upskills workshop participation3
Percentage of participants reporting Upskills workshop useful
for their business2
Number of businesses supported through the innovation
program4
1

2
3
4

2017–18
Actual

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

138 948

140 000

103 545

272

250

251

-

90%

94%

573

550

534

-

80%

89%

105

100

134

Digitisation of services reduced the number of contacts with Territory Business Centres.
New measure – no data for 2017–18.
Upskills workshop participation numbers decreased as three workshops were cancelled late in the financial year due to unforeseen circumstances.
Increased awareness of the program and marketing led to higher than anticipated numbers.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

The Business Innovation Support Initiatives (BISI) assisted Territory businesses to undertake research
and development which could lead to the commercialisation of new products, processes or services.
Projects supported were in the areas of science, engineering, technology and design. In 2018–19:
 $512 390 in grant funding was provided to 32 businesses to support the commercialisation of
innovations
 a $50 000 BISI grant was provided to SolFlow, the winner of the 2018 ‘Croc Pitch’ event held
during October Business Month. SolFlow is an Australian company specialising in the development
of Solar PhotoVoltaic Direct technology.

•

The Northern Territory Business Innovation Strategy was launched by the Hon Nicole Manison MLA at
the Darwin Innovation Hub on 9 October 2018. The Strategy outlines Government’s goal to ignite,
inspire and intensify efforts to create a sustainable innovation ecosystem across the Territory and
includes 33 action items with 12 actions implemented as at 30 June 2019. Live updates on the strategy
are available via the Innovation NT website at https://innovation.nt.gov.au/actions.

11

Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Annual Report 2018–19

•

October Business Month (OBM) 2018 continued to grow with 192 events held across the Territory
that were attended by 8700 participants. OBM 2018 program achievements included:
 an additional 34 events were held which resulted in an additional 980 attendees participating in
OBM 2018. Of these attendees, 99% indicated via survey they would recommend OBM to a friend
 business engagement comprised 23% business owners, 44% from the private sector, 27% from the
public sector and 6% from the not-for-profit sector
 of the attendees, around 48% came from small businesses (with less than 20 employees) and most
attendees were employees within an organisation
 OBM Innovation Week (8-12 October 2018) supported the NT Innovation Strategy bringing
industry leaders and subject matter experts together to seed ideas and drive industry
transformation. The department delivered or supported Innovation Week events which were
attended by more than 524 people.

•

The Business Acceleration Program (BAP) was launched on 20 August 2018 and is a $518 000
initiative of the Government, hosted by the Darwin Innovation Hub and delivered by the
Australian Centre for Business Growth. The program aims to accelerate the growth of high potential
businesses via a high-value world-class program that enables business owners and managers to identify
opportunities, overcome challenges and drive competitive advantage, providing our business leaders
with the knowledge and skills to accelerate company growth and compete in a global marketplace.
BAP clinics were attended by 34 businesses between October and November 2018 across
Alice Springs and Darwin with 10 companies enrolled for the growth modules. The program enabled
participants to design and implement tailored business growth plans while developing their leaders and
building strong networks.

•

The Northern Territory’s first venture capital fund, the Paspalis Innovation Investment Fund (PIIF),
opened in 2018 after raising $26 million with the support of the Migration Innovation NT (MINT)
program (refer to page 35). The Paspalis Group-owned venture capital fund has an objective to provide
a return to investors of between 1.5% and 5.0% per annum while supporting innovation and
early-stage ventures which are conducted in, or associated with, the Northern Territory. Investments to
date include:
 $15 million in Territory Bonds
 $2 million Series A venture capital investment in SPEE3D
 $125 000 investment in Belly Bunker.

•

The Innovator in Residence program delivered mentoring support to 51 Territory innovators and
entrepreneurs, providing them with the opportunity to work with an expert to commercialise research
and development as well as facilitating introductions to investors, specialist advisors and service
providers.

•

The Aboriginal Innovation Project is a partnership with Charles Darwin University (CDU) that identifies
business innovation development opportunities through the Aboriginal Innovation Alliance process to
achieve the following:
 support Aboriginal business innovation projects to be conducted in the Northern Territory
 economic outcomes including jobs creation and investment attraction for the Territory
 inspire and strengthen innovation in the bush.

•

The department continued to strengthen its capacity to support and champion innovation in Central
Australia through:
 the appointment of a Business Innovation Project Officer in Alice Springs who commenced on
1 October 2018
 facilitating stakeholder engagement and exploring options to strengthen business innovation in the
Barkly and Central regions.
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•

The Digital Partnerships Program was administered by the department with grant funding of $1 million
to match funding provided by industry for digital innovation in the Territory. Applications were a two
stage process. Stage 1 closed on 31 March 2019 with 30 applications received. Stage 2 applications
closed on 30 June 2019 with 10 applications received across five sectors including, agribusiness,
tourism, construction, creative industries and energy and minerals. These applications are still being
processed, with funding to be delivered in the new financial year.

•

Thirteen Small Business Roundtables were hosted across Darwin, Greater Darwin, Palmerston,
Katherine, and Alice Springs that encouraged greater engagement and consultation between the
Government and small businesses. Roundtable discussions focused on local challenges and
opportunities including: population and jobs, young people in businesses, procurement and hospitality.

•

The Business Growth Program supported 251 businesses with over $1.2 million in funding with
businesses co-investing a further $805 621. Feedback from the program was overwhelmingly positive
with 94% of participants rating the program as either good or excellent and 84% reporting that they
would not have participated in the program without the subsidy.

•

There were 103 545 contacts with Territory Business Centres (TBC) providing assistance to businesses
and Territorians with starting a business, licensing requirements and government assistance programs.
The department continued to pursue service efficiencies in the TBCs and employed a Digitalisation
Manager who reviewed all processes across the TBCs and began implementing operational changes.
The process efficiencies implemented resulted in enhancements to the customer experience and a
reduction in the number of TBC contacts.

•

Small Business Champions (SBCs) continued to connect businesses with government programs to grow
business capability, capacity, competitiveness and sustainability across all industries and regions in the
Territory. The SBCs connected 355 businesses to services within the department and a further
211 businesses were connected to other government departments, Australian Government agencies,
non-government organisations and other service providers for business assistance and guidance.

•

The SBCs completed 2463 business snapshots which contributed to the department’s quarterly
Business Confidence Surveys. There were 415 Territory businesses surveyed for the April to
June 2019 quarter who indicated a 7% increase in business confidence over the past 12 months.
Full survey results are available at https://business.nt.gov.au/business/business-and-economicdata/business-confidence-survey.

•

The Aboriginal Business Development Program provided $980 000 in grant funding across
59 Aboriginal Territory businesses that co-invested $1.38 million. All businesses were also provided
with one-on-one access to an SBC with 39 Aboriginal businesses referred to external organisations for
further support. The program assisted in the creation of 36 new Aboriginal businesses, creating 64 jobs
and enabling 23 existing businesses to expand their capability and continue to employ 142 people.

•

The department delivered 27 Business Upskills and 10 Just in Time business education sessions in
Alice Springs (9), Darwin and Palmerston (13), Katherine (7), Nhulunbuy (5) and Tennant Creek (3) at a
total cost of $80 000. Of the 534 attendees, 88% reported learning something new that they could
implement into their business.

•

The Community Based Childcare Program provided support to 14 childcare centres to the value of
$119 795 with these businesses co-investing a further $11 650.

•

Computers for Community assisted community organisations through the gifting of refurbished surplus
government computers; 88 desktop computers and 69 laptops were provided by the program.

•

The department supported the Government’s local decision-making (LDM) principles through the
development and use of Multi-Agency Partnership (MAP) and LDM agreements. The department has
been working closely with organisations to complete or support the key actions as identified in the
following agreements:





Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal Corporation MAP agreement
Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation MAP agreement
Jawoyn Association MAP agreement
Groote Archipelago LDM agreement.
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•

The National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) Business Readiness Program continued to support the
44 businesses who accessed this program in 2017–18. Of the 44 businesses, 29 have completed a
post-program six month survey with the following results:
 17 providers have transitioned to the NDIS, 10 have partly transitioned and two have not yet
commenced transitioning
 6 businesses received further support through the Business Growth Program
 some businesses felt it was too early in the transitional phase for further business support programs
and would review in the near future
 respondents reported creating at least 60 new jobs since participating in the program.

•

“Our Community. Our Future. Our Homes” was a program led by the Department of Local
Government, Housing and Community Development (DLGHCD) that committed to improving housing
in remote communities with an investment of $1.1 billion over 10 years to 2027. The department
supported this program through the following activities:
 contributed as a member of the Remote Housing Program Executive Leadership Group
 facilitated monthly meetings with DLGHCD’s Aboriginal Business Enterprise (ABE) team to ensure
support for ABEs was coordinated to maximise available resources
 worked with 15 ABEs that were identified through the program to receive support through the
Aboriginal Business Development Program (3) and the Business Growth Program (12) to develop
and strengthen business capability and sustainability.

•

The following targeted grant programs supported the Government’s commitment to 50% renewable
energy by 2030:
 Smarter Business Solutions provided tailored assistance and advice to businesses to reduce costs
by adopting efficient, innovative and proven energy and water waste reduction technologies.
The program assisted 80 businesses with a total of $713 105 in funding, with businesses coinvesting $2.7 million. Participating businesses expect to reduce their operational costs by a total of
$728 003 in electricity and diesel costs per annum and reduce carbon dioxide emissions by
1376 tonnes per annum, equivalent to taking 382 cars off the road or eliminating the emissions
from 219 homes
 Smart Energy Grants lowered living costs, supported senior Territorians, and drove economic
activity. Applications closed in October 2018, and the department approved $1.5 million in grant
funding across 1662 applications with an economic impact estimated at $19.4 million in 2018–19.
Since commencing on 2 January 2018, the program has helped households save $5.1 million
per annum and reduced greenhouse gas emissions by 13 681 tonnes per annum, which equates to
removing 3800 cars from the road.

•

The Home Renovation Grants for first homebuyers continued throughout 2018–19. The program
encourages first homebuyers of established homes to engage Territory enterprises to undertake up to
five renovation works, and purchase up to $2000 in household goods. For the 2018–19 financial year:
 $7.2 million in funding was issued to homeowners across 751 approved applications. This
comprised: 1117 renovation works to the value of $6.6 million, and household goods to the value
of $0.6 million
 229 service providers were approved to participate in the program, increasing the program’s total
registered service providers to a total of 736 Territory businesses
 the value of works (including household co-contribution) was $8.1 million and the program’s
estimated economic impact was $13.6 million.

•

The Welcome to the Territory Incentives program commenced to support the Government’s
2018–2028 NT Population Growth Strategy by improving the population growth rate and helping
businesses fill high-priority jobs. Applications for the program opened on 7 November 2018:
 46 applicants were eligible for the incentive and received in-principle approval while residing
interstate (equating to a potential 79 people moving to the Territory). Of these, 25 have relocated
to the Territory receiving $123 000 in incentives, increasing the population by 50 people.
 149 businesses have registered with the program and 25 vacancies in high priority occupations
have been filled.
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•

Biz Secure continued throughout 2018–19 helping eligible Territory businesses improve their security
against the risk of break-ins:
 a total of $1.6 million in grant funding was issued across 248 individual and 17 cluster business
applicants with an economic impact of $2.8 million
 55% of approved works were for CCTV and alarm system installations; 42% for securing business
premises perimeters, doors and windows; and 3% for lighting improvements
 program participants are surveyed to measure program effectiveness. Since the program began on
24 July 2017, 68% of respondents advised that they experienced at least one break-in or break-in
attempt in the 12 months immediately preceding security improvement works. However, four
months after works were completed, only 18% experienced break-ins. This reduction has resulted
in lower operating costs for Territory businesses.

•

The Alcohol Secure Grants program opened on 5 November 2018 with the objective of assisting
licensed alcohol retail premises to secure their alcohol stores against theft or damage:
 financial support totalling $337 090 was provided to 34 local licensed premises
 27 eligible businesses registered to undertake security improvement works to a total value of
$440 000 with an estimated economic impact of $820 000.

•

In addition to the Biz Secure and Alcohol Secure programs, the department ran the Business Re-secure
Program in conjunction with Victims of Crime NT. The program issued $87 120 in department grant
funding to 230 businesses for immediate re-secure assistance following a break-in.

•

The department supported the development of the NTG Grants Framework through the following
activities:
 added the Digital Partnerships Program and Aboriginal Workforce Grants to GrantsNT
 provided feedback to GrantsNT to ensure it is fit for purpose
 provided staff with training to enable additional grant programs to transition to GrantsNT from
1 July 2019.

•

Industry Support Grants provide peak industry associations and not-for-profit business associations
with funding towards operational costs and project-specific activities and outcomes. In 2018–19,
29 business and industry organisations across 42 active funding agreements benefitted with
$3.5 million in grant funding. Payments were triggered by the completion of deliverables or as
otherwise negotiated.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Strategic Infrastructure and Projects
Objective: Identify, promote and facilitate the delivery of strategic infrastructure, projects and investment
to achieve sustained economic development, diversity and productivity.
As at 30 June 2019 the division contained the following business units:
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic Projects Facilitation
Major Projects Facilitation
Strategic Infrastructure Policy and Planning
Team NT Executive Coordination
Local Jobs Fund

From 1 July 2019 the business units will be reflected in the following divisions of the new department
structure.
Strategic infrastructure policy and planning will move into the Economic Innovation division where it will
continue to progress commitments of the Infrastructure Strategy and develop business cases to scope and
de-risk Government facilitated projects, ensuring that the Government is best placed to attract and
leverage private investment.
The Major Strategic Projects facilitation and Local Jobs Fund teams will be incorporated into the new
Investment Territory division, where they will continue to promote and facilitate the delivery of
infrastructure and projects, guiding proponents through to project delivery.
Team NT Executive Coordination will move into the Office of the Chief Executive Officer allowing for the
initiative to be delivered across the department.

Key Performance Indicators
Strategic Infrastructure and Projects
Number of new projects with major project status1
Number of facilitated investment projects under
management1
1

2017–18
Actual

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

–

4

1

–

12

11

New measure – no data for 2017–18.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

Continued to provide whole-of-government coordination to facilitate the timely delivery of private
sector initiated Major Projects and government facilitated projects. Appendix E provides a list of the
14 projects with Major Project Status as at 30 June 2019 as well as the 11 facilitated investment
projects led by the department.

•

Released three government facilitated projects into the market: Darwin Rural and Darwin Urban
Seniors’ Lifestyle Accommodation and Darwin Water Theme Park.

•

Secured the transfer of the Howard Springs Workers Accommodation Village to government.

•

Established the Local Jobs Fund to support Territory businesses and projects to become investment
ready. The $89 million co-investment fund is aimed at creating more local jobs and accelerating major
and significant projects in the Territory. The Fund opened for applications on 4 May 2019 and will run
for two years or until it is fully committed.

•

Provided support to Gumatj Corporation, along with the Department of the Chief Minister and the
Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics, to secure grant funding for new marine tourism
infrastructure to support industry diversification at the Gove Port.

•

Development Consent Authority approval of the Darwin Westin Hotel was granted in July 2018 with
design and construction of the seawall commencing in March 2019.
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•

Front End Engineering and Design (FEED) phase for the ship lift project was completed in
September 2018. A vessel market, financial and economic report was completed in the third quarter of
2018–19.

•

The $800 million Northern Gas Pipeline was officially opened on 14 December 2018 and became
commercially operational on 3 January 2019.

•

Ongoing contract and relationship management in respect of the 99 year Darwin Port Lease.

•

Provided secretariat and executive support to the Team NT Executive, with key focus areas including
development and promotion of the Territory Government’s gas strategy, progressing the
Territory Government’s corporate attraction strategy, and advocating for greater local content and
Territory industry participation in defence infrastructure projects.

•

Continued to deliver commitments of the Infrastructure Strategy including:
NT Project Development Framework
 The draft framework, guidance material and implementation plan was updated to reflect
Government’s commitment to implementation in 2019–20 and incorporate feedback from ongoing
consultations with stakeholders.
Corporate and Investment Attraction Strategy
 Published a specific purpose document titled “Make your Move”, to promote the strategy and
provide information for business looking to do business in the Territory, as well as content on living
and working in the Territory.
 Commissioned reports on corporate and investment attraction policy and alternative funding and
financing mechanisms to help inform ongoing activities.
Market Led Proposals Policy
 Implemented the revised policy.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Northern Australia Development and Trade
Objective: Drive the development and implementation of the Northern Australia agenda. Promote and
secure international trade and investment opportunities in the Territory by building strong international
relationships to the mutual benefit of local businesses and investment partners. Facilitate economic
opportunities in the regions and grow key industry sectors including defence.
As at 30 June 2019 this division contained the following groups:
•
•
•

Office of International Engagement, Trade and Investment
Northern Australia, Economic and Industry Development
Regional Economic Development.

From 1 July 2019 the functions on this division will be split across all three new divisions of the department
Economic Innovation, Business and Workforce and Investment Territory with further detail provided in
each group below.

Group: Office of International Engagement, Trade and Investment
The group contained the following business units at 30 June 2019:
•
•
•

TradeNT
InvestNT
International Engagement and Coordination.

From 1 July 2019 the above business units will be incorporated into Investment Territory where they will
continue to build strong international relationships to promote trade and investment opportunities within
the Territory.

Key performance indicators
International Engagement, Trade and Investment
Stakeholder satisfaction with facilitation of trade and
investment opportunities for Territory companies
Number of visits to international priority markets1
Stakeholder satisfaction with Trade Support Scheme
1

2017–18
Actual

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

90%

85%

85%

17

14

11

94%

85%

100%

There were 3 trips budgeted for in 2018–19 that were delayed until the 2019–2020 financial year due to unforeseen circumstances.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

The International Engagement, Trade and Investment Strategic Plan 2018–21 was updated and
translated into Chinese, Korean, Indonesian, Malaysian and Japanese.

•

Conducted a review of government policies, strategies and plans that related to international
engagement, trade and investment. The next step is to coordinate updating existing documents and
develop new ones where gaps were identified.

•

Provided trade policy and advice regarding free trade agreements to stakeholders including the
Department of the Chief Minister and the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade (DFAT).

•

Provided advice and support to government Ministers and staff attending Trade and Investment
Ministers Meetings, Senior Officers Trade and Investment Group meetings, the National Investment
Advisory Board and National Trade Working Group meetings.

•

The department developed and implemented a marketing and communications plan for InvestNT,
TradeNT and International Engagement and Coordination that aligned with the Government’s
‘Boundless Possible’ master brand. The plan established and maintained a central location for all
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marketing collateral, maintained a comprehensive gift inventory and register and launched
internationally for the first time at Reaching South in Shenzhen in August 2018.
•

The Trade Support Scheme (TSS) assisted 53 businesses with export marketing activities to the value of
$206 787. Feedback from participants of the program was overwhelmingly positive with the following
results received from a satisfaction survey:
 100% of respondents were satisfied overall with the TSS, indicating that they achieved positive
outcomes from the financial assistance received under the Scheme
 73% indicated that they had experienced business growth, increased exports and/or market
diversification as a result of participating in the Scheme
 86% of respondents reported increased business connections and networks, believing the Scheme
has increased their potential for future contracts.

•

InvestNT delivered local, intrastate and international trade and investment roadshows and sponsored
key events and activities in order to raise the NT’s investment profile in domestic and international
markets.

•

Team NT Executives have:
 prepared and provided briefing material to a number of non-government travelling delegations
 attended the government delegation to Japan and China
 worked with the Gas Task Force to hold presentations and meetings in Brisbane, Sydney and
Melbourne with a variety of industry groups and stakeholders to promote the NT’s onshore gas
strategy
 visited Adelaide, Cairns and Brisbane to promote investment opportunities in the Territory.

•

In addition to the activities listed in Appendix D, the department continued to drive increased trade and
investment through focused international engagement in the following international markets:
 Indonesia - A workshop was facilitated on 6 February 2019 to develop an Indonesia Engagement
Strategy. The workshop was attended by over 30 stakeholders from government and industry with
a draft strategy circulated to participants for comment. The department also sponsored the Darwin
to Ambon Yacht Race on 4 August 2018 and continued to maintain in-country representation in
Jakarta.
 Timor-Leste - Sponsored the Darwin to Dili Yacht Race and coordinated the Territory’s
participation at the Timor-Leste/NT Ministerial Bilateral Forum held in Dili, July 2019.
 Japan - Continued the Territory’s membership and support of the Australia Japan Business
Cooperation Committee.
 China – Reaching South to the Northern Territory forum was held in Shenzhen in August 2018 and
was attended by around 50 business representatives from the NT. Immediately prior to
Reaching South the Chief Minister travelled to Beijing and Rizhao for meetings with senior Chinese
officials and corporations in relation to opportunities and projects in the Territory of interest to
Chinese investors.
 South Korea - Continued the Territory’s membership and support of the Australia Korea Business
Council with a representative attending the Australia Korea Business Council-Korea Australia
Business Council (AKBC-KABC) Joint Meeting in Busan in October 2018 to foster relationships
with Korean investors. The department also submitted a bid to host the 2019 AKBC-KABC
Joint Meeting in Darwin which was unsuccessful; however, the department intends to bid for the
next Joint Meeting to be held in Australia in 2021.
 United States of America (USA) - Continued engagement and cooperation with the USA Embassy
and Consulates in Australia including visits from various delegates in relation to oil, gas and defence
opportunities in the Territory and attendance by department delegates at a major oil and gas
conference in the USA.
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 India – The NT-India Market Entry Guide was published in February 2019. The guide was
developed through extensive engagement within the NT community and with key stakeholders
such as the Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade. The guide is not designed as a formal NT
strategy but consolidates current thinking, bringing together ideas and views that have been
developed by a number of relevant parties over the past several years.
•

The department co-delivered the Arafura Games with the Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture
from 26 April to 4 May 2019. This involved liaising with the foreign governments of the 33 countries
invited to participate and developing the Business Engagement Program (BEP) in consultation with key
internal and external stakeholders to optimise the event’s trade and business opportunities.

•

The BEP highlighted sectors of tourism, agribusiness, oil and gas service and supply, health, minerals
and energy, international education, innovation, and migration. There were more than 500 attendees
across the BEP including participants from 14 countries participating in the games — China (including
Hong Kong and Macau), Philippines, Malaysia, Indonesia, Timor-Leste, Nigeria, Vietnam,
Brunei Darussalam, Iran, Hungary, Bangladesh, Cote D’ivoire, United Arab Emirates and the Federal
Democratic Republic of Nepal.

•

A business hub was set up in Marrara in close proximity to the sporting venues of the Arafura Games to
provide collateral promoting the various sectors featured within the BEP. The Marrara Hub was visited
by 208 attendees throughout the week of the Games.

•

OIETI coordinated 17 forums and site tours as part of the BEP that was supported by an
inter-departmental working group. Each session of the BEP program catered for audiences from
30 through to 250 attendees. Highlights of the BEP included:
 a new History of Trade Exhibition was held at the Darwin Convention Centre that highlighted the
commodities and industries that have been historically important to the Territory. The exhibition
was launched with a VIP function attended by 200 VIPs on 26 April 2019 with a further 400 people
attending the exhibition over the week
 an invitation-only networking harbour cruise, sponsored by Landbridge, to showcase the new Inpex
and port facility to those with an interest in trade with a focus on major infrastructure
developments in Darwin harbour including East Arm and Darwin Port, on 29 April 2019 had
56 participants
 a VIP networking reception hosted by the Chief Minister at Parliament House on 30 April 2019 was
attended by 75 key stakeholders
 in conjunction with the BEP, the Chamber of Commerce NT hosted a Regional Australia-Asia
Chambers Forum on 2-3 May 2019
 seminars targeted to domestic small to medium enterprises were held throughout the week to
increase awareness of the Asian export market and how to unlock their export potential
 an overview of ‘Trade and investment opportunities in NT agribusiness’ was hosted by the
Department of Primary Industry and Resource’s, Agribusiness Development Team and was
attended by 50 participants
 MigrationNT hosted a business migration options session and attracted around 20 attendees
 the Oil and Gas Team hosted an ‘Onshore Gas Development Local Industry Forum’ that attracted
54 attendees.

•

Hosting the Arafura Games and the BEP had a range of positive outcomes including promoting tourism
and increasing international visitation, building and strengthening relationships, international
cooperation, improving regional ties as well as growing investment and business opportunities in the
Territory.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Northern Australia Development and Trade
Group: Northern Australia, Economic and Industry Development
As at 30 June 2019, the group contained the following business units:
•
•
•
•

DefenceNT
Strategic Oil and Gas Development
Economic and Industry Development
Northern Australia Engagement

From 1 July 2019 the functions of the above business units will be reflected in the following divisions of
the new department structure.
DefenceNT, Strategic Oil and Gas Development and Northern Australia Engagement will be incorporated
into Investment Territory where they will continue to work towards a strong Territory, a strong North and
a more prosperous and secure nation.
Economic and Industry Development will move into the new Economic Innovation division where they will
inform the development of industry growth initiatives, such as investment attraction in the space sector.

Key Performance Indicators
Northern Australia Development and Trade
DefenceNT advice provided within agreed timeframes

2017–18
Actual
93.9%

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

85%

90%

Key achievements 2018–19
•

Territory Space Industry 2020 was published on 22 March 2019. The strategy aims to:
 grow the Territory’s space industry capabilities
 connect the Territory industry with the Australian and global space economy
 support the Territory economy to become ‘space-enabled’ with advances in the space sector
leading to growth, jobs and innovation
 diversify the Territory economy and unlock new business and investment opportunities.

•

The Territory Benefit Policy was developed to replace the Building Northern Territory Industry
Participation Policy. The new policy will be released in July 2019 and outlines government’s
expectations of private sector projects when developing a Territory benefit plan. The policy will aim to
maximise the contribution of private sector projects to the NT economy and assist projects to earn and
maintain their social licence in the local community.

•

The Territory Critical Minerals Plan was co-developed with the Department of Primary Industry and
Resources and released on 9 April 2019. The three point plan aims to position the Territory as a
globally significant critical minerals producing, processing and manufacturing centre.

•

Published the Statement of Capacity: Mining, Equipment, Technology and Services (METS) in the
Northern Territory in November 2018. The study demonstrates that local industry has a very high
capacity to fulfill the service and supply needs of the METS sector across all 12 trade packages mapped
in this study. The capability of the industry has been promoted to the proponents of minerals projects.

•

Finalised the Developing the North Advocacy Strategy and Engagement Toolkit to guide the Territory’s
strategic engagement for developing Northern Australia and to support stakeholders to align their own
advocacy efforts. The toolkit includes a selection of resources to support stakeholders to align their
own advocacy efforts and to guide the Territory’s strategic engagement and policy agency for
developing Northern Australia.
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•

Continued to develop and promote industry sector capabilities through the following activities:
 supported an analysis of the Waste Management and Secondary Resources Industry to determine
the economic contribution to the NT economy
 commenced an industry and workforce capability and gap analysis study for five prospective
minerals projects in the Central Australia region
 supported the NT Seafood Council to identify the infrastructure needed to underpin growth of the
territory seafood industry in the next 10 years.

•

Supported the Hon Lauren Moss MLA to attend the Ministerial Forum on Northern Development in
Mount Isa, Queensland on 8 November 2018 where the Territory:
 successfully advocated for Infrastructure Australia’s Assessment Framework to be reviewed to
include consideration of Northern Australia and remote area tax concession arrangements
 received approval for the Northern Australia Defence Development Statement to be published;
the statement emphasises that a strong north, makes for a more secure Australia
 received NAIF funding for NT Airports (conditional approval up to $150 million) and Voyages Ayers
Rock Resort ($27.5 million).

•

The department jointly sponsored the Northern Australia Food Futures Conference 2018 in July with
the departments of Primary Industry and Resources, and Environment and Natural Resources.
The event provided an opportunity for attendees to find out what’s happening across the north in
agriculture in QLD, WA and the NT.

•

The Northern Australia Development Office (NADO) supported industry, investors and the private
sector interested in doing high-level business in Northern Australia, enabling a one stop shop for
investment, business development and planning. A total of 19 206 visitors used the NADO meeting
facilities for meetings that included international trade delegations, the Space Industry Association of
Australia Space Industry Forum, and a number of association board and committee meetings.

•

Delivered the Business Briefing Regional Series in Tennant Creek, Alice Springs, Nhulunbuy, Darwin
and Katherine during November and December 2018 in collaboration with regional staff. Attendees
were informed about and discussed the Territory’s economic outlook, priorities and opportunities,
ensuring business community awareness and preparedness for upcoming projects. The series was
attended by 214 people across five sessions, with 72% of attendees being from the private sector.

•

The first EDF progress report was released in February 2019 and outlined key achievements and
outcomes across the five identified growth sectors and five developing sectors, providing projectspecific updates as at October 2018. Forums were held in Darwin, Katherine, Tennant Creek and
Alice Springs and provided an opportunity for 131 industry partners and key stakeholders to hear
about progress made on delivery of EDF actions and commitments, and to discuss emerging issues,
refine actions as needed and next steps.

•

The department collaborated on the following initiatives:
 delivered Aboriginal Economic Development Field Officers Network forums in Darwin and
Alice Springs in collaboration with the department’s regional offices
 supported the Northern Territory Indigenous Business Network delegation to attend the
World Indigenous Business Forum 2018 in Rotorua, New Zealand and bid to host the event in
Darwin in 2021. The bid is still under consideration and will be announced next financial year.

•

The Strategic Defence Advisory Board (SDAB) continued to advise and assist the Government in
national and international engagement efforts in order to ensure the NT receives appropriate
consideration in national policies and decisions. This included advocacy for greater opportunities for
local industry participation in Defence capital infrastructure and sustainment works and to seek to
address the decline in Defence personnel in the NT.

•

Advocated the benefits of establishing regional headquarters in the Territory to Defence prime
contractors, as well as advocating for a new Regional force Surveillance Group training facility in
Darwin which will provide training to all northern Regional Force Surveillance Units and international
Defence clients.
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•

DefenceNT continued to implement the six focus areas of the NT Defence and National Security
Strategy 2018 in conjunction with key stakeholders. Activities under the Strategy included:
 ensured ongoing support and advocacy for the views of local industry on defence procurement
policies and processes in order to foster the sustainable development of local defence industry
capabilities
 offered workshops, information sessions and tailored assistance to the local defence industry and
where relevant, in conjunction with NT industry associations
 monitored developments in national defence industry workforce including science, technology,
engineering and mathematics (STEM) programs, and ensured the current and future skills needs of
the local defence industry are addressed by working with WorkforceNT, the Industry Skills
Advisory Council NT (ISACNT), CDU and the Naval Shipbuilding College
 continued to liaise with the Australian Defence Force (ADF) to support the transition of national
security personnel into the Territory and to generate local community support for the Defence
presence in the NT
 liaised with local and national stakeholders including Defence and the Federal Government to
identify and develop multi-sectoral projects that support Defence and civil capabilities
 collaborated with private and public sectors to improve defence spouse/partners employment
options and conducted surveys with local industry to assess opportunities to employ defence
spouses.

•

Identified and secured opportunities for small to medium enterprises, including Aboriginal-owned
businesses, to supply goods and services, repairs and maintenance to the defence industry including:
 worked with Defence and industry to enable NT businesses to be included in the Australian
Military Sales Equipment Catalogue for 2019, with eight businesses accepted
 engaged with the Centre for Defence Industry Capability to ensure that the NT position, which had
been vacant for a prolonged period, was filled with an appropriate officer from 21 January 2019
 provided funding to the Australian Industry and Defence Network NT (AIDN-NT), the peak
industry body for the Defence industry, to facilitate identifying and securing Defence opportunities
for the Territory
 conducted a series of targeted defence industry training opportunities through AIDN-NT.

•

Continued to advocate for Offshore Patrol Vessel maintenance and other Australian and allied Navy
warships to be maintained in the Territory this included seeking Federal support for the Darwin ship lift
project through the Defence NTG Consultative Forum, meetings with ADF personnel and prime
contractors, and national advocacy by the SDAB.

•

Hosted and supported events to promote the Territory’s defence capability and capacity including:
 the inaugural Aerospace Industry Roundtable, chaired by the NT Defence and National Security
Advocate
 the inaugural Defence Maritime Industry Roundtable, chaired by Rear Admiral (Retd) Mark Purcell
from the SDAB
 two industry days held in October 2018 and March 2019 that updated and informed industry on
significant issues relating to the Defence industry
 supported the Defence Community Organisation’s Welcome to the Top End Expo and
Chief Minister’s Welcome Function for newly arrived ADF personnel and families in Katherine and
Darwin
 National Commonwealth Shipbuilding and Consultative Forum in Darwin in October 2018.

•

Established Defence TeamNT and Territory Defence Alliance comprising representatives from local
industry associations and CDU. Coordinated regular meetings to exchange views and ideas, including a
common policy and advocacy approach to increase opportunities for local businesses to tender for, and
win, Defence work.
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•

The Northern Territory Gas Strategy: Five Point Plan was launched by the Chief Minister at
NT Resources Week in September 2018.

•

A dedicated Gas Taskforce was established to provide a whole-of-government approach to gas
industry development and oversee implementation of the NT Gas Strategy. The Gas Taskforce includes
Chief Executives from the departments of the Chief Minister; Treasury and Finance; Trade, Business
and Innovation; Primary Industry and Resources; and Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics, with access
to industry experts and specialist consultants as required.

•

The department also established the Strategic Oil and Gas Development business unit to support the
Gas Taskforce, focus on gas industry development and deliver the NT Gas Strategy. The new unit:
 coordinated government participation in the oil and gas related activities listed in Appendix D
 secured funding for a joint NT/Commonwealth study to analyse the infrastructure and logistics
requirements for development of the onshore oil and gas industry in the Territory
 worked to create a competitive environment for gas based manufacturing and gas dependent
industries by developing strategies to address identified infrastructure gaps to service a growing gas
industry
 identified opportunities for production or distribution of highly specialised products and services for
the gas industry, for example a spooling base to service pipe laying
 identified the extent and nature of supply, servicing and maintenance activities not currently
delivered in the Territory and worked to develop strategies and actions to attract investment into
these areas, including through joint ventures with local companies.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Northern Australia Development and Trade
Group: Regional Economic Development
As at 30 June 2019, the division serviced the following regions:
•
•
•
•

Central Australia including the Central Australia Development Office (CADO)
East Arnhem Region
Big Rivers Region
Barkly Region.

From 1 July 2019 this group will be incorporated into the new Business and Workforce division to drive
engagement and delivery of NT businesses and communities, with the department to ensure they can
access and maximise opportunities for growth.

Key Performance Indicators
Regional Economic Development
Advice on Northern Australia Development issues provided
within agreed timeframes

2017–18
Actual
95%

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

85%

89%

Key achievements 2018–19
•

CADO is located in the Todd Mall in Alice Springs with four industry partners co-located with
government in the office space. CADO supports industry, investors and the private sector interested in
doing high level business in Northern Australia, creating a one stop shop for investment, business
development and planning. CADO’s meeting facilities were used by 1527 visitors for meetings that
included the Northern Australia Advisory Council, Regional Economic Development Committee,
Northern Australia Development and Trade Regional Business Briefings and a number of other
association boards and committees.

•

Regional Economic Development Committees (REDC) in East Arnhem, Big Rivers, Central Australia and
Barkly provided independent advice to government and other stakeholders on the regional
development needs and priorities of the region. Information on each committee is listed under the
relevant regions below.

•

As part of the EDF, Economic Development Officers completed Economic Development Plans for
East Arnhem, Big Rivers, Central Australia and Barkly regions in May 2019 that will be released in the
new financial year. The plans are to be endorsed by the REDCs and align with regional priorities to
capture the Government’s economic priorities as defined in the EDF and 10 year Infrastructure Plan.

•

The department continued to support the Government’s local decision-making in Aboriginal
communities initiative led by the Department of the Chief Minister and promoted across all
government agencies. Specific outcomes are listed under the relevant regions below.

•

Fifteen projects were funded under the Remote Aboriginal Economic Development Fund (RAEDF) to
support economic development, employment and governance initiatives and improved capacity in
remote regions.

•

The Regional Economic Development Fund (REDF) supported and funded regionally based projects to
increase business development, job opportunities and population growth. The REDF was fully
expended in 2018–19 providing $250 000 in funding across all regions, including a $50 000 to City of
Palmerston Council to develop the Palmerston Regional Economic Development Plan. Funding
provided within each region is provided below.
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East Arnhem Region
•

The department is working in collaboration with Developing East Arnhem Ltd and the Department of
the Chief Minister to deliver an East Arnhem Land Owner Prospectus. This project received REDF
funding of $22 000 to map traditional land owners’ desires for economic development on their lands as
well as collate all pre-existing data that might help inform such decisions.

•

The first Implementation Plans under the landmark Groote Archipelago Local Decision Making
Agreement were signed on 19 June 2019. The first three priority Implementation Plans for the Groote
Archipelago cover Housing, Economic Development and Law, Justice and Rehabilitation.

•

Facilitated and delivered the Blue Mud Bay Business Development Forum from 20-21 June 2019.
This successful engagement was guided by the traditional landowners of Blue Mud Bay, Baniyala
Garrangali Aboriginal Corporation to launch the Djalkiripuyŋu Enterprise Enhancement Project, which
will run from 2019–21. The project will drive economic development across Blue Mud Bay by
supporting Djalkiripuyŋu leaders to investigate and build coastal enterprises.

•

Secured $225 million in funding from the Northern Territory ($45 million) and Australian ($180 million)
Governments for upgrades to the Central Arnhem Road (corridor) with the Arnhem Arterial Roads
Working Group having met three times to progress spending allocation and priorities for the road
upgrades.

•

Advocated for the $10 million Arnhem Arts Trail commitment which will provide significant room for
growth in the arts, culture, tourism and music industries in the region.

•

The department provided ongoing assistance to Gumatj Aboriginal Corporation and Equatorial Launch
Australia for the impending Arnhem Space Centre and flow on opportunities for the space industry
within the region.

•

Designed and facilitated an optional visit to East Arnhem after the 2018 Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development ‘Mining Cities and Regions’ meeting held at the Darwin Convention
Centre. The visit was attended by 22 international guests who spent three days in the East Arnhem
region and were welcomed with engagements from Rirratjingu Aboriginal Corporation, Gumatj
Aboriginal Corporation, Rio Tinto and Buku-Larrnggay Mulka (Art) Centre.

•

Provided $14 000 in funding for the Aboriginal Resource and Development Services (ARDS) Cultural
Competency Program, contributing to other regional coordination agency funding for this project.
The program will allow development of a business arm for ARDS delivering appropriate cultural training
for stakeholders working and engaging within the region. This funding is additional to the Workforce
NT ongoing funding of $80 000 per year for three years.

•

The East Arnhem REDC, based in Nhulunbuy, met six times to discuss key themes and progress
economic development opportunities for the region including:
 East Arnhem Regional Economic Development Plan
 supported the Gove Peninsula Futures Reference Group which is working to achieve a positive
future for Nhulunbuy and the Gove Peninsula post mining for the benefit of Yolngu land owners,
local communities, businesses and industry
 supported the development and implementation of primary industry opportunities in the region
including: fishing and aquaculture, forest products, niche livestock, niche horticulture/primary
industry, minerals and energy.

Big Rivers Region
•

The following projects received funding from the REDF in the region:
 Noel Hinschen from the Big Rivers REDC received funding support to travel to Roma, Queensland
to explore and report on the effects of the oil and gas industry to the region
 Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation received funding to assist in the refurbishment and repurposing of
the multi-purpose community centre, supporting the development of Gurindji Cultural and Heritage
Precinct Project
 Katherine Town Council received a REDF grant to produce a promotional video showcasing the
economic development opportunities of Katherine’s thriving community and lifestyle
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 Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal Corporation received financial support to engage a
consultant to undertake a feasibility study and business case for the establishment of
Wuyagiba Regional Study Hub and community investment strategy.
•

The department had local representation on the Package Advisory Group for the Katherine East Area
Plan project and the Katherine Logistics and Agribusiness Hub Inter-Agency Project Control Group
Meeting. These groups allow for continuous engagement with stakeholders to leverage private sector
investment, track investor and developer interest in the projects and identify any take-up opportunities
as they present.

•

The department attended monthly Indigenous Engagement Forums to develop the capacity of
Aboriginal enterprises in the region and drive Aboriginal participation on the Tindal RAAF Base and
Delamare Training Facility defence contracts. The committee’s key stakeholders included the Lendlease
project team, Northern Land Council, local Aboriginal enterprises and local Aboriginal training and
development organisations.

•

The department supported AIDN-NT industry programs including niche-training programs in the
regions. The forums had interactive panels with representatives from Broadspectrum, Lendlease,
Coffey and local Territory businesses. The discussion panels provided advice on tendering for local
defence industry contracts.

•

Investment into the Aboriginal Transition to Work program at the Tindal New Air Combat Capability
Facilities Project. The program is supported by Lendlease and associated subcontractors who sponsor
and supervise jobseekers to gain the necessary skills and experience to operate safely. Workers are
empowered to transition from a minimally structured workday to working full-time on a large
commercial project.

•

There are three active and three developing local decision-making MAP agreements in the Big Rivers
Region. Regional department staff have supported each MAP through quarterly project group meetings
and ongoing engagement with the relevant stakeholders and have been working closely with each
organisation to complete the key actions as identified in the agreements. Active MAPs include:
 Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal Corporation
 Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation
 Jawoyn Association.

•

The department has an appointed representative on the Godinymayin Yijard Rivers Arts and Culture
Centre board to support the $8 million Arts Trail commitment for gallery extensions and upgrades to
promote the Indigenous Arts Trail.

•

Representation at the Katherine REDC meetings has continued to be strong and now includes the
broader Big Rivers Region with members from local business, industry associations, Northern Land
Council and all three tiers of government. The Big Rivers REDC met seven times to discuss key themes
and progress economic development opportunities for the region including:
 completion of the Big Rivers Regional Economic Development Plan
 continued collaboration with local industry with 12 presentations made throughout the year by
developing sectors to the REDC
 development of the region’s resources and logistics cluster through the future Katherine Logistics
and Agri-business hub
 sustaining and developing the region’s agribusiness advantage by supporting new industries
 facilitating growth as a Defence Industry Hub through advocating to industry, maximisation of local
content of defence spending in the region and ensuring the region develops a skilled and confident
workforce aligned with current and future opportunities

Barkly Region
•

Papulu Appar-Kari received $15 000 in REDF funding for REDC members to travel to Roma,
Queensland to explore and report on the effects of the oil and gas industry to the region.

•

Continued to work collaboratively with the Northern Land Council to promote onshore shale gas
opportunities across the NT.
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•

The department collaborated across government and industry to develop Tennant Creek as a major
mining and mining service and supply centre including a centralised processing facility, and increased
growth of the mining exploration industry in the Barkly region.

•

The department continued to support work packages that enable local industry and business to
compete for and win work projects throughout the region by facilitating relationships between key
stakeholders.

•

The Tennant Creek REDC held 11 meetings to discuss key themes and progress economic
development opportunities for the region including:
 Barkly Regional Economic Development Plan
 supporting the Barkly Regional Deal which aims to improve the productivity and liveability of the
Barkly region by stimulating economic growth and improving social outcomes, including reducing
overcrowding and improving child safety
 ongoing support for a new weather radar for the Barkly region, part of the Barkly Regional Deal
 support of a proposed multi-modal freight transport facility
 continued support for development of the Mount Isa to Tennant Creek Railway
 ongoing advocacy of a new Tennant Creek Primary school
 completed a pre-feasibility into Go Karts as a future major event for Tennant Creek.

Central Australia Region
•

The Earth Sanctuary received $36 200 in funding from the REDF for infrastructure and equipment
upgrades to the Space Discovery Centre

•

The department led the Project Control Group meetings for the ‘five mines project’ and has engaged
Industry Capability Network and ISACNT to undertake a capacity and skills gap analysis of the Central
and Barkly regions. The report is due to be finalised in 2019–20.

•

Hosted two Aboriginal Economic Development Field Officer Network Forum events in Central
Australia. These forums bring together field officers from the Australian Government, Statutory Bodies,
government and various non-government organisation providers who work specifically in Aboriginal
Economic Development to share ideas, approaches, policy and provide program updates.

•

Engaged with local defence industry to inform them of local business capability to maximise local
content.

•

The Central Australia REDC held ten meetings to discuss key themes and progress economic
development opportunities for the region including:
 Central Australia Regional Economic Development Plan
 the ‘Living in Alice’ project that showcases Alice Springs / Central Australia as a place to live, work
and do business
 support for an independent Industrial Land Use Needs Analysis to identify opportunities for
commercial and industrial land development
 the development of the National Aboriginal Art Gallery to maximise local business and workforce
opportunities
 supporting the submission to Qantas to develop the Qantas Pilot Training Academy in Alice Springs
 supporting the development of the five mines capacity project to maximise local workforce
participation and business opportunities in the region
 ongoing targeted support for the development of an over 50s lifestyle village.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Division: Procurement NT
Objective: Provide strategic procurement governance, advice and services across the public sector to
achieve optimal value for the Territory, including maximising local business opportunities.
As at 30 June 2019 the division contained the following business units:
•
•
•

Procurement Services
Procurement Policy
Procurement Strategy and Capability

From 1 July 2019 Procurement Policy and Procurement Strategy and Capability Business Units will
become a part of the Economic Innovation division of the department and will continue to advance policies
and strategies that build local industry capability and resilience, including harnessing government
procurement as a powerful tool to shape industry policy.
Procurement Services will transfer to the Department of Corporate Information and Services due to
machinery of government changes.

Key Performance Indicators
Procurement NT
Percentage of Territory enterprises winning government
tenders
Level of business and industry confidence in the
procurement system1
Quality of service and advice provided to client agencies
Proportion of participants satisfied with quality of
procurement training
1

2017–18
Actual

2018–19
Budget

2018–19
Actual

80%

82%

80%

57%

97.5%

80%

87%

89%

80%

89%

82.2%

New measure – no data for 2017–18. Small sample size (88) may have skewed results with only 58 survey participants responding to questions relating
to this measure.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

Development of the Aboriginal Contracting Framework commenced and is planned to take place over
five stages, with the first three stages completed:
 a summary of what we heard from stakeholders in Stage 1 was publicly released on 11 July 2018
and a consultation report for Round 1 was released in late July 2018
 Stage 2 involved the formation of a working group in mid-July 2018 where policy options were
developed based on the feedback and ideas received from stakeholders. The group was formed by
non-government members including Aboriginal business leaders representing Aboriginal owned
businesses and Aboriginal employers, industry leaders, Traditional Owners, non-government
organisations, and other members of the business community
 further stakeholder consultation was undertaken in Stage 3 where the department presented
options back to stakeholders for review and refinement in Darwin, Katherine, Nhulunbuy,
Tennant Creek, Alice Springs and seven remote communities
 in response to policy development and audit observations made in the Auditor-General’s
November 2017 report, an economic impact assessment (EIA) and legal review was conducted at
Stage 3a. The EIA quantified the expected benefit for each of the draft policy opportunities, which
has informed the draft Framework.
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•

The department worked to continuously improve government procurement by:
 supporting collaborative tendering through joint venturing guides for agencies and business, and
supporting conditions of contract
 strengthening the department procurement management plans to increase strategic focus on
aboriginal participation opportunities in the planning stage
 completing a review of Contractor Accreditation Limited (through a Sub-Committee of the
Procurement Review Board).

•

The department implemented an all of government Procurement Capability Skills Check which was
completed in October 2018:
 961 users were invited to complete the two assessments across the Territory; of that number
646 registered and actively participated
 majority of respondents (62%) identified as occasional procurers – not in a dedicated procurement
function
 information gathered from the skills check was used to inform the procurement capability
development framework.

•

A total of 4948 introductory e-learning procurement modules were completed by staff across
government, increasing their awareness of and compliance with the procurement framework.

•

Non-accredited procurement and contracting training was organised by the department and attended
by 286 participants from 15 government agencies. Training included:
 ‘Procurement Awareness’ sessions
 ‘Introduction to Contract Management’ workshops.

•

Accredited procurement and contracting training was also organised by the department with
77 participants undertaking the training across government. Training included:
 Certificate IV in Government (Procurement and Contracting)
 Diploma of Government (Procurement and Contracting)
 Advanced Diploma of Government (Procurement and Contracting).

•

The department improved the forecasting of government procurement and contracting opportunities
for industry and business through the publication of government wide planned significant procurement
activity that was updated quarterly.

•

On 1 July 2018 the department implemented a whole-of-government procurement complaint
registration system (including complaints directly to the Buy Local Industry Advocate). As at
30 June 2019, agencies have registered 17 complaints, 12 of which have been resolved.

•

The department collaborated with the Buy Local Industry Advocate to update the Value for Territory
Assurance Program.

•

The Buy Local Industry Advocate:
 conducted 258 consultations: 117 with NT Government agencies; 133 with industry; five with
NT ministers; one with interstate government; one with Local Council; and one with an
Independent Lobby Group
 received 59 complaints with 39 of these resolved
 published his inaugural annual report on 20 December 2018
 reviewed two rounds of whole-of-government Value for Territory audits
 chaired the Buy Local Sub-committee of the Procurement Review Board, which has met four times
in the reporting period.
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Output group – Business and Industry Development and Support
Outcome: A diversified and growing Territory economy

Business Unit: Strategic Policy and Research
Objective: Coordinate whole of department policy responses regarding local, national and international
issues and opportunities affecting private investment, jobs and business growth, including labour market
and economic analysis.
As at 30 June 2019 this business unit was a part of the Strategic Services division.
From 1 July 2019 the unit will become a part of the new Economic Innovation division where it will work
to:
•
•

advance evidence based policies and strategies which will create the right environment for private
investment and increased business productivity
develop specific development and infrastructure policies and strategies to support new private
investment.

Key Performance Indicators
2017–18
Actual
71

Strategic Policy
Labour market and economic fact sheets issued1
1

2018–19
Budget
68

2018–19
Actual
129

Reflects an additional 58 publications produced as part of the NT Remote Towns Jobs Profiles that were originally scheduled for publication in 2017–18.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

The department released the NT Remote Towns Jobs Profiles in November 2018 based on the
Northern Territory Remote Towns Jobs Survey carried out in 2017. The profiles compare information
from 2011, 2014 and 2017 and advise government, industry, businesses and contractors about
employment opportunities and business capabilities within the towns and are used in service planning
and delivery and as a workforce planning tool.

•

Key highlights across the 28 remote towns profiled included:






7420 jobs in total with 6520 filled and 900 vacant jobs
of the filled jobs, 54% were males and 46% were females
3562 jobs were filled by Aboriginal people
a total of 429 operating businesses including 279 private businesses and 150 government agencies
the top five industries in the profiles were:
o public administration and safety (21%)
o education and training (17%)
o retail trade (15%)
o mining (13%)
o health care and social assistance (11%).

•

Coordinated a consultancy to assess the expected economic impact of the Aboriginal Contracting
Framework (further detail on the Framework is provided at page 29).

•

Published monthly and quarterly economic-related publications including:






•

State of the Economy
Business Count
Statistical infographics
Key Business Statistics
Labour market fact sheets.

The unit is working on producing more interactive economic tools/briefs for stakeholders through
existing platforms such as Microsoft Power BI.
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•

Created and implemented a department wide Evaluation Framework to guide the effective evaluation
of the department’s programs and services and strengthen evidence based decision-making.
Implementation of the framework included:






developing an evaluation page with tools and resources on the intranet
delivering information sessions to staff
providing feedback on evaluation activities and draft evaluation plans
attending divisional evaluation committee meetings
facilitating whole-of-agency evaluation sharing forums.

•

Evaluation is now embedded within the department with 94 evaluation plans completed for priority
projects in 2018–19.

•

Designed the following Economic Stimulus Programs:
 Leased Property Stimulus Scheme which invites submissions from building owners with existing
government leases to undertake capital works to their commercial buildings in exchange for an
extension of lease term. Applications opened in January 2019. The scheme was designed in
conjunction with the Department of Corporate and Information and Services who will implement
and administer the program
 the Digital Partnerships Program aims to support the local Information and Communication
Technology (ICT) industry to build capacity and create jobs, foster partnerships between the
Territory’s ICT sector and other local industries and encourage the development of innovative
digital solutions to meet local challenges and support economic growth. Further information on the
Program is provided on page 13
 the Welcome to the Territory Incentives Program was developed to accompany the development
of the 2018–28 Northern Territory Population Growth Strategy. Further information on the
scheme is provided on page 14.

•

Provided up-to-date whole-of-government reporting on the EDF actions and projects and led the
development of performance indicators for the framework in consultation with the departments of the
Chief Minister; and Treasury and Finance.

•

Released the EDF Progress Report No. 1 – October 2018 in February 2019 which outlined key
achievements and outcomes across the five identified growth sectors and five developing sectors,
providing project-specific updates as at October 2018. Of the 105 actions identified in the EDF, there
were 90 actions in progress or completed in the progress report. Key highlights include:










release of the Digital Territory Strategy in October 2018
securing the relocation of Project Sea Dragon headquarters to Darwin
commencement of the 2019 Annual Review of the 10 Year Infrastructure Plan process
release of the STEM in the Territory Strategy 2018–2022 in November 2018
Litchfield National Park being upgraded with new swimming spots and campgrounds which will
increase the overall park visitor capacity by 60 000 people
launch of the NT Masterbrand ‘Boundless Possible’ in August 2018
launch of the NT Business Innovation Strategy in October 2018
successful negotiations with the Australian Government for a second Designated Area Migration
Agreement (DAMA II) which was launched in January 2019
government agencies working collaboratively with the National Disability Scheme, NT Council of
Social Service and Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance NT to deliver a 12 month project for the
development of an industry driven Human Services Industry Plan.
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Output group - Employment and Skilling
Outcome: A skilled workforce that meets the current and future needs of Territory employers and industry

Division: Workforce NT
Objective: Administer the vocational education and training (VET) system. Ensure the skill requirements of
the Territory economy are met through responsive programs and systems aligned to the needs of Territory
employers, industries, and workers. Assist Territory employers through workforce growth and skilled
migration initiatives.
As at 30 June 2019 this division contained the following business units:
•
•
•
•

Strategic Policy and Data Analytics
Workforce Initiatives
MigrationNT
StudyNT (transferred to Workforce NT from Northern Australia Development and Trade in December
2018)

From 1 July 2019 this division will become a part of the Business and Workforce division which will bring
Regional Economic Development, Business and Innovation NT and Workforce NT under one umbrella.
Workforce NT’s programs, services and initiatives will continue to ensure that the Territory maintains a
skilled workforce that meets the current and future needs of Territory employers and industry.

Key Performance Indicators
2017–18
Actual
2098

2018–19
Budget
2200

2018–19
Actual
2465

Apprenticeship and traineeship completions

981

1050

1002

Training participation rate
Percentage of improved employment outcomes for workforce
project participants1
Percentage of apprentices and trainees that are Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander1
Successful training completions
Proportion of apprenticeship and traineeships graduates in
employment or further study
Aboriginal Employment Program:

13%

12%

12%

–

70%

70%

–

30%

30%

82%

80%

82%

91%

90%

90%

– supported businesses and organisations2

100

120

102

1919

1000

1915

–

1500

1360

32

40
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5%

5%

6%

Workforce NT
Apprenticeship and traineeship commencements

– additional people supported in jobs
Business and Skilled Migration visas assessed1
Northern Territory Designated Area Migration Agreement
endorsements3
Increase in international students studying in the Territory4
1
2
3
4

New measure – no data for 2017–18.
Stronger employment support was achieved through grant programs across a smaller number of businesses and organisations than estimated.
Decrease due to employers delaying applications pending the release of DAMA II.
Previously with the Northern Australia Development and Trade division. The percentage is the year on year increase for the school year (December 2017
to December 2018).

Key achievements 2018–19
•

The Territory Inbound Worker Strategy 2019–28 was developed to support the delivery of the
2018–2028 NT Population Growth Strategy and ensure that the Government’s efforts to attract,
advocate for and support newcomers, international students and existing migrants are aligned.

•

The department completed negotiations with the Australian Government for the DAMA II and signed a
new head agreement on 13 December 2018.
33

Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Annual Report 2018–19

•

To support implementation of the DAMA II the department held forums in Darwin and Alice Springs in
February 2019 and conducted regional roadshows in Nhulunbuy, Katherine and Tennant Creek
between 20 and 24 May 2019. Sessions informed employers on the opportunities available under the
DAMA II and were attended by employers primarily representing the hospitality, trades and health care
industries. Overall feedback received was positive with attendees advising that the new agreement was
a useful mechanism for regional employers to help alleviate issues relating to the retention of skilled
and semi-skilled workers, and that the permanent residence pathway may incentivise sponsored skilled
workers to remain in the region on a long term basis.

•

The MigrationNT Worker and Business Migrant Attraction Marketing Strategy 2019–24 was approved
by the minister on 24 January 2019 and included the delivery of a digital marketing campaign and
updated marketing collateral to align with the NTG Masterbrand. The strategy is designed to raise the
profile of employment opportunities, grow the Territory skill base, population and economy, and
promote the Territory as a preferred destination to work, live, study, do business and invest.

•

The Skills Recognition Centre was established in the Darwin Smith Street Mall to provide a range of
services that enable Territorians to work in jobs that match their skills. The Centre supports overseas
and interstate newcomers, international students and existing Territorians to maximise their productive
potential and grow local workforce capacity.

•

A Business Development Officer was employed to actively engage with businesses accessing the
Australian Government’s Seasonal Worker Program and Pacific Labour Scheme. Since the introduction
of the Pacific Labour Scheme on 1 July 2018, 15 Territory businesses were approved for the program
which equates to 42.9% of all approved employers nationally.

•

The department continued to implement the VET Investment Framework. Key updates in 2018–19
related to the payment models in the core framework policies and these changes were applied to the
2019 funding round negotiations for User Choice and Recurrent funding.

•

The Skilling Territorians Program continued to fund targeted nationally recognised vocational
education and training to meet current and projected skill needs of industry, business and individuals
with focused efforts on developing improvements through incentives and services to increase uptake,
retention and completion of apprentices and trainees in the Territory.

•

An engagement campaign was implemented for the Skilling Territorians Program to showcase VET as a
pathway into diverse careers and promote the range of incentives and assistance available to support
Territory businesses employing apprentices and trainees. The campaign included print, digital, radio and
television advertising.

•

The inaugural 2018–19 Skilling the Territory Annual Investment Plan was released in December 2018
and provides the framework required to ensure a skilled workforce that meets industry and business
needs now and into the future. Programs cover the following priorities:





Apprenticeships and Traineeships
Targeted and Responsive
Public Provider
Industry Engagement.

•

International Student Wellbeing Grants provided $60 888 in funding across 14 successful applications
to help businesses and training organisations deliver activities that enhance the wellbeing of
international students living in the Territory and connect international students with employers and the
Territory community.

•

Promoted the StudyNT Student Ambassador Program, with 25 international students appointed to the
2019 program and provided with volunteering, professional development and networking
opportunities that will grow strong advocates to represent and promote the Territory as an ideal study
destination.

•

Awarded 28 scholarships through the Study in Australia’s Northern Territory Scholarship Program, that
were provided jointly with NT International Education and Training (IET) providers.
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•

StudyNT supported both domestic and international events, including delegations to Vietnam, India,
Nepal, Beijing, Berlin and Shenzhen, to showcase the Territory as a study destination. The continued
promotion of the Territory has resulted in a 6% increase in international student numbers from
December 2017 to December 2018.

•

The department provided the Chair and Secretariat support for the NT IET Industry Group whose
membership includes all international education providers and industry stakeholders and centrally
coordinates the engagement of the IET sector across the Territory.

•

The NT International Engagement and Training Strategy 2019 to 2025 was released and aims to
support the growth in the number of international students studying in the NT from 2600 in 2018 to
more than 10 000 by 2025. The strategy has 3 pillars:
 enrich the Territory international student experience
 showcase the Territory as a study destination
 strengthen and grow the Territory international education and training industry.

•

In partnership with the NT IET industry, StudyNT hosted the ICEF Australia New Zealand Agent
Workshop from 3-5 April 2019. The workshop was attended by 448 delegates, including 200 student
recruitment agents. StudyNT also coordinated events to maximise value from the workshop
participants including familiarisation tours for:
 15 IET agents to explore Darwin where agents were able to participate in tourism activities and
meet with IET providers and key industry stakeholders
 eight high yield international study tour agents to explore Central Australia and experience and
learn what the region has to offer international students and study tour groups. The famil was
organised in conjunction with CADO, Tourism NT, local IET providers and tourism businesses.

•

Supported regional economic development through stakeholder engagement and regional planning
activities with Workforce Training Coordinators based in regional areas. Stakeholder engagement
supported and influenced private investment attraction as well as helping to guide industry on current
and future actions, initiatives, government policies and future developments in the regions. Workforce
Training Coordinators also supported and contributed to a range of strategies including:
 Barkly Regional Deal
 The Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation Multi-Agency Partnership
 Groote Archipelago Local Decision Making Agreement.

•

The department chaired a Daly region working group to support workforce planning for Project Sea
Dragon and identify and maximise opportunities for local people to engage with work around the major
project. The working group supported Thamarrurr Development Corporation to develop a capability
profile for business and workforce in the region.

•

The NT Government International Student Welcome Reception was held at Parliament House on
26 February 2019 and was attended by 379 international students and 59 industry stakeholders.
The event provided an opportunity for students to be welcomed to the Territory, network with each
other and industry with strong social media engagement generated from the event.

•

Workforce business intelligence was collected, collated and provided to the National Centre for VET
Research nine times during this financial year, including four VET provider submissions, four apprentice
and trainee submissions and an annual finance collection submission. Territory apprenticeship and
traineeship data was also provided to industry through the department’s monthly labour market briefs.

•

MigrationNT continued to support migration to the Territory through the General Skilled Migration
Program and the suite of visas available under the Business Innovation and Investment Program.

•

The MINT was established as a pilot program to support the creation of the Territory’s first Venture
Capital fund and is privately owned and managed by the Darwin Innovation Hub and Paspalis Asset
Management and supported by government. The program assists overseas nationals with obtaining
government nomination in select visa categories if they have demonstrated commitment to being
involved in the Darwin Innovation Hub by investing in venture capital. The first MINT program closed
with 52 successful applications resulting in a direct benefit of $26 million to the Territory economy.
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•

The NT Skilled Occupation Priority List (NTSOPL) is a forward looking list that identifies occupations
which are in shortage, high demand or critical to economy and industry in the Territory. The ISACNT
conducted Territory labour market research, incorporating input from a range of stakeholders including
industry associations, employers and unions. The NTSOPL is used for a range of purposes including
decisions on training investment, identifying lists of eligible occupations in some migration programs
such as DAMA II, and as criteria under the Welcome to the Territory incentives. Information was
collected and validated throughout 2018–19 to inform the 2019 list which was published in July 2019.

•

Aboriginal Responsive Skilling Grants provided $1.92 million in funding, assisting 1613 people to
participate in 165 accredited and non-accredited training programs that were delivered across
57 communities.

•

The Aboriginal Workforce Grants 2019 competitive funding round received 41 applications with
$758 615 in funding provided to 13 successful organisations.

•

The Industry Buildskills Program provided $1 123 939 in funding to support the upskilling and reskilling
of 533 existing workers in the following industries: Agriculture (42), Building and Construction (40),
Civil Construction (350), Education and Training (45), Health (20), Oil and Gas (22),
Process Manufacturing (9) and Transport (5).

•

The Pre-employment Training Program gave participants practical skills to help them get a job,
apprenticeship or traineeship. Initiatives provided under the program included: skills for work for
migration integration (53), job assistance for redundant workers (9), hospitality (35), electro
technology (12), and resources and infrastructure (10).

•

The Equity Training Program provided $160 930 in funding to improve training and employment
outcomes to disadvantaged Territorians.

•

The Territory was one of the first jurisdictions to develop an acceptable program of action under the
Skilling Australians Fund which provided an injection of $3 million into the Territory’s economy in
2018–19.
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Output group – Corporate and Governance
Outcome: Improved organisation performance through strategic and governance leadership and the provision
of corporate services functions

Division: Corporate and Governance
Objective: Provide strategic and governance leadership to guide the direction and focus of the agency and
undertake a range of supporting corporate functions.
The Corporate and Governance output group includes the following business units from the Strategic
Services division:
•
•
•
•
•

Finance and Business Services
Governance and Performance
People and Capability
Strategic Engagement and Communication
Business Systems and Information Services

From 1 July 2019 Finance and Business Services, Governance and Performance, and Strategic Engagement
and Communication units will be incorporated into the Office of the Chief Executive Officer where they
will continue to provide services that support improved performance of the department.
People and Capability and Business Systems and Information Services will transfer to the Department of
Corporate Information and Services due to machinery of government changes.

Key achievements 2018–19
•

Supported department programs and projects with targeted marketing and engagement activities in
order to build a strong and vibrant economy for all Territorians and drive opportunities to grow private
investment and create jobs in the Territory. The following key campaigns were delivered or supported
across the department:
start.run.grow to support small to medium enterprises
Buy Local to encourage Territorians to support local businesses
Northern Territory Business and Innovation Strategy
2018–19 Skilling the Territory Annual Investment Plan to promote the importance of VET,
Aboriginal employment and skilled migration programs
 MigrationNT Worker and Business Migrant Attraction Marketing Strategy 2019–24 including
population incentives, migration, study and defence community
 consultation activities to inform development of the new Aboriginal Contracting Framework
 strategic marketing of major infrastructure projects in the Territory to grow private investment.






•

The following signature events were delivered in partnership with divisional teams within the
department, including:






October Business Month
NT Training Awards
Skills, Employment and Careers Expo
Reaching South in Shenzhen
Facing North in Canberra.

•

A 24 month marketing plan was developed in December 2018 and commenced in January 2019.
The plan included a program of engagement, communication and marketing activities that informed the
Territory business community and promoted the Territory as a destination to live, work, study, trade
and invest.

•

The department continued to inform key stakeholders and the Territory business community through a
fortnightly double page spread in the NT News business section and fortnightly CEO Business Bulletin,
e-newsletter and a regular inclusion to Territory Q magazine.

•

Developed an internal communications framework and commenced redesign of the intranet, leveraging
the Department of Tourism, Sport and Culture’s investment in redeveloping its staff intranet.
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•

Co-developed and co-delivered the whole-of-government ‘Boundless Possible’ Territory Masterbrand
and marketing strategy to promote the Territory and underpin work to grow the population and the
economy. The Masterbrand was supported across the agency through the rollout of a department
visual guide released in December 2018.

•

Delivered enhancements to the department’s Customer Relationship Management system through the
improved discovery, capability, data quality and training, with user activity increasing significantly
across the department.

•

Continued to enhance business intelligence and data analytics tools within the department through
delivery of a suite of dashboard reports for various business units including: Grants and Business
Services, Workforce NT, Procurement NT and People and Capability.

•

Continued to implement the Strategic Reporting System across the department to monitor and report
against the department’s strategic directions, risks and divisional business plans. Introduced more
tailored reports to support and improve efficiency, evaluation and decision-making.

•

The People and Culture Strategy was refreshed in February 2019 and sets out four inter-related focus
areas which will support the delivery of our overall strategic priorities, communicate our Employment
Value Proposition and further embed the values and behaviours to ensure a high performing
organisation. The following activities were delivered or supported under the Strategy:
 delivery of the Strategic Leadership and Emerging Leaders programs were completed in
November 2018 with 105 department staff participating across the 2 programs
 developed a draft Corporate Capability Development Plan which will incorporate ongoing
development in leadership and management
 supported the 1DTBI model which encourages a one team approach and improved collaboration,
community and engagement across the department
 delivered the Workplace Culture Forum in August 2018 which was attended by 53 staff and
informed the development of the draft Workplace Culture Charter
 implemented the new myPerformance system across the department with 70% of employees
completing their myPerformance discussions.

•

The People Matters Survey had a department response rate of 89% (216 responses) which is an
improved response rate from the previous survey conducted in 2016 of 66%. The department’s
response rate was also higher than the whole-of-government response rate of 46%. The staff
engagement result across the agency was positive at 75% and action plans have been developed for all
divisions based on results of the survey.
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3. Corporate Governance
Governance Framework

The department operates with a whole-ofenterprise approach to risk management. Strategies
are set under corporate planning processes. Risks to
achieving strategy objectives are managed,
measured and reported.

The department’s governance structures aim to
ensure outcomes are achieved in a way that
enhances confidence in the department, its
decisions and actions.
The department’s corporate governance is guided
by the following principles:
•

Performance: ensuring our governance
arrangements positively contribute to overall
performance and delivery of our services and
programs.

•

Conformance: using our governance
arrangements to meet legislative requirements,
comply with necessary regulations and
standards, and satisfy expectations of probity,
accountability and transparency.

Structure
The Governance Framework outlines the
governance, advice and decision-making structures
within the department. The Board of Management
(BOM) provides strategic leadership and is
supported by the Executive Management Group
(EMG) and specialist committees who provide
assurance that risk and compliance obligations are
being met.
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Legislative framework
Under the Administrative Arrangements Order, the department is responsible for the principal areas of
government and administering the legislation detailed at Appendix A.

Statutory authorities and boards
The department is responsible for the statutory authorities and boards detailed at Appendix B.

Governance bodies
Board of Management
The Board of Management (BOM) provides the highest level strategic leadership and decision-making to
the department. It sets and monitors the strategic direction and performance of the department.
The BOM met monthly throughout the 2018–19 year to review the department’s overall progress towards
the achievement of goals and objectives of the Strategic Directions.
Membership at 30 June 2019:
Role

Position

Name

Chair

Chief Executive Officer

Shaun Drabsch

Member

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Sibylle Brautigam

Member

General Manager Northern Australia Development and Trade

Luke Bowen

Member

General Manager Strategic Infrastructure and Projects

Anne Tan

Member

Executive Director Strategic Services

Gail Humble

Member

Chief Financial Officer

Lisa Strohfeldt

Secretariat

Senior Executive Officer

Gina Cassimatis

The following groups and committees assist the Board in its operations:
•
•
•
•

Executive Management Group
Risk Management and Audit Committee
Information Management Committee
Work Health and Safety Management Committee.

Executive Management Group
The Executive Management Group (EMG) promotes information sharing and collaboration on department
priorities to support innovative and efficient service across the department.
The EMG reported to the BOM about the performance of the department against the key priorities and
deliverables of Strategic Directions 2017-21.
Its membership at 30 June 2019 was the Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Financial Officer and each of the General Managers and Executive Directors (as per Chapter 1:
Our Organisation).

Risk Management and Audit Committee
The Risk Management and Audit Committee provides independent assurance and assistance to the
Chief Executive Officer in the areas of statutory reporting, internal control systems, risk management
systems and audit.
The Committee met five times during 2018–19 including four ordinary meetings and one meeting to
review the Annual Report.
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Membership at 30 June 2019:
Role

Position

Name

Independent
Chair

Governance consultant and past Auditor-General for the
Northern Territory (1995–2002)

Iain Summers

Member

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Sibylle Brautigam

Member

General Manager Strategic Infrastructure and Projects

Anne Tan

Member

Executive Director Workforce NT

Catherine White

Member

Executive Director Procurement NT

Julie Jenkins

Member

Executive Director Regions

Bill Sankey

Observer

Chief Financial Officer

Lisa Strohfeldt

Secretariat

Acting Manager Governance and Performance

Sally Petrick

Summary of work performed during 2018–19
•

Monitored the Strategic and Operational Risk Registers and Fraud Control Plan identifying key risks to
the department achieving its objectives.

•

Reviewed the internal audit plan and how it links to controls identified in the Risk Register.

•

Provided oversight of four internal audits in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan and two internal
reviews.

•

Monitored the implementation of audit recommendations from internal and external audits through the
Register of Audit Findings, and their impact on risk ratings.

•

Provided an executive summary report to the Chief Executive Officer after each meeting.

•

Provided the Chief Executive Officer with assurance that the department has met its obligations under
the Treasurer’s Directions 3.2 and G2.2.

•

Reviewed the membership of the Committee in accordance with the Terms of Reference.

•

Reviewed the draft Risk Appetite Statement prepared by the Risk Appetite Project Team.

Summary of Internal Audits and Reviews for the period 2018–19
Internal audits in accordance with the Internal Audit Plan
Compliance with Northern Territory Government Value for Territory Assurance and Procurement Rules
Audit – Complete at 30 June 2019
The objective of this audit was to review the department’s compliance with the Buy Local Plan and
Procurement Rules within the department’s wider procurement framework, provide an opinion on risk and
make recommendations for improvements to manage risk.
Compliance with Northern Territory Government Travel Policy Framework Audit – Complete at 30 June
2019
The objective of this audit was to review the department’s compliance with the whole-of-government
Travel Policy Framework as adopted within the department’s wider travel policy framework.
Privacy and Data Protection compliance with Information Act 2002 (NT), Privacy Act (Cth) and relevant
components of the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation. – Complete at 30 June 2019
The objective of this audit was to review the compliance of the department with relevant privacy
legislation, provide an opinion on risk and provide recommendations for improvements to
manage risk.
Complaints handling and managing process compliance with Procurement Rules, department policies and
best practice – Draft report at 30 June 2019
The objective of this audit was to review the effectiveness of the department’s complaints handling
procedures with relevant legislation, policies and best practice within Procurement NT and the Territory
Business Centres.
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Internal Review
Migration Innovation NT (MINT) Program for Workforce NT – Complete at 30 June 2019
The objective of this review was to review and evaluate the department’s processes and procedures for
assessing and responding to visa applications from applicants and evaluate the pilot program against the
program objectives.

Summary of external audits conducted by the Auditor-General during 2018–19
The following audits were complete at 30 June 2019:
End of Year Review
The objective of this review was to assess the adequacy of selected aspects of end of financial year
controls over reporting, accounting and material transactions and balances, with the primary purpose of
providing support to the audit or the Treasurer’s Annual Financial Statements.
Performance Management Systems Audit – Luxury Hotel
The objective of this audit was to review the department’s management of the Luxury Hotel project.
Performance Management Systems Audit – Darwin Water Theme Park
The objective of this audit was to review the department’s management of the Darwin Water Theme Park
project.
Agency Compliance Audit
Agency compliance audits are intended to ascertain the extent to which Agencies’ Accountable Officers
have implemented and maintained procedures that assist in ensuring that the requirements set out in Acts
of Parliament, and subordinate and delegated legislation, are adhered to.

Work Health and Safety Management Committee
The Work Health and Safety Management Committee assists the CEO to meet the department’s
obligations under the Work Health and Safety (National Uniform Legislation) Act 2011.
The committee oversees compliance with the department’s Work Health and Safety policies and
frameworks, and ensures the department is engaging employees to identify and manage workplace risks
with the support of workplace committees.
The committee reports to BOM on the cost and impact of workplace incidents including workers
compensation claims and other workplace incidents reported through the online incident reporting system.
The committee met four times during 2018–19.
Membership at 30 June 2019:
Role

Position

Name

Chair

Executive Director International Engagement Trade and
Investment

Scott Wauchope

Secretariat

Senior Human Resources Consultant

Mandy Caulfield

Member

Director People and Capability

Shirley Wilkshire

Member

Executive Director Strategic Services

Gail Humble

Member

Executive Director Regions

Bill Sankey

Member

Manager Workforce Programs

Tim Nicol

Member

Acting Manager Governance and Performance

Sally Petrick

Member

Senior Project Officer

Michelle Graf
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Summary of work performed during 2018–19
•

Continued developing Work Health and Safety Wellbeing Initiatives to promote and support health
and wellbeing in the workplace.

•

Monitored the department’s Workplace Work Health and Safety Committees to identify incident and
hazard trends.

•

Maintained the Work Health and Safety Policy and Framework.

•

Monitored and reported on the number and cost of new and existing workers compensation claims.

•

Monitored and reported on the number of workplace incidents recorded in the online incident
reporting system.

•

Reviewed the Travel Policy and Travel Risk Assessment template.

Information Management Committee
The Information Management Committee oversees the development, implementation, performance and
continuous improvement of ICT policies, projects and strategies.
The Committee ensures integration and alignment of ICT architecture and business objectives across the
department and government. Further, the Committee provides assurance to the BOM that department ICT
projects comply with the NT Government ICT Governance Framework and Treasurer’s Directions.
The committee met four times during the 2018–19 year.
Membership at 30 June 2019:
Role

Position

Name

Chair

Executive Director Workforce NT

Catherine White

Secretariat

Chief Information Officer

Michael De Luca

Member

Executive Director, Economic and Industry Development

Jason Schoolmeester

Member

Director Grants and Business Support Services

Bardia Bodaghi

Member

Executive Director Business and Innovation NT

Jason Howe

Member

Director Strategic Engagement and Communication

Wendy Pritchard

Member

Executive Director, Procurement NT

Julie Jenkins

Summary of work performed during 2018–19
•

Continued to facilitate the ICT project approval framework.

•

Reviewed and endorsed four project proposals across a number of divisions, including new systems
and tools.

•

Reviewed and endorsed the Privacy Policy.

•

Identified and explored collaboration opportunities across the department.

•

Developed and endorsed the VET Employment and Analytics (VERA) Program aligned to
Strategic Directions 2017–2021.
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Information Management
The department holds a mix of government and personal information which it manages in accordance with
Part 9 of the Information Act 2002, the Information Privacy Principles and the Records Management
Standards for Public Sector Organisations in the Northern Territory. Departmental records include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Strategic infrastructure and major projects records
International engagement, trade and investment strategy and policy files
Economic information and data, and labour market analysis
Procurement policy, regulation and services records
Industry innovation and research, and development and participation
Business growth and sustainability records
Records of workforce participation including Aboriginal participation, skilled migration, and training and
employment programs and assistance schemes
Records about financial assistance, information, services and support to business and industry
Apprentice files
Portable long service leave files
International education, investment and infrastructure records
Records about economic and social development of desert and arid lands
Defence capability and support records.

The department takes a proactive approach to managing its records, engaging the services of senior staff
and auditors to ensure its processes comply with legislation with the ability to quickly address potential
breaches and gaps.
The Chief Information Officer is the decision maker in relation to all Freedom of Information (FOI)
applications.
In 2018–19 two FOI requests were received and actioned:
•
•

one related to Strategic Infrastructure and Projects
one related to Workforce NT.

There were no requests transferred to other departments; however, the department assisted several
agencies to obtain information under Discovery and Commonwealth freedom of information legislation.
A privacy policy describing the department’s commitment to protecting the privacy of the personal
information it collects, along with information describing our organisational structure and functions is
available on the department’s website.
For more details on how to apply for access to information please refer to Appendix G.
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4. Our People
People and Capability partner across the department with business units to build and enhance individual
and organisational capability, support a high performance workforce and strengthen people management
practices. It provides strategic and operational human resource advice on workforce planning, recruitment
and selection, early careers programs and people management, and support workforce capability through a
range of initiatives.

People and Culture Strategy 2017–2020
The People Strategy was reviewed in early 2019 and was renamed as the People and Culture
Strategy 2017–20 to reflect the updated focus on both our workforce and workplace culture. The review
focussed on completed activities, feedback through the People Matter Survey, inclusion of a workforce
reporting framework, analysis of workforce data, application of key performance indicators, alignment to
the department’s Strategic Plan and a greater emphasis on workplace culture and workforce planning.
The People and Culture Strategy continues to focus on four key areas: Strong Leadership and People
Management; High Performing and Capable Workforce; Diversity, Inclusion and Wellbeing; and Workforce
Planning.

People Matter Survey
The 2018 People Matter Survey closed on 23 September 2018. The department had an outstanding
response rate of 89% (216 responses out of 244), providing a good understanding of how employees view
the department and their work areas.
The department’s results were positive with a score of 75% engagement and 77% employee satisfaction.
The results highlighted key strength areas such as employee belief in the purpose and objectives of the
department, how they contribute to achieving these and how they value the provision of high quality
services to Territorians.
Areas of focus for improvement included how the department manages change with a score of 58% and
individual performance and capability with a score of 67% for individual performance and capability.
The EMG committed to addressing these areas through further consultation with employees for the
development of a department and divisional action plans.

Comparative Results across the NT Public Sector
100%
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67%

66%

77%

69%
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50%
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Department employee statistics
The following table provides a comparison between 2017–18 and 2018–19 employee statistics.
Workforce Profile

2016-17

2017–18

2018–19

235.6

253.7

256.5

191

202

205

Employee turnover

18.0%

16.1%

16.5%

Employees on executive contracts

10.1%

9.9%

9.3%

Part time employees

14

16

18

Average age of employee

43

42

42

Female employees

66.0%

67.8%

66%

Male employees

34.0%

32.2%

34%

Employees aged between 30–50

49.8%

54.5%

55.6%

26 (11.0%)

27 (10.2%)

29 (10.8%)

Employees from culturally diverse backgrounds

6 (2.5%)

21 (8%)

20 (7.5%)

Employees identifying as having a disability

7 (2.9%)

13 (4.9%)

12 (4.5%)

New industrial relation claims

0

0

0

Workers compensation claims

2

1

1

Formal disciplines invoked

1

0

1

Redundancies

4

2

1

$258 626

$246 454

$235 902

14.41

12

10

Recreation leave used per person (average)

31.6

27

26

Long Service days used per person (average)

7.2

7

6

Leave without pay used per person (average)

7.4

10

11

Full time equivalent (FTE)*
Permanent employees (adjusted paid employees)

Diversity and Inclusion

Identified as being Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander

Employee Relations

Developing our Workforce Capability
Actual spend on training
Health and Wellbeing
Sick leave days used per person (average)

∗

The department had 268 paid employees (18 part time and 250 full time).
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Workforce Profile
Employees by division (adjusted paid employees)

SIP
6%

NT Build
3%

OCEO
3%

Business and Innovation
Northern Australia
Development and Trade
Workforce NT

Business and
Innovation
23%

Procurement NT
11%

Strategic Services
Procurement NT

Strategic Services
16%

Northern Australia
Development and
Trade
21%

Workforce NT
17%

Strategic Infrastucture and
Projects (SIP)
NT Build
Office of the CEO (OCEO)

Employee turnover
Employee turnover for the year was 16.5% excluding transfers to and from other agencies in the NT Public
Sector. This was a slight increase of 0.4 compared to 2017–18.

Employee type (adjusted paid employees)
Executive Contractor
9%

Temporary/Contract
14%

Permanent Staff
Temporary/Contract
Executive Contractor
Permanent Staff
76%
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Employees by classification and gender (adjusted paid employees)
45

41

40
35

30

30

23

25

18

20
15
10
5

21

11

5

9
2

4

1

22
18
17

15

14
9

7
0

0

2

76

01

Female

34

21

01

01

Male

Diversity and Inclusion
The department fosters inclusion and diversity to attract and retain a diverse workforce, evidenced by
positive results in workforce demographics including:
the ratio of male to female employees within the department is 91 male to 177 female paid employees
an increase of female employees within senior strategic leadership roles from 25 in 2017–18 to
26 in 2018–19
the number of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander employee within senior strategic leadership roles
remained consistent at four
equal employment opportunity voluntary identification increased by one from 59 in 2017–18 to
61 in 2018–19, including employees identifying as:
 culturally diverse background (20)
 having a disability (12)
 Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander (29)
the average age of staff is 42 years, with 42 staff within the 55 to 65 years and over bracket.

•
•
•
•

•

Employees by age and gender (adjusted paid employees)
60

51

50

44

43

40
30
20
10
0

21
12

27
18

23

19
4

3
15 - 24

25 - 34

35 - 44
Female

45 - 54
Male

48

55 - 64

3

65 and over

4. Our People

Years of service by employees (headcount)

<1 year
13%
<1 year

>10 years and more
38%

>1 year <5 years
>1 year <5 years
32%

>5 years <10 years
>10 years and more

>5 years <10 years
17%

Employee Relations
Industrial relations
The department is committed to working in partnership with employees and unions.
Employees are supported through change management processes to ensure successful transition
throughout restructures and reassignment of duties.
No industrial relations claims were lodged against the department during 2018–19.

Outside Employment
The department supported outside employment in accordance with Section 19 of the Code of Conduct
(Employment Instruction Number 12). In 2018–19:
•
•

27 outside employment applications were received and approved
22 staff applied for outside employment (some with multiple applications).

Developing our Workforce Capability
People and Capability facilitated, supported and advised on strategic, corporate and operational
professional development.
The department promotes opportunities for staff to gain professional development through a
Study Assistance policy, Membership of Professional Organisation policy, a dedicated Professional
Development Opportunities page on the staff intranet site and a department jobs board that encourages
staff development across the department.

Corporate Professional Development Opportunities
Corporate Induction and Orientation
The department induction and orientation program is designed to support new employees settle into their
roles by providing information about the department, its strategic priorities, culture and key policies and
procedures. It also provides an awareness of corporate functions, performance agreement processes,
entitlements and conditions of service, appropriate workplace behaviour and the NTPS Code of Conduct.
Employees are provided with information on their accountability and responsibilities under the Public Sector
Employment and Management Act 1993 (PSEMA) and the Work Health and Safety (National Uniform
Legislation) Act 2011 (WHS).
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myPerformance
In September 2019, the department conducted internal training on the department’s performance
management system, myPerformance, with a total of 66 participants.

Strengthening Management and Leadership Capability
The department delivered management and leadership capability development through its internal
leadership and management programs:
•
•

Emerging Leaders program (Administrative Officer 7—Senior Administrative Officer 1 or equivalent)
had 16 participants graduate
Strategic Leadership program (Senior Administrative Officer 2 or equivalent and above) had
17 participants graduate.

Other Professional Development
Throughout the year and during performance management discussions staff are encouraged to identify and
undertake suitable development opportunities to assist with role-specific capability. Professional
development and capability building programs undertaken included training in the following areas:
•
•
•
•
•

leadership
workplace culture
performance management
stakeholder engagement
WHS

•
•
•
•

human resources
administrative skills
governance
industry skills
development

•
•
•
•
•

project management
communication
finance
emotional intelligence
customer service.

The department also supported 62 employees to attend training offered through the Office of the
Commissioner for Public Employment (OCPE).

Early Careers Programs
During 2018–19, the department engaged three trainees under the NTPS Traineeship Program, one work
experience student and five students undertaking an internship.

Learning Management System
In 2018–19, the following eLearning modules were available to employees through the MyLearning site:
•
•
•

Code of Conduct
Procurement
eRecruit

•
•

the Client Relationship Management System
WHS Framework.

Study Assistance
There were 12 employees that accessed study assistance during 2018–19 to undertake study ranging from
certificates to masters level programs. The department supports employees gaining relevant professional
and technical skills through higher education studies. This financial assistance equates to a total of $23 192
with an average of $1933 per participating employee.
Areas of study supported during 2018–19 included:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Bachelor of Commerce
Bachelor of Business
Bachelor of Accounting
Diploma of Leadership and Management
Diploma of Business
Diploma of Languages
Certificate IV Project Management Practice

•
•
•
•
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Master of Applied Law
Master of Business Administration
(International)
Master of Disaster Management
Graduate Diploma of Australian Migration
Law.
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Health and Wellbeing
The department is committed to the health and wellbeing of its employees, including creating a positive
work environment where they feel safe, valued and supported. The WHS Management Committee
continues to ensure departmental compliance with legislative requirements and internal processes.

Flu Vaccinations
The department actively promoted the availability of a free annual flu vaccination program for all staff.
In 2018–19, a total of 113 employees chose to participate in the flu vaccination program.

Flexible Working Arrangements
The department supports employees with the flexibility to balance their work with their personal
commitments and interests. Supporting family friendly and flexible working arrangements that meet the
operational needs of the department and its employees impacts positively on employees’ health and
wellbeing, commitment, productivity and engagement. At 30 June 2019, there were 46 applications of
flexible working arrangements comprising:
•
•
•
•
•
•

17 employees accessed flexible working hours (flextime)
10 employees worked reduced hours under a flexible working agreement
3 ongoing part time employment contracts
6 home-based work agreements
9 employees who accessed the recreation leave at half pay scheme
1 employee who purchased additional leave.

All requests made for flexible working arrangements during 2018–19 were approved.

Employee Assistance Program
The Employee Assistance Program provides access to free, confidential counselling for employees and their
family. These services are available for any circumstance for which an employee may need assistance and
advice.
Employees can choose counselling sessions from the government panel of providers, and can access up to
three visits for any particular matter. The Employee Assistance Program also provides support to managers
and employees on specific workplace issues.
A total of 77 employees or family members accessed the program with over 145 sessions attended in
2018–19. This represented an increase from 2017–18 where 63 employees or family members accessed
97 sessions.
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Reporting against Employment Instructions
The NT Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993 (the Act) requires performance to be reported
against each Employment Instruction.
Employment instruction

Agency actions

1. Filling vacancies

The agency maintained streamlined recruitment processes
and continued to mandate the Special Measures Plan,
providing for priority consideration of Aboriginal and
Torres Strait Islander applicants.

Agency must develop a procedure for
filling vacancies consistent with the Act, its
subordinate legislation and any relevant
award or enterprise agreement.

Simplified Recruitment Training numbers:
•

20 employees attended face-to-face training

Agency recruitment actions:
•
•
•
•
•
2. Probation
Agency must develop a probation
procedure consistent with the Act, its
subordinate legislation and any relevant
award or enterprise agreement.

3. Natural justice
The principles of natural justice are
observed in all dealings with employees
and are reflected in relevant policies and
procedures.
4. Employee performance and
development systems
Agency must develop and implement a
performance development system
consistent with the Act, its subordinate
legislation and any relevant award or
enterprise agreement. Department to
report annually to OCPE on management,
training and employee development
programs.

68 vacancies advertised (32 Ongoing and 36 Fixed
Period)
42 new commencements to the NTG
40 transfers in from other public employers
45 separations (resignations)
38 transfers out (to other public employers)

Probation guidelines and procedures are available on the
intranet and managed through People and Capability.
Agency probation statistics:
•
•
•

34 Probation Confirmations
7 Probation Auto-Extensions
0 Probation Terminations

Information on the application of natural justice is provided
through induction, information on the department intranet
site, information sessions and through specific case
management. Natural justice is applied to all appropriate
processes.
Department employee myPerformance discussions and
plans are completed and submitted to People and
Capability annually. The myPerformance is based on
individual performance and development and establishes a
link between individual performance, position
responsibilities, department culture and values and
strategic objectives. The process allows for future planning
activities and training to meet the needs of the individual
and the work unit.
myPerformance had a 70% completion rate of
performance development plans.
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Employment instruction

Agency actions

5. Medical examinations

Medical examinations may be arranged for a number of
reasons under the Act or relevant enterprise agreement.
These referrals are managed by People and Capability in
relation to case management matters and are highly
confidential.

Agency may engage a health practitioner in
accordance with the Act and Employment
Instruction Number 3.

The department has internal operating procedures for
medical referrals and all referrals are provided in writing to
the employee.
There were no referrals for an independent medical
examination in 2018–19.
6. Performance and inability
Agency to provide OCPE with information
relating to performance and inability.

The agency supports employees through the performance
framework, which includes regular performance feedback
and development. Information on the performance
framework is available on the intranet.
Formal performance and inability is managed through
People and Capability in relation to case management
matters and are highly confidential.
There were no formal performance and inability processes
instigated under Part 7 of the PSEMA during 2018–19.

7. Discipline
Agency may develop discipline policy
consistent with the Act, its subordinate
legislation and any relevant award or
enterprise agreement, and to provide
OCPE with information relating to
disciplinary processes.

Agency information on managing employee performance is
available on the staff intranet. Supporting information in
relation to staff conduct, delivery of services and use of
government resources is delivered through the induction
program.
Disciplinary matters are resolved through appropriate
management actions with the support of People and
Capability and in accordance with department procedures
and OCPE instructions.
There were no formal discipline processes undertaken
during 2018–19.

8. Internal department complaints and
Section 59 grievance reviews
Agency will develop an internal employee
grievance handling policy and procedure
consistent with the Act, its subordinate
legislation and any relevant award or
enterprise agreement.

9. Employment records
Agency must comply with the
requirements of the Information Act 2002
(NT) regarding correction, collection and
handling of personal information contained
in an employee’s employment record.

The department’s Resolution of Grievances Policy and
related procedures are available to staff and managers.
Employees and managers are encouraged to resolve
complaints informally through the internal process under
an early intervention model. This process has led to issues
being addressed and resolved internally with two formal
complaints lodged during 2018–19.
Formal complaint processes under the Act are managed by
People and Capability in relation to case management
matters and are highly confidential.
In conjunction with the Information Management Unit,
People and Capability maintains an approved file plan and
ensures that any information detailed under Employment
Instruction number 9 is placed on an employee’s personnel
file.
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Employment instruction

Agency actions

10. Equality of employment opportunity
programs

The department has developed a People Strategy which
includes an Aboriginal Employment and Career
Development and Disability Plan.

Agency must develop an Equality of
Employment Opportunity Program
consistent with the Act, its subordinate
legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992
and any relevant award or enterprise
agreement. Department to report annually
to OCPE on programs and initiatives.

11. Occupational health and safety
standard programs
Agency must ensure the application of
appropriate occupational health and safety
standards and programs.

The NTPS Special Measures plan remains mandatory
across the department to provide priority consideration to
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander applicants.
The department actively supported workshops which focus
on equality of employment through promotion of the
OCPE Disability Confidence and Challenging Unconscious
Bias programs.
The department has a WHS Policy and Framework that is
monitored through a WHS Management Committee
comprising representatives from a range of workplace
locations. WHS committees are established to assist the
department meet its safety obligations towards staff and
promote WHS awareness in the workplace. Information is
available on the intranet.
In 2018–19, there were seven incidents registered,
compared with 15 in 2017–18.

12. Code of conduct
The Code of Conduct stipulates the basic
level of conduct expected of public sector
officers as defined in the Act.

The department provides information on the Code of
Conduct through induction/orientation processes, online
through the myLearning site, and through a range of
information sessions and case management matters.
The Code of Conduct is also promoted through sound
management practices.
Breaches of the Code of Conduct are addressed
immediately and appropriately.

13. Appropriate workplace behaviour
Agency must develop and implement a
policy and procedure to foster appropriate
workplace behaviour and a culture of
respect, and to deal effectively with
inappropriate workplace behaviour and
bullying.
14. Redeployment and redundancy
procedures
Agency must ensure redeployment
processes are consistent with the Act, its
subordinate legislation and any relevant
award or enterprise agreement, and that
redeployees are provided with an
appropriate level of assistance and case
management.

Information concerning appropriate workplace behaviours
is delivered through the staff induction process. Behaviours
are reinforced through modelling responsible leadership
behaviours aligned to values.
Inappropriate workplace behaviours are addressed
immediately in collaboration with People and Capability,
management and the employee/s.
The department actively manages redeployee and
unattached employees to find new ongoing positions.
Where required, additional support is provided through
development activities. Similarly, where the department
employs a former redeployee, performance development is
provided in the new role.
In 2018–19 the department had no redeployees.
There were two voluntary redundancies in line with
legislative compliance due to departmental restructures.
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Employment instruction

Agency actions

15. Special measures

The department has two special measures plans in place.

Agency must ensure the application of
appropriate Special Measures Plans
consistent with the Act, its subordinate
legislation, the Anti-Discrimination Act 1992
and any relevant award or enterprise
agreement.

Disability Employment
One employee is employed under the NTPS Disability
Employment Program and is supported in the workplace
through individual disability support plans.
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people
(“Aboriginal people”) Special Measures Plan
The department’s Aboriginal employment target for
2018–19 was 13.3%. At 30 June 2019, the department
had 29 employees (11.3%) identifying as Aboriginal
employees.
Special Measures Statistics:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

68 vacancies advertised under special measures
52 special measures applications received
8 found successful
2 found suitable but unsuccessful
37 found unsuitable
5 still pending recruitment
0 vacancies advertised with an approved exemption for
special measures from the Commissioner for Public
Employment.

There were 1219 applications received during 2018–19,
of which 4% were from special measures applicants.
The department is currently reviewing its strategies to
increase the number of Aboriginal employees.
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5. Financial Report
Financial Statements Overview
For the year ended 30 June 2019
This overview provides a summary of the department’s financial performance for 2018–19. A more
comprehensive view of the department’s financial performance for the year is provided in the
‘Financial Statements’ section of this chapter.

173 295
($'000)
Total
Income

181 133
($'000)
Total
Expenses
7 838
($'000)
Net
Deficit

Financial
Statements
Overview
5 754
($'000)
Total
Liabilities

45 123
($'000)
Total
Assets
39 369
($'000)
Net
Assets
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Main Results
The department recorded a deficit of $7.8 million for the year, compared to the original budgeted deficit of
$5.5 million and the revised budgeted deficit of $10.6 million. This improved outcome from the revised
budgeted deficit was largely due to additional funding received under the National Partnership Agreement
– Skilling Australians Fund, and the timing of payments for economic stimulus grants including
Home Renovation Grants, Smart Energy Grants and Alcohol Secure Grants. Unspent funds of these
programs are to be carried forward to future years to meet outstanding commitments.
Additionally, the deficit has resulted from the expenditure timing for facilitated investment projects, which
are funded on a project by project basis. Due to the nature and complexity of these projects, it is difficult to
predict exact timing of expenditure.
After adjusting for non-cash items, the operating result is a deficit of $6.2 million.
Income was $173.3 million or $1.2 million higher than the original budget, mainly as a result of the
additional Commonwealth appropriation for Skilling Australians Fund and other income from funding
recoveries resulting from under delivery of prior year training programs.
Expenses were $181.1 million or $3.5 million higher than the original budget mainly due to an increase of
$4.1 million in current grants following additional funding approved for the Home Renovation Scheme,
offset by an underspend in operational expenditure for a number of strategic infrastructure projects which
will be carried forward to future years.
The department’s net assets were $39.4 million at year end or $4.8 million higher than the prior financial
year as a result of the higher cash balance at year end.
More detailed analysis on department’s performance against the original budget is provided at Note 24 to
the financial statements
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Income
The department recorded total income of $173.3 million in 2018–19 as follows:
•

Output Appropriation: $148.6 million (85.7%) of total income. This principal source of revenue
provided by the NT Government was used to fund Business and Industry Development and
Support (41.2%), Employment and Skilling (54.8%), and Corporate and Governance (4.0%)

•

Commonwealth Appropriation: $17.8 million (10.3%) funding received from the Australian
Government comprising:
 $14.9 million under the National Agreement for Skills and Workforce Development
 $2.9 million under the new National Partnership Agreement - Skilling Australians Fund

•

Goods and Services Received Free of Charge: $4.8 million (2.7%) is notional revenue for office
accommodation, information technology, and payroll services provided by the Department of
Corporate and Information Services (DCIS) and is offset by notional expense to the same value

•

Other Revenue (including Sales of Goods and Service, Interest Revenue and Grants and Subsidies
Revenue): $2.1 million (1.2%) of other revenue includes sale of goods and services of $0.5 million from
sponsorships, event ticket sales and provision of procurement services; $1.6 million of
co-contributions from other agencies to fund grants to support business, and refunds of funding
provided in prior years due to under delivery of demand driven training programs.

Income by Source ($'000)
180,000
175,000
170,000

413

876

4,505

4,728

2,128
4,765

165,000
160,000

15,281

Other revenue
18,279

17,849

155,000

Commonwealth appropriation

150,000
145,000

Output appropriation
151,864

140,000
135,000

Goods and Services FOC

Original Budget
172,063

148,553

148,553

Revised Budget
172,436

Actual
173,295
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Expenses
The department incurred expenses of $181.1 million in 2018–19 as follows:
•

Grants and Subsidies: $125.7 million (69.4%) remain as the department’s largest expense component,
reflecting government commitments to delivering targeted grant programs to support economic,
business and workforce development

•

Employee Expenses: $32.7 million (18.1%) of employee costs associated with staffing including salary,
payroll tax and fringe benefits tax

•

Purchases of Goods and Services: $17.9 million (9.9%) reflecting operational costs associated with
delivery of the department’s core activities, including facilitation of strategic infrastructure projects and
economic and industry development, and provision of business and procurement services and advice

•

Other Administrative Expenses: $4.8 million (2.7%) including costs for repairs and maintenance for
offices and facilities at Darwin and regional locations, non-cash depreciation and amortisation charged
on the department’s fixed assets and notional DCIS services charges.

Expenses by category ($'000)
200,000
180,000

4,505

160,000

22,005

140,000

31,427

4,728

4,816

24,480

17,913
32,705

32,556

120,000
Other administrative expenses
100,000

Purchases of goods and services
Employee expenses

80,000

Grants and subsidies

60,000
40,000
20,000
-

119,662

121,308

125,699

Original Budget
177,599

Revised Budget
183,072

Actual
181,133
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Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet provides a summary of the department’s balances at the end of the financial year for
assets, liabilities and equity.

Assets
The department held $45.1 million worth of assets as at 30 June 2019 and $4.2 million more than the prior
year. The increase in assets resulted from a higher cash balance. The department held cash and deposits
worth $24.805 million (54.9%) at the balance date. The majority of this is funds committed to the
economic stimulus programs, the Student Entitlement Program, and strategic infrastructure projects.

Liabilities
The department’s liabilities as at 30 June 2019 were $5.8 million. The main components were payables
(amounts owing to suppliers) 18.6%, current provisions (mainly employee) 73.6%, and unearned revenue
7.8%.

Equity
Equity reflects the department’s net assets or net worth which totalled $39.4 million as at 30 June 2019.
This represents an increase of $4.8 million compared to 30 June 2018.

Cash Flow Statement
The cash flow statement provides information on how cash was received and spent during the year.
It differs from the operating statement as the operating statement includes non-cash items.
The cash flows are summarised as follows:
2018–19
$'000
Net Cash from/(used in) Operating Activities

(7 568)

Net Cash from/(used in) Investing Activities

(64)

Net Cash from/(used in) Financing Activities

12 000

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash Held

4 368

Cash at Beginning of Financial Year

20 437

Cash at End of Financial Year

24 805
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Comprehensive Operating Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2019
NOTE

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

555

3 192

148 553
17 849
511
2
4 765
1 060
173 295

174 917
17 809
766
2
4 477
904

32 705

30 694

16 211
107
1 595

14 568
214
1 349

4 816

4 449

110 317
15 382
181 133

141 772
4 201
197 247

(7 838)

4 820

0

0

(7 838)

4 820

INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge
Other income
TOTAL INCOME

4
5
3

EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services
Repairs and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses

6
13,14
7

Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES

3

NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

202 067

The Comprehensive Operating Statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet
As at 30 June 2019
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

9
11
12

24 805
2 494
0
446
27 745

20 437
1 479
0
792
22 708

12
13
14

0
17 371

0
18 263

Total non-current assets

7
17 378

8
18 271

TOTAL ASSETS

45 123

40 979

0
1 073
4 235
446
5 754

0
1 816
4 348
248
6 412

5 754

6 412

39 369

34 567

49 033
(9 664)
39 369

36 393
(1 826)
34 567

Note
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Advances and investments
Prepayments
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Advances and investments
Property, plant and equipment
Heritage and cultural assets

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Deposits held
Payables
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

15
16
17

TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
EQUITY
Capital
Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY
The Balance Sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2019

2018-19
Accumulated funds
Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Equity transfers in
Other equity injections
Equity withdrawals
Capital withdrawal
Equity transfers out
Total equity at end of financial year

NOTE

Comprehensive
result
$'000

Transactions
with owners in
their capacity as
owners
$'000

Equity
at
30 June
$'000

(1 826)
(1 826)

(7 838)
(7 838)

0
0

(9 664)
(9 664)

1 964
46 727
18 012

0
0
0

0
720
12 000

1 964
47 447
30 012

(15 210)
(15 100)
36 393

0
0
0

0
( 80)
12 640

(15 210)
(15 180)
49 033

34 567

(7 838)

12 640

39 369

(6 646)
(6 646)

4 820
4 820

0
0

(1 826)
(1 826)

1 964
46 241
18 012

0
0
0

0
486
0

1 964
46 727
18 012

(15 210)
(15 100)
35 907

0
0
0

0
0
486

(15 210)
(15 100)
36 393

29 261

4 820

486

34 567

Equity
at
1 July
$'000

2017-18
Accumulated funds
Capital – transactions with owners
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Equity transfers in
Other equity injections
Equity withdrawals
Capital withdrawal
Equity transfers out
Total equity at end of financial year

The Statement of Changes in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 30 June 2019
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

555

3 192

148 553
17 849
8 072
2
175 031

174 917
17 809
10 994
2
206 914

(32 817)
(24 083)

(30 363)
(22 867)

(110 317)
(15 382)
(182 599)

(141 772)
(4 201)
(199 203)

(7 568)

7 711

1
1

3
3

(63)
(2)
( 65)

(16)
(2)
( 18)

( 64)

( 15)

0

0

0
12 000
12 000

0
0
0

10

12 000

0

9

4 368
20 437
24 805

7 696
12 741
20 437

NOTE
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services
Interest received
Total operating receipts
Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid
Current
Capital
Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

10

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Repayment of advances
Total investing receipts
Investing payments
Purchases of assets
Advances and investing payments
Total investing payments
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities

10

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Financing receipts
Deposits received
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Other equity injections
Total financing receipts
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities
Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

The cash flow statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

Index of notes to the financial statements
Note
1.

Objectives and funding

2.

Statement of significant accounting policies

3.

Comprehensive operating statement by output group
INCOME

4.

Goods and services received free of charge

5.

Other income
EXPENSES

6.

Purchases of goods and services

7.

Other administrative expenses

8.

Write-offs, postponements, waivers, gifts and ex gratia Payments
ASSETS

9.

Cash and deposits

10.

Cash flow reconciliation

11.

Receivables

12.

Advances and investments

13.

Property, plant and equipment

14.

Heritage and cultural assets
LIABILITIES

15.

Payables

16.

Provisions

17.

Other liabilities

18.

Commitments
OTHER DISCLOSURES

19.

Fair value measurement

20.

Financial instruments

21.

Related parties

22.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

23.

Events subsequent to balance date

24.

Budgetary information
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

1.

OBJECTIVES AND FUNDING
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is the Northern Territory (NT) Public Sector’s
coordinating agency for economic development.
The department aims to make the NT a strong, vibrant economy for all Territorians and drive
opportunities to grow private investment and create jobs.
Additional information in relation to the department and its principal activities can be found in the
body of the Annual Report.
The department is predominantly funded and therefore dependent, on the receipt of
Parliamentary appropriations. The financial statements encompass all funds through which the
agency controls resources to carry on its functions and deliver outputs. For reporting purposes,
outputs delivered by the department are summarised into three output groups as follows:
• Business and Industry Development and Support
• Employment and Skilling
• Corporate and Governance
Note 3 provides summary financial information in the form of a comprehensive operating
statement by output group.

2.

STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Financial Management Act 1995 and related Treasurer’s Directions. The Financial Management Act
1995 requires the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation to prepare financial statements
for the year ended 30 June based on the form determined by the Treasurer. The form of the
agency financial statements should include:
(i)

a certification of the financial statements

(ii) a comprehensive operating statement
(iii) a balance sheet
(iv) a statement of changes in equity
(v) a cash flow statement and
(vi) applicable explanatory notes to the financial statements.
b) Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, which
recognises the effect of financial transactions and events when they occur, rather than when cash
is paid out or received. As part of the preparation of the financial statements, all intra-agency
transactions and balances have been eliminated.
Except where stated, the financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with the
historical cost convention.
The form of the agency financial statements is also consistent with the requirements of Australian
Accounting Standards. The effects of all relevant new and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are effective for the current
annual reporting period have been evaluated.
Standards and interpretations effective from 2018-19
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
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The agency applied AASB 9 for the first time in 2018-19. AASB 9 Financial Instruments replaces
AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2018. The agency has not restated the comparative information, which
continues to be reported under AASB 139. Where applicable, differences arising from the
adoption of AASB 9 have been recognised directly in accumulated funds and other components
of equity. The nature and effect of the changes as a result of adoption of this new accounting
standard are described below.
Classification and measurement
Financial instruments have been reclassified into one of three measurement bases – amortised
cost, fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL). The classification of these instruments is based on the agency’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows.
The classification and measurement requirements of AASB 9 did not have a significant impact to
the agency. The following are the changes in the classification of the financial assets:
The agency’s debt instruments are comprised of receivables and these assets were classified as
Loans and Receivables as at 30 June 2018 under AASB 139 and were measured at amortised
cost. As these assets are held to collect contractual cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest, they continue to be measured at amortised cost from 1 July 2018.
The agency has not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through profit or loss.
There are no changes in classification and measurement for the agency’s financial liabilities.
In summary, upon the adoption of AASB 9, the agency had the following reclassifications as at
1 July 2018:

$000

AASB 9 categories
Balances at 1 July 2018
Fair value through
profit or loss
Amortised
Mandatorily Designated
cost
at fair value at fair value
$000
$000
$000

329
0
329

329
0
329

Balances at
30 June
2018
AASB 139 categories
Loans and receivables
Receivables
Advances paid

0

68
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Fair value
through
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$000
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Impairment
The adoption of AASB 9 requires the loss allowance to be measured using a forward-looking
expected credit loss (ECL) approach, replacing AASB 139’s incurred loss approach. AASB 9 also
requires a loss allowance to be recognised for all debt instruments other than those held at fair
value through profit or loss.
There has been no changes to impairment losses following the adoption of AASB 9.
Several other amending standards and AASB interpretations have been issued that apply to the
current reporting periods, but are considered to have no impact on public sector reporting.
Standards and interpretations issued but not yet effective
No Australian accounting standards have been early adopted for 2018-19.
On the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following standards and
interpretations were in issue but are not yet effective and are expected to have an impact on
future reporting periods:
AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
and will be reported for the first time in 2019-20 financial statements. When effective, the
standard will supersede AASB 117 Leases and require the majority of leases to be recognised on
the balance sheet.
For lessees with operating leases, a right-of-use asset will now be included in the balance sheet
together with a lease liability for all leases with a term of 12 months or more, unless the
underlying assets are of low value. The comprehensive operating statement will no longer report
operating lease rental payments. Instead, amortisation expense will be recognised relating to the
right-of-use asset and interest expense relating to the lease liability.
The right-of-use asset will be amortised generally on a straight-line basis while the lease liability
will reduce to reflect lease payments made and increase to reflect the interest on the liability.
Consistent with methodology applied to other long term liabilities, the lease liability is discounted
using the Territory bond rates. As the lease term progresses, the carrying amount of the asset
(cost less accumulated amortisation) is likely to reduce more quickly than the liability, resulting in a
lower net asset in the earlier stages of the lease arrangement.
The modified retrospective approach has been elected to transition to the new lease standard.
This approach does not require restatement of comparative years and the cumulative impact is
accounted for as an equal adjustment to the right-of-use asset and lease liabilities, thus, having no
impact in agency’s net assets at initial adoption.
The agency does not expect any amount to be recognised in the balance sheet as a lease liability
and corresponding right to use asset from 2019-20.
For lessors, the finance and operating lease distinction remains largely unchanged.

69

Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Annual Report 2018–19

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers
AASB 1058 Income for Not-for-Profit Entities and AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers are effective for not-for-profit entities for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019 and will be reported for the first time in 2019-20 financial statements.
AASB 1058 clarifies and simplifies income-recognition requirements that apply to not-for-profit
entities in conjunction with AASB 15.
Under AASB 15, revenue from agreements which are enforceable, have sufficiently specific
performance obligations and transfer goods or services to the customer or third party beneficiary
will be recognised when or as performance obligations are satisfied, and not immediately upon
receipt as currently occurs. Consequently, more liabilities will be recognised in the balance sheet
after adoption of this standard.
Where a transaction does not meet the criteria above or is classified as a donation transaction,
revenue will be accounted for in accordance with AASB 1058.
Impacts identified include:
•

grants received to construct or acquire a non-financial asset will be recognised as a
liability, and subsequently recognised as revenue as the performance obligations under
the grant are satisfied. At present, such grants are recognised as revenue on receipt

•

grants with an enforceable agreement and sufficiently specific performance obligations
will be recognised as revenue progressively as the associated performance obligations are
satisfied. At present, such grants are recognised as revenue on receipt

•

grants that have an enforceable agreement but no specific performance obligations but
have restrictions on the timing of expenditure will also continue to be recognised on
receipt as time restriction on the use of funds is not sufficiently specific to create a
performance obligation

•

grants that are not enforceable and or not sufficiently specific will not qualify for deferral,
and will continue to be recognised as revenue on receipt

The modified retrospective approach has been elected to transition to the new revenue
standards. This approach does not require restatement of comparative year with the cumulative
impact adjusted to the opening accumulated funds.
The agency does not anticipate an increase in its liability (unearned revenue) due to this standard,
following assessment of its revenue.
c) Reporting entity
The financial statements cover the Department as an individual reporting entity.
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation (“the Department”) is a Northern Territory
department established under the Interpretation Act 1978 and Administrative Arrangements
Order.
The principal place of business of the Department is: 19 Smith Street, Darwin Northern Territory
0800.
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d) Agency and Territory items
The financial statements of the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation include income,
expenses, assets, liabilities and equity over which the Department has control (Agency items).
Certain items, while managed by the agency, are controlled and recorded by the Territory rather
than the agency (Territory items). Territory items are recognised and recorded in the Central
Holding Authority as discussed below.
Central Holding Authority
The Central Holding Authority is the ‘parent body’ that represents the Government’s ownership
interest in Government-controlled entities.
The Central Holding Authority also records all Territory items, such as income, expenses, assets
and liabilities controlled by the Government and managed by agencies on behalf of the
Government. The main Territory item is Territory income, which includes taxation and royalty
revenue, Commonwealth general purpose funding (such as GST revenue), fines, and statutory
fees and charges.
The Central Holding Authority also holds certain Territory assets not assigned to agencies as well
as certain Territory liabilities that are not practical or effective to assign to individual agencies
such as unfunded superannuation and long service leave.
The Central Holding Authority recognises and records all Territory items, and as such, these items
are not included in the agency’s financial statements.
The Department does not administer or manage any Territory items on behalf of the Territory
Government.
e) Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative information for the 2017-18 financial year has been reclassified to
provide consistency with current year disclosures.
f) Presentation and rounding of amounts
Amounts in the financial statements and notes to the financial statements are presented in
Australian dollars and have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, with amounts of $500
or less being rounded down to zero. Figures in the financial statements and notes may not equate
due to rounding.
g) Changes in accounting policies
There have been no changes to accounting policies adopted in 2018-19 as a result of
management decisions.
h) Accounting judgments and estimates
The preparation of the financial report requires the making of judgments and estimates that affect
the recognised amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
Judgments and estimates that have significant effects on the financial statements are disclosed in
the relevant notes to the financial statements.
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i) Goods and services tax
Income, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST),
except where the amount of GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable
from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the
Balance Sheet.
Cash flows are included in the Cash Flow Statement on a gross basis. The GST components of
cash flows arising from investing and financing activities, which are recoverable from, or payable
to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed
net of the amount of GST recoverable or payable unless otherwise specified.
j) Contributions by and distributions to government
The agency may receive contributions from Government where the Government is acting as
owner of the agency. Conversely, the agency may make distributions to Government.
In accordance with the Financial Management Act 1995 and Treasurer’s Directions, certain types
of contributions and distributions, including those relating to administrative restructures, have
been designated as contributions by, and distributions to, Government. These designated
contributions and distributions are treated by the agency as adjustments to equity.
The statement of changes in equity provides additional information in relation to contributions by,
and distributions to, Government.
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3.

COMPREHENSIVE OPERATING STATEMENT BY OUTPUT GROUP
Business and
Industry
Development and
Support

2019

Total

2019

2018

2019

2018

$'000
$'000
$'000
$'000
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
555
1 242
0
1 950
Appropriation
Output
61 193
89 213
81 415
79 916
Commonwealth
0
0
17 849
17 809
Sales of goods and services
387
654
125
112
Interest revenue
2
2
0
0
Goods and services received free of charge
4
1 829
2 105
2 776
2 242
Other income
5
118
95
941
805
TOTAL INCOME
64 084
93 311
103 105
102 834
EXPENSES
Employee expenses
20 845
20 740
6 932
5 089
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services
6
13 517
11 434
1 873
2 267
Repairs and maintenance
68
188
36
25
Depreciation and amortisation
13,14
612
879
929
459
Other administrative expenses
7
1 830
2 103
2 826
2 216
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
25 254
56 478
85 037
85 294
Capital
12 000
123
3 382
4 075
TOTAL EXPENSES
74 127
91 945
101 015
99 425
NET SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)
(10 043)
1 366
2 090
3 409
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
0
0
0
0
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT
(10 043)
1 366
2 090
3 409
This Comprehensive Operating Statement by output group is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements.

$'000

$'000

$'000

$'000

0

0

555

3 192

5 944
0
0
0
160
1
6 105

5 788
0
0
0
130
4
5 922

148 553
17 849
511
2
4 765
1 060
173 295

174 917
17 809
766
2
4 477
904
202 067

4 928

4 865

32 705

30 694

821
2
54
160

867
1
11
130

16 211
107
1 595
4 816

14 568
214
1 349
4 449

26
0
5 991
114
0
114

0
3
5 877
45
0
45

110 317
15 382
181 133
(7 838)
0
(7838)

141 772
4 201
197 247
4 820
0
4 820
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Income
Income encompasses both revenue and gains.
Income is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, exclusive of the amount of GST.
Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration being
exchanged are not recognised as income.
Grants and other contributions
Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue when the
agency obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions. Control is normally obtained upon
receipt.
Contributions are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services are only recognised when a
fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.
Appropriation
Output appropriation is the operating payment to each agency for the outputs they provide and is
calculated as the net cost of agency outputs after taking into account funding from agency income.
It does not include any allowance for major non-cash costs such as depreciation.
Commonwealth appropriation follows from the intergovernmental agreement on federal financial
relations, resulting in specific purpose payments (SPPs) and national partnership (NP) payments being
made by the Commonwealth Treasury to state treasuries, in a manner similar to arrangements for GST
payments. These payments are received by the Department of Treasury and Finance on behalf of the
Central Holding Authority and then passed on to the relevant agencies as Commonwealth
appropriation.
Revenue in respect of appropriations is recognised in the period in which the agency gains control of
the funds.
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised (net of returns, discounts and allowances) when:
• the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have transferred to the buyer
• the agency retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold
• the amount of revenue can be reliably measured
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the agency
and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
Rendering of services
Revenue from rendering services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract.
The revenue is recognised when:
• the amount of revenue, stage of completion and transaction costs incurred can be reliably
measured and
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
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4.

GOODS AND SERVICES RECEIVED FREE OF CHARGE

Department of Corporate and Information Services SLA Notional Revenue
Total Goods and Services Received Free of Charge

2019
$'000
4 765
4 765

2018
$'000
4 477
4 477

Goods and services received free of charge are recognised as revenue when a fair value can be reliably
determined and the resource would have been purchased if it had not been donated. Use of the
resource is recognised as an expense.
The Department of Corporate and Information Services provide free of charge shared corporate
services to the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation, such as financial systems, property
leasing, and asset services.
5.

OTHER INCOME

Recoveries of Prior Year Vocational Education and Training Funding
Miscellaneous Income
Total Other Income
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2019
$'000
922
139
1 061

2018
$'000
735
169
904
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6.

PURCHASES OF GOODS AND SERVICES

The net surplus/(deficit) has been arrived at after charging the following expenses:
Goods and services expenses:
Consultants (1)
Advertising (2)
Marketing and promotion (3)
Document production
Legal expenses (4)
Recruitment (5)
Training and study
Official duty fares
Travelling allowance
Accommodation
Agent service arrangements (6)
Audit fees
Client travel
Communications
Equipment expenses (7)
Information technology charges (8)
Membership and subscription
Motor vehicle expenses
Office requisites & stationery
Property management
Public exhibitions and events
Workers compensation insurance premiums
Other expenses
Total Goods and services expenses
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)
(8)

2019
$'000

2018
$'000

6 388
7
1 566
55
713
61
236
428
116
242
790
73
110
311
154
1 912
224
361
50
348
689
140
1 237
16 211

5 090
6
2 035
85
407
85
294
501
157
324
282
162
287
319
160
1 897
265
389
73
317
26
140
1 267
14 568

Includes marketing, promotion and IT consultants.
Does not include recruitment, advertising or marketing and promotion advertising.
Includes advertising for marketing and promotion but excludes marketing and promotion consultants’
expenses, which are incorporated in the consultants’ category.
Includes legal fees, claim and settlement costs.
Includes recruitment-related advertising costs.
Includes service arrangements with Commonwealth Government agencies, and $500,000 contribution to the
Department of the Chief Minister for the Future of Jabiru program.
Includes multi-function devices charges and other equipment costs.
Includes general IT technology charges and IT hardware and software expenses, but does not include
IT consultants, which are incorporated in the consultants' category.

Repairs and Maintenance Expense
Funding is received for repairs and maintenance works associated with agency assets as part of output
appropriation. Costs associated with repairs and maintenance works on agency assets are expensed as
incurred.
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7.

OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
2019
$'000

2018
$'000

4 765

4 477

Asset Revaluation Decrement

0

0

Asset Written Off

0

4

51

( 32)

4 816

4 449

Department of Corporate and Information Services SLA Notional Charges

Bad and Doubtful Debts

(1)

Total Other Administrative Expenses
(1) Includes allowance for impairment loss on Accounts Receivable and Advances
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8.

WRITE-OFFS, POSTPONEMENTS, WAIVERS, GIFTS AND EX GRATIA PAYMENTS
Agency
2019

Agency

Territory
items
2018 No. of
Trans
$000

No. of
Trans

2018

1

1

2

2

0

0

0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
4
0

0
1
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

1

1

6

3

0

0

0

0

90

3

247

1

0

0

0

0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
0
0

90

3

247

1

0

0

0

0

Write-offs, postponements and waivers
authorised under other legislation

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Gifts under the Financial Management Act 1995

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Gifts authorised under other legislation

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Ex gratia payments under the
Financial Management Act 1995

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

$000

Write-offs, postponements and waivers under
the Financial Management Act 1995
Represented by:
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by
Delegates
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory
or an agency written off
Losses or deficiencies of money written off
Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or
recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and waived by
delegates
Amounts written off, postponed and waived by the
Treasurer
Irrecoverable amounts payable to the Territory
or an agency written off
Losses or deficiencies of money written off
Public property written off
Waiver or postponement of right to receive or
recover money or property
Total written off, postponed and waived by the
Treasurer
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Territory
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9.

CASH AND DEPOSITS
2019
$'000
4
24 801
24 805

Cash on hand
Cash at bank
Total Cash and Deposits

2018
$'000
4
20 433
20 437

For the purposes of the Balance Sheet and the Cash Flow Statement, cash includes cash on hand,
and cash at bank.
10.

CASH FLOW RECONCILIATION

Reconciliation of cash
The total of agency 'Cash and deposits' of $24.801 million recorded in the Balance Sheet is consistent with that
recorded as ‘Cash’ in the cash flow statement.
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

(7 838)

4 820

Depreciation and amortisation

1 595

1 349

Asset write-offs/write-downs

0

4

( 42)

( 1)

43

0

(1 016)

460

Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit) to net cash from
operating activities
Net surplus/(deficit)
Non-cash items:

Doubtful debts expense- other
Advances written off
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/increase in receivables
Decrease/increase in prepayments

347

Decrease/increase in payables

( 742)

Decrease/increase in provision for employee benefits

( 103)

4
664
293

Decrease/increase in other provisions

( 10)

Decrease/increase in other liabilities

198

112

(7 568)

7 711

Net cash from operating activities

79
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11.

RECEIVABLES

Current
Accounts receivable
Less: Loss allowance

GST receivables
Other receivables
Total receivables

2019

2018

$'000

$'000

122

180

( 41)

( 39)

81

141

2 321

1 150

92

188

2 494

1 479

Receivables include accounts and other receivables and are recognised at fair value less any loss
allowance.
Accounts receivable are generally settled within 30 days and other receivables within 30 days.
The loss allowance reflects lifetime expected credit losses and represents the amount of receivables the
agency estimates are likely to be uncollectible and are considered doubtful.
Credit risk exposure of receivables
Receivables are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The entity applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit losses for all accounts receivables.
To measure expected credit losses, receivables have been grouped based on shared risk characteristics
and days past due.
The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates, adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information, including macroeconomic factors on Consumer Price Index.
In accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 1995, receivables are written-off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery includes a failure to make contractual payments for a period greater than 90 days past due.
Credit risk for the comparative year is assessed under AASB 139 and is based on objective evidence of
impairment.
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11.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The loss allowance for receivables as at the reporting date is disclosed below.
2019

Internal receivables
Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days
Overdue for more than 60 days
Total internal receivables

Gross
receivables

Loss rate

$000
116
0
0
0

%
0%
0%
0%
0%

2018
Expected
credit
losses
$000
0
0
0
0

116

Net
receivables

Aging of
receivables

Impairment
allowance

Net
receivables

$000
116
0
0
0

$000
182
1
0
0

$000
0
0
0
0

$000
182
1
0
0

0

116

183

0

183

0
0
0
(43)

54
1
-

73
26
0
85

0
0
0
(39)

73
26
0
46

(43)

55

184

(39)

145

External receivables

Overdue for more than 60 days

54
1
43

Total external receivables

98

Not overdue
Overdue for less than 30 days
Overdue for 30 to 60 days

0%
0%
0%
100%

Total amounts disclosed exclude statutory amounts.
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11.

RECEIVABLES (continued)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for receivables

2019
2019
$'000

2018
2018
$'000

Opening balance
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted opening balance
Written off during the year
Recovered during the year
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss

0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0

Total internal receivables

0

0

Opening balance
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted opening balance
Written off during the year
Recovered during the year
Increase/(decrease) in allowance recognised in profit or loss

( 39)
0
(39)
13
0
(15)

(319)
0
(319)
249
0
31

Total external receivables

(41)

(39)

Internal receivables

External receivables

1.

Prepayments

2.

Prepayments represent payments in advance of receipt of goods and services or that part of
expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that period.
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12.

ADVANCES
2019

2018

$'000

$'000

0
0
0

2
( 2)
0

0
0

0
0

0
0
0

39
( 39)
0

Equity accounted investments
Investments in shares

0
0
0

0
0
0

Total advances and investments

0

0

Current
Advances paid
Less: Loss allowance

Investments in shares
Non-current
Advances paid
Less: Loss allowance

a)

Advances paid

Advances paid are recognised initially at fair value plus or minus relevant transaction costs and are recognised in
the balance sheet when the agency becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.
Where the advances are provided with interest free periods or at concessional interest rates, they are considered
to have a fair value which is less than the amount lent. This fair value is calculated in accordance with Note 20.
The difference between the amount lent and the fair value is recognised as an expense in the comprehensive
income statement.
Subsequently, advances paid are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Loss allowances on advances paid reflect either 12-month or lifetime expected credit losses depending on changes
in credit risk and represents the amount of advances paid the agency estimates are likely to be uncollectible and
are considered doubtful.
Credit risk exposure of advances paid
Advances paid are monitored on an ongoing basis to ensure that exposure to bad debts is not significant.
The agency applies the AASB 9 general approach to measuring expected credit losses. This approach recognises a
loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses if there has been no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and lifetime expected credit losses if there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
Credit risk for the comparative year is assessed under AASB 139 and is based on objective evidence of impairment.
The loss allowance for advances paid as at the reporting date is disclosed below.
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12.

ADVANCES (continued)

Advances paid - Credit risk exposure of advances paid

Not overdue
Overdue for
less than 30
days
Overdue for
30 to 60 days
Overdue for
more than 60
days
Total
advances paid

Gross
advances
paid
$000
0
0

Loss
rate
%
0%
0%

2019
Expected
credit
losses
$000
0
0

0

0%

0

0%

0

Net
receivables

2018
Impairment
allowance

Net
receivables

$000
0
0

$000
0
0

$000
0
0

Aging of
advances
paid
$000
0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

41

( 41)

0

0

0

41

( 41)

( 41)

Reconciliation of loss allowance for advances paid

Opening balance
Adjustment on adoption of AASB 9
Adjusted opening balance
Written off during the year
Recovered during the year
Increase/decrease in allowance recognised in profit or loss
Total

84

2019
$000

2018
$000

( 41)
0
( 41)
41
0
0
0

( 42)
0
( 42)
0
0
1
( 41)
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation
Less: accumulated impairment losses

Construction (work in progress)
At capitalised cost

Plant and equipment
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation

Computer software
At fair value
Less: accumulated depreciation

Total Property, Plant and Equipment

85

2019
$000

2018
$000

18 244
(3 892)
0
14 352

18 549
(3 676)
( 140)
14 733

0
0

11
11

8 362
(5 609)
2 753

7 689
(4 563)
3 126

638
( 372)
266

638
( 245)
393

17 371

18 263

Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
Annual Report 2018–19

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2019

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

2019 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2018-19 is set out below:
Land

Buildings

Construction
(work in progress)

Plant and
equipment

Computer
Software

Total

$000
0

$000
14 733

$000
11

$000
3 126

$000
393

$000
18 263

Additions

0

0

0

890

0

890

Disposals

0

0

0

( 202)

0

( 202)

Depreciation

0

( 381)

0

(1 087)

( 127)

(1 595)

Additions/disposals from administrative restructuring

0

0

0

0

0

0

Additions/disposals from asset transfers

0

0

( 11)

41

0

30

Revaluation increments/decrements

0

0

0

0

0

0

Impairment losses

0

0

0

( 15)

0

( 15)

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2019

0

14 352

0

2 753

266

17 371

Plant and
equipment
$000
3 480

Computer
Software
$000
521

Total
$000
19 114

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2018

2018 Property, Plant and Equipment Reconciliations
A reconciliation of the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 2017-18 is set out below:

0

Buildings
$000
15 113

Construction
(work in progress)
$000
0

Additions

0

0

11

5

0

16

Disposals

0

0

0

( 4)

0

( 4)

Depreciation

0

( 380)

0

( 841)

( 128)

(1 349)

Additions/disposals from administrative restructuring

0

0

0

0

0

0

Additions/disposals from asset transfers

0

0

0

486

0

486

Revaluation increments/decrements

0

0

0

0

0

0

Impairment losses

0

0

0

0

0

0

Carrying Amount as at 30 June 2018

0

14 733

11

3 126

393

18 263

Carrying Amount as at 1 July 2017

Land
$000
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Acquisitions
All items of property, plant and equipment with a cost, or other value, equal to or greater than $10 000 are
recognised in the year of acquisition and depreciated as outlined below. Items of property, plant and equipment
below the $10 000 threshold are expensed in the year of acquisition.
The construction cost of property, plant and equipment includes the cost of materials and direct labour, and an
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Complex assets
Major items of plant and equipment comprising a number of components that have different useful lives, are
accounted for as separate assets. The components may be replaced during the useful life of the complex asset.
Subsequent additional costs
Costs incurred on property, plant and equipment subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is
probable that future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to
the agency in future years. Where these costs represent separate components of a complex asset, they are
accounted for as separate assets and are separately depreciated over their expected useful lives.
Construction (work in progress)
As part of the financial management framework, the Department of Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics is
responsible for managing general government capital works projects on a whole-of-government basis. Therefore
appropriation for Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is provided directly to the Department of
Infrastructure, Planning and Logistics and the cost of construction work in progress is recognised as an asset of that
department. Once completed, capital works assets are transferred to the agency.
Revaluations and impairment
Revaluation of assets
Subsequent to initial recognition, assets belonging to the following classes of non-current assets are revalued with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of these assets does not differ materially from their fair
value at reporting date:
•

land

•

buildings

•

infrastructure assets

•

heritage and cultural assets

•

biological assets and

•

intangibles.

Plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation, which is deemed to equate to fair value.
The latest revaluations as at 30 June 2017 were independently conducted. The valuer was Territory Property
Consultants (TPC). Refer to Note 19: Fair value measurement for additional disclosures.
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Impairment of assets
An asset is said to be impaired when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Non-current physical and intangible agency assets are assessed for indicators of impairment on an annual basis or
whenever there is indication of impairment. If an indicator of impairment exists, the agency determines the asset’s
recoverable amount. The asset’s recoverable amount is determined as the higher of the asset’s current
replacement cost and fair value less costs to sell. Any amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the
recoverable amount is recorded as an impairment loss.
Impairment losses are recognised in the comprehensive operating statement. They are disclosed as an expense
unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount. Where the asset is measured at a revalued amount, the
impairment loss is offset against the asset revaluation surplus for that class of asset to the extent that an available
balance exists in the asset revaluation surplus.
In certain situations, an impairment loss may subsequently be reversed. Where an impairment loss is subsequently
reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the comprehensive operating statement as income, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment reversal results in an increase in the asset
revaluation surplus.
Agency property, plant and equipment assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2019. No impairment
adjustments were required as a result of this review.
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Items of property, plant and equipment, including buildings but excluding land, have limited useful lives and are
depreciated or amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.
Amortisation applies in relation to intangible non-current assets with limited useful lives and is calculated and
accounted for in a similar manner to depreciation.
The estimated useful lives for each class of asset are in accordance with the Treasurer’s Directions and are
determined as follows:
2019
40- 50 Years
5-10 Years
5 Years
100 Years

Buildings
Plant and equipment
Computer Software
Cultural Asset

2018
40-50 Years
5-10 Years
5 Years
100 Years

Assets are depreciated or amortised from the date of acquisition or from the time an asset is completed and held
ready for use.
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14.

HERITAGE AND CULTURAL ASSETS

Carrying amount
At valuation
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Written down value – 30 June
Reconciliation of movements
Carrying amount at 1 July
Additions
Disposals
Depreciation
Carrying amount as at 30 June

2019
$000

2018
$000

10
( 3)
7

10
( 2)
8

8
0
0
( 1)
7

8
0
0
0
8

Heritage and cultural assets valuation
Refer to Note 19: Fair value measurement for additional disclosures.
Impairment of heritage and cultural assets
Agency heritage and cultural assets were assessed for impairment as at 30 June 2019. No impairment adjustments
were required as a result of this review.
Leased assets
Leases under which the agency assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of an asset, are
classified as finance leases. Other leases are classified as operating leases.
Finance leases
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and lease liability equal to the lower of the fair value of the leased
property and present value of the minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease, are
recognised.
Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease liability and the interest expense.
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation does not have any finance leases.
Operating leases
Operating lease payments made at regular intervals throughout the term are expensed when the payments are
due, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased property. Lease incentives under an operating lease of a building or office space is recognised as an integral
part of the consideration for the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives should be recognised as a deduction of
the lease expenses over the term of the lease.

15.

PAYABLES
2019
$000
56
1 017
1 073

Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Total payables

Liabilities for accounts payable and other amounts payable are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the
consideration to be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the agency.
Accounts payable are normally settled within 30 days.
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16.

PROVISIONS
2019

2018

$000

$000

3 283

3 389

429

417

14

22

238

235

271

285

4 235

4 348

Balance as at 1 July

285

279

Additional provisions recognised

480

480

( 494)

( 474)

271

285

Current
Employee benefits
Recreation leave
Leave loading
Recreation leave fares
Employer superannuation
Other current provisions
Other provisions (1)
Total Provisions
Reconciliations of other provisions (1)

Reductions arising from payments
Balance as at 30 June
(1) Other provisions relate to fringe benefits tax and payroll tax.

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation employed 256.53 full time equivalent employees including
8.58 for NT Build as at 30 June 2019 (253.72 full time equivalent employees including 7.5 for NT Build as at
30 June 2018).
Employee benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to the
reporting date. These benefits include wages and salaries and recreation leave. Liabilities arising in respect of
wages and salaries, recreation leave and other employee benefit liabilities that fall due within twelve months of
reporting date are classified as current liabilities and are measured at amounts expected to be paid. Non-current
employee benefit liabilities that fall due after twelve months of the reporting date are measured at present value,
calculated using the government long-term bond rate.
No provision is made for sick leave, which is non-vesting, as the anticipated pattern of future sick leave to be taken
is less than the entitlement accruing in each reporting period.
Employee benefit expenses are recognised on a net basis in respect of the following categories:
•

wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, recreation leave and other leave entitlements and

•

other types of employee benefits.

As part of the financial management framework, the Central Holding Authority assumes the long service leave
liabilities of government agencies, including the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation and as such no long
service leave liability is recognised in agency financial statements.
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16.

PROVISIONS (continued)

Superannuation
Employees' superannuation entitlements are provided through the:
•

Northern Territory Government and Public Authorities Superannuation Scheme (NTGPASS);

•

Commonwealth Superannuation Scheme (CSS); or

•

non-government employee nominated schemes for those employees commencing on or after 10 August
1999.

The agency makes superannuation contributions on behalf of its employees to the Central Holding Authority or
non-government employee-nominated schemes. Superannuation liabilities related to government superannuation
schemes are held by the Central Holding Authority and as such are not recognised in agency financial statements.

17.

OTHER LIABILITIES
2019

2018

$000

$000

Unearned revenue

446

248

Total other liabilities

446

248

Current
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18.

COMMITMENTS

Disclosures in relation to capital and other commitments, including lease commitments. Commitments are those
contracted as at 30 June where the amount of the future commitment can be reliably measured.
2019

(i) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments primarily related to the
construction of buildings and infrastructure. Capital expenditure
commitments contracted for at balance date but not recognised as
liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total capital expenditure commitments
(ii) Operating lease commitments
The agency leases vehicles under non-cancellable operating leases
expiring from 1 to 5 years. Leases generally provide the agency
with a right of renewal at which time all lease terms are
renegotiated. Future operating lease commitments not recognised
as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total operating lease commitments

(iii) Other expenditure commitments
Other non-cancellable expenditure commitments not recognised
as liabilities are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years
Total other expenditure commitments

92

2018

Internal
$000

External
$000

Internal
$000

External
$000

77
0
0

1 734
9 500
0

77
0
0

1 234
10 000
0

77

11 234

77

11 234

278
391
0

0
0
0

274
187
0

0
0
0

669

0

461

0

0
0
0

6 855
10 180
3 876

0
0
0

7 631
10 351
6 692

0

20 911

0

24 674
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19.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use. The highest and best use takes into account the use of the asset
that is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible.
When measuring fair value, the valuation techniques used maximise the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are used to the extent that sufficient relevant and
reliable observable inputs are not available for similar assets/liabilities.
Observable inputs are publicly available data that are relevant to the characteristics of the assets/liabilities being
valued. Observable inputs used by the agency include, but are not limited to, published sales data for land and
general office buildings.
Unobservable inputs are data, assumptions and judgments that are not available publicly, but are relevant to the
characteristics of the assets/liabilities being valued. Such inputs include internal agency adjustments to observable
data to take account of particular and potentially unique characteristics/functionality of assets/liabilities and
assessments of physical condition and remaining useful life.
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the following fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used:
Level 1 – inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 – inputs are unobservable.
The fair value of financial instruments is determined on the following basis:
•

the fair value of cash, deposits, advances, receivables and payables approximates their carrying amount, which
is also their amortised cost

•

the fair value of derivative financial instruments are derived using current market yields and exchange rates
appropriate to the instrument and

•

the fair value of other monetary financial assets and liabilities is based on discounting to present value the
expected future cash flows by applying current market interest rates for assets and liabilities with similar risk
profiles.
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19.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

The table below presents non-financial assets recognised at fair value in the balance sheet categorised by levels of inputs used to compute fair value.
a) Fair value hierarchy
Level 1
2018-19
$000

2017-18
$000

Level 2
2018-19
$000

Assets
Buildings (Note 13)
0
0
Plant and equipment (Note 13)
0
0
Computer Software (Note 13)
0
0
Heritage and cultural assets (Note 14)
0
0
Total assets
0
0
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Levels 2 or 3 during 2018-19.

2017-18
$000

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

Level 3
2018-19
$000
14 352
2 753
266
7
17 378

2017-18
$000
14 733
3 126
393
8
18 260

Total Fair Value
2018-19
2017-18
$000
$000
14 352
2 753
266
7
17 378

14 733
3 126
393
8
18 260

b) Valuation techniques and inputs
Valuation techniques used to measure fair value in 2018-19 are:

Level 2
Techniques

Level 3
Techniques

Asset Classes
Buildings (Note 13)
Plant and equipment (Note 13)
Computer Software (Note 13)
Heritage and cultural assets (Note 14)
There were no changes in valuation techniques from 2017-18 to 2018-19.

Cost approach
Cost approach
Cost approach
Cost approach

Territory Property Consultants (TPC) provided valuations for the buildings located at the Desert People Centre in Central Australia. Physical inspections were conducted by
TPC. Level 3 fair values of these specialised buildings were determined by computing their current replacement costs because an active market does not exist for such
facilities. The current replacement costs on a per structure basis, have been ascertained from in-office records, analysis of construction contracts for new constructions over
the past 3 years, on either a whole or part basis, information received from major construction contractors/architects/quantity surveyors and engineers cross referenced to
Rawlinson’s, Cordell’s and the Building Economists guidelines to derive construction cost rates on a per square metre/net area modern equivalent basis. Significant judgement
was also used in assessing the remaining service potential of the facilities, given local environmental conditions, projected usage, and records of the current condition of the
facilities.
Plant and equipment, computer software and heritage and cultural assets are stated at historical cost less depreciation which is deemed to equate to fair value.
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19.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

c) Additional information for level 3 fair value measurements
i) Reconciliation of recurring level 3 fair value measurements of non-financial assets

2018-19
Fair value as at 1 July 2018
Additions
Disposals
Transfers from Level 2
Transfers to Level 2
Depreciation
Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit
Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income
Fair value as at 30 June 2019

2017-18
Fair value as at 1 July 2017
Additions
Disposals
Transfers from Level 2
Transfers to Level 2
Depreciation
Gains/losses recognised in net surplus/deficit
Gains/losses recognised in other comprehensive income
Fair value as at 30 June 2018

Computer software
$000

Heritage and
Cultural
Assets
$000

Total
$000

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Plant and
equipment
$000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

14 733
0
0
0
0
( 381)
0

3 126
931
( 202)
0
0
(1 087)
( 15)

393
0
0
0
0
( 127)
0

8
0
0
0
0
( 1)
0

18 260
931
( 202)
0
0
(1 596)
( 15)

0
0

0
14 352

0
2 753

0
266

0
7

0
17 378

Land
$000

Buildings
$000

Plant and
equipment
$000

Computer software
$000

Heritage and
Cultural
Assets
$000

Total
$000

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

15 113
0
0
0
0
( 380)
0

3 480
491
( 4)
0
0
( 841)
0

521
0
0
0
0
( 128)
0

8
0
0
0
0
0
0

19 122
491
( 4)
0
0
(1 349)
0

0
0

0
14 733

0
3 126

0
393

0
8

0
18 260
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19.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

(ii) Sensitivity analysis
Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of buildings. The fair values of these specialised buildings are
sensitive to the movements in the value of inputs to the estimation of current replacement costs and changes in the
useful life of each building.
Unobservable inputs used in computing the fair value of plant and equipment, computer software and heritage and
cultural assets include the historical cost and the consumed economic benefit of each asset. Given the use of these
assets, it is not practical to compute a relevant summary measure for the unobservable inputs. In respect of sensitivity
of fair value to changes in input value, a higher historical cost results in a higher fair value and greater consumption of
economic benefit lowers fair value.

20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity
instrument of another entity.
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the balance sheet when the agency becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The agency’s financial instruments include cash and deposits;
receivables; advances paid; and payables.
Due to the nature of operating activities, certain financial assets and financial liabilities arise under statutory
obligations rather than a contract. Such financial assets and liabilities do not meet the definition of financial
instruments as per AASB 132 Financial Instruments: Presentation. These include statutory receivables arising from
taxes including GST and penalties.
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation has limited exposure to financial risks as discussed below.
Exposure to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, credit risk, price risk and liquidity risk arise in the normal course of
activities. The NT Government’s investments, loans and placements, and borrowings are predominantly managed
through the Northern Territory Treasury Corporation adopting strategies to minimise the risk.
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

a) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of the agency’s financial assets and liabilities by category are disclosed in the table
below.
2018-19 Categorisation of Financial Instruments
Fair value through profit or
loss
Mandatorily at
fair value

Designated
at fair value

$000
0
0
0
0

$000
0
0
0
0

$000
0
173
0
173

Fair value
through other
comprehensiv
e income
$000
0
0
0
0

Payables1
0
1 073
Total financial liabilities
0
1 073
1.Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts

0
0

0
0

Cash and deposits
Receivables1
Advances
Total financial assets

Amortised
cost

Other

Total

$000
24 805
0
0
24 805

$000
24 805
173
0
24 978

0
0

1 073
1 073

2017-18 Categorisation of Financial Instruments
Fair value through profit
or loss

$000

$000

Financial
assets loans and
receivables
$000

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

0
329
0
329

Held for
trading

Cash and deposits2
Receivables1
Advances
Total financial assets

Designated
at fair value

Financial
assets available
for sale
$000

Financial
liabilities amortised
cost
$000

$000

$000

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

20 437
0
0
20 437

20 437
329
0
20 766

0
0

0
0

0
0

1 816
1 816

Payables1
0
1 816
0
Total financial liabilities
0
1 816
0
1.Total amounts disclosed here exclude statutory amounts
2. Cash and deposits reclassified for 2017-18 to be in the 'Other' category.
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Classification of financial instruments from 1 July 2018
From 1 July 2018, the agency classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
•
•

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income (OCI) or through
profit or loss), and
those to be measure at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the agency’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.
For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading, the agency has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
The agency reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
At initial recognition, the agency measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and interest.
Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the agency’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which the agency classifies its
debt instruments:
•

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is calculated using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses).

•

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses and interest
income which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or
loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is calculated using the effective interest rate method.

•

FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVTPL. A gain or loss on
a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL is recognised in profit or loss and presented net
within other gains/(losses) in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments
The agency subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the agency’s management has elected
to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment.
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the agency’s right
to receive payments is established.
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement of profit
or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVOCI
are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories either at FVTPL or at amortised cost. The classification
and measurement of financial liabilities under AASB 9 is substantially the same as in AASB 139, except where an
entity designates financial liabilities at FVTPL. For such liabilities, the fair value changes of liabilities designated at
FVTPL are presented as follows:
•
•

the fair value changes attributable to changes in the liability’s credit risk are recognised in OCI; and
the remaining changes in the fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

Classification of financial instruments until 30 June 2018
The agency has elected not to restate comparative information. As a result, the comparative information provided
continues to be accounted for in accordance with AASB 139.
Financial assets are classified into the following categories:
•
•
•
•

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
held-to-maturity investments
loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets.

Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories:
•
•

financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and
financial liabilities at amortised cost.

Financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial instruments are classified as at FVTPL when the instrument is either held for trading or is designated as at
FVTPL. Financial instruments classified as at FVTPL are initially and subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses on these assets are recognised in the net result for the year.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market other than those held for trading and available for sale. Loans and receivables exclude statutory
receivables. Loans and receivables are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method less impairment.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are measured include all advances received, finance lease liabilities and
borrowings. Amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method.

b) Credit risk

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation has limited credit risk exposure (risk of default). In respect of any
dealings with organisations external to Government, the agency has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit
worthy organisations and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a means of mitigating
the risk of financial loss from defaults.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses,
represents the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral or
other security obtained.
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20.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk relating to receivables is disclosed in note 11 and advances paid in note 12.

c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Department will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Department’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient funds to meet its
liabilities when they fall due. This is achieved by ensuring that minimum levels of cash are held in the Agency bank
account to meet various current employee and supplier liabilities. The Department’s exposure to liquidity risk is
minimal. Cash injections are available from the Central Holding Authority in the event that one-off extraordinary
expenditure items arise that deplete cash to levels that compromise the agency’s ability to meet its financial
obligations.
The following tables detail the agency’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial liabilities, calculated based on
undiscounted cash flows at reporting date. The undiscounted cash flows in these tables differ from the amounts
included in the balance sheet which are based on discounted cash flows.
2019 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities
Carrying
amount
$000
Liabilities
Payables
1 073
Total financial liabilities

1 073

2018 Maturity analysis for financial liabilities
Carrying
amount
$000
Liabilities
Payables
1 816
Total financial liabilities

3.

1 816

Less than one
year
$000

More than 5
years
$000

1 to 5 years
$000

Total
$000

1 073

0

0

1 073

1 073

0

0

1 073

Less than one
year
$000

More than 5
years
$000

1 to 5 years
$000

Total
$000

1 816

0

0

1 816

1 816

0

0

1 816

d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market prices. It comprises interest rate risk, price risk and currency risk.

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is not exposed to interest rate risk as agency financial assets and
financial liabilities are non-interest bearing.

(ii)

Price risk

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is not exposed to price risk as the Department does not hold units
in unit trusts.

(iii)

Currency risk

The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is not exposed to currency risk as the Department does not hold
borrowings denominated in foreign currencies or transactional currency exposures arising from purchases in a foreign
currency.
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21.

RELATED PARTIES

i) Related Parties
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is a government administrative entity and is wholly owned and
controlled by the Territory Government. Related parties of the department include:
• the portfolio ministers and key management personnel (KMP) because they have authority and
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the department, directly or
indirectly, and influence the strategic direction of the department;
• spouses, children and dependants who are close family members of the Portfolio Ministers or KMP;
• all public sector entities that are controlled and consolidated into the whole-of-government financial
statements; and
• any entities controlled or jointly controlled by KMP’s or the Portfolio Ministers or controlled or jointly
controlled by their close family members.

ii) Key management personnel (KMP)
Key management personnel of the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation are those persons having authority
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the department. These include the
Minister for Northern Australia, Minister for Trade and Major Projects, Minister for Business and Innovation, Minister
for Workforce Training, Minister for the Arafura Games, the Chief Executive Officer and the 14 members of the
executive management team. During the year, one KMP resigned and one KMP transferred out. The department had
thirteen KMP as at the reporting date 30 June 2019.
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21.

RELATED PARTIES (continued)

iii) Remuneration of key management personnel
The details below excludes the salaries and other benefits of the Minister for Northern Australia, Minister for Trade
and Major Projects, Minister for Business and Innovation, Minister for Workforce Training, Minister for the Arafura
Games as ministers' remunerations and allowances are payable by the Department of the Legislative Assembly and
consequently disclosed within the Treasurer’s annual financial statements.
The aggregate compensation of key management personnel of the Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is
set out below:

Short-term employee benefits (1)
Post-employee benefits
Other long-term employee benefits (2)
Termination benefits
Total

2018-19
$000
3 079
321
0
0

2017-18
$000
2 848
293
0
0

3 400

3 141

(1) Short-term employee benefits include salaries, paid recreation leave, and non-monetary benefits and associated
fringe benefits tax.
(2) KMP's long service leave entitlements are managed by Central Holding Authority, and therefore have not been
disclosed in the Department's financial statements.
The number of KMP, whose total remuneration for the financial year fall within the following bands are:
2018-19
2017-18
Number of KMP
Number of KMP
Nil - $50,000

0

1

$50,000 - $100,000

2

2

$100,000 - $150,000

1

0

$150,000 - $200,000

1

0

$200,000 - $250,000

5

5

$250,000 - $300,000

4

4

$300,000 - $350,000

2

1

$350,000 - $400,000

0

0

$400,000 - $450,000
Total

0

1

15

14

iv) Related party transactions
Transactions with Northern Territory Government controlled entities
The department’s primary ongoing source of funding is received from the Central Holding Authority in the form of
output and capital appropriation and on-passed Commonwealth national partnership and specific purpose payments.
The following table provides quantitative information about related party transactions entered into during the year
with all other Northern Territory Government controlled entities.
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21.

RELATED PARTIES (continued)
2019 Related Party

Revenue from
related parties

Payments to
related parties

Amounts owed
by related
parties

Amounts
owed to
related parties

All NTG Government departments
Associates
Subsidiaries

$000
5 038
0
0

$000
21 648
0
0

$000
116
0
0

$000
262
0
0

Total

5 038

21 648

116

262

Revenue from
related parties

Payments to
related parties

Amounts owed
by related
parties

Amounts
owed to
related parties

$000
8 091
0
0

$000
22 630
0
0

$000
183
0
0

$000
233
0
0

2018 Related Party

All NTG Government departments
Associates
Subsidiaries

Total
8 091
22 630
183
233
The Department’s transactions with other government entities are not individually significant, with the
exception of Vocational Education and Training funding paid to Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary
Education.

Other related party transactions are as follows:
Given the breadth and depth of Territory Government activities, related parties will transact with the Territory
Public sector in a manner consistent with other members of the public including paying stamp duty and other
government fees and charges and therefore these transactions have not been disclosed. All other related party
transactions in excess of $10,000 have been provided in the tables below.
Transaction value for
Net receivable/
year ended
(payable) as at Commitments as at 30
2019
30 June 2019
30 June 2019
June 2019
Transaction type
$000
$000
$000
Sales of goods
0
0
0
Purchases of goods
0
0
0
Grants
0
0
0
Services received
0
0
0
Total
0
0
0
No guarantees have been given or received. No expense has been recognised in the current year for bad or
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.
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21.

RELATED PARTIES (continued)
2018

Transaction type
Sales of goods
Purchases of goods
Grants (1)
Services received
Total

Transaction value for
year ended
30 June 2018

Net receivable/
(payable) as at
30 June 2018

Commitments as at 30
June 2018

$000
0
0
222
0
222

$000
0
0
0
0
0

$000
0
0
0
0
0

No guarantees have been given or received. No expense was recognised in the year for bad or doubtful
debts in respect of the amounts owed by related parties.
1. A not-for-profit association managed by a KMP's close family member received grant funding of $222,000
during 2017-18.

22.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CONTINGENT ASSETS
a) Contingent liabilities
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation has entered into agreements which contain
indemnity clauses. The contingent liabilities arising from these indemnities are unquantifiable, and
the likelihood of occurrence is uncertain and therefore considered low. For all the events that would
give rise to the liabilities, the department has comprehensive risk management procedures in place.
In relation to the reporting of contingent liabilities, the Treasurer has determined a materiality
threshold of $5 million.
Details of unquantifiable but material contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2019 resulting from
indemnities granted by the department or the Territory are presented as follows:
North East Gas Interconnector Project
Contingent considerations in relation to the North East Gas Interconnector Project Development
Agreement are considered unlikely and consequently no contingent liabilities have been disclosed at
the reporting date. The Territory will continue to assess any risks under the arrangement and
determine whether any future disclosure is required.
Darwin Luxury Hotel
A series of indemnities have been provided in support of the Darwin Luxury Hotel Development
under the Luxury Hotel Transaction Documentation, however, the risks associated with the
indemnities are considered low and therefore no reportable contingent liabilities at the reporting
date.
Port of Darwin
Contingent considerations in relation to the long-term lease of the Port of Darwin are considered
unlikely and consequently no contingent liabilities have been disclosed at this time. The Territory will
continue to assess any risks under the arrangement and determine whether any future disclosure is
required.
b) Contingent assets
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation had no contingent assets as at 30 June 2019.
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23.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE

No events have arisen between the end of the financial year and the date of this report that require
adjustment to, or disclosure in these financial statements.
24.

BUDGETARY INFORMATION

Comprehensive Operating Statement
INCOME
Grants and subsidies revenue
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Sales of goods and services
Interest revenue
Goods and services received free of charge
Other income
TOTAL INCOME

2018-19
Actual

2018-19
Original
budget

Variance

$000

$000

$000

555

EXPENSES
Employee expenses
Administrative expenses
Purchases of goods and services
Repairs and maintenance
Depreciation and amortisation
Other administrative expenses
Grants and subsidies expenses
Current
Capital
TOTAL EXPENSES
NET SURPLUS/(DEFICIT)
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
COMPREHENSIVE RESULT

Note

555

1

148 553
17 849
511
2
4 765
1 060
173 295

151 864
15 281
411
2
4 505
0
172 063

(3 311)
2 568
100
0
260
1 060
1 232

2
3

32 705

31 427

1 278

5

16 211
107
1 595
4 816

20 071
600
1 334
4 505

(3 860)
( 493)
261
311

6
7

110 317
15 382
181 133

106 196
13 466
177 599

4 121
1 916
3 534

8
9

(7 838)

(5 536)

(2 302)

0

0

0

(7 838)

(5 536)

(2 302)

4

Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2018-19 BP3 Agency Budget Statements
(May 2018), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in the corresponding
financial statement.
Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million, or where multiple
significant variances have occurred.
1. The grants and subsidies revenue relates to funding contributions received from multiple Northern Territory
Government agencies for the establishment of an independent Northern Australia Health Innovation Centre
(NAHIC) and supporting the Cooperative Research Centre for Developing Northern Australia, which were not
included in the original budget.
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24. BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)
2. The decrease of $3.3 million in output appropriation is mainly due to the lower than anticipated applications
received for economic stimulus grant programs resulting in the transfer of budget of $6.3 million to future years,
offset by $2.6 million funding approved for the Local Jobs Fund in 2018-19 which was not reflected in the original
budget and has been carried forward to 2019-20.
3. The increase of $2.57 million in Commonwealth appropriation is a result of receiving additional funding under the
National Partnership Agreement - Skilling Australians Fund.
4. Other income mainly reflects funding recoveries resulting from under delivery of prior year training programs,
which were not incorporated in the budget.
5. Above budget employee expenses resulted from additional employees required for the management of the
Aboriginal Contracting Framework which was not included in the original budget, and additional funding approved
during the year for the management of the Welcome to the Territory incentives program, and additional resources
for Procurement Services required to provide services to the Department of Education and Territory Families.
6. Purchases of goods and services were below budget by $3.86 million predominantly as a result of timing of
expenditure on the Ship Lift and Marine Industry project, Luxury Hotel, and Seniors Lifestyle Village. Due to the
nature and complexity of these projects, it is difficult to predict exact timing of expenditure.
7. The below budget repairs and maintenance expenses was primarily due to $0.15 million repurposed to capital
works for the office fit out at the Charles Darwin Centre, and reduction in repairs and maintenance requirements.
8. Current grants were $4.12 million higher than the original budget due to additional funding approved during the
year for the Home Renovation Scheme of $7.7 million, offset by the reduced demand in the Student Entitlement
Program funded by the Commonwealth National Partnership Agreement – Skills Reform.
9. Capital grants were above budget by $1.92 million as a result of the capital grant payment of $12 million to
Darwin Turf Club to upgrade infrastructure, offset by the $10 million capital grant funding for the Darwin Luxury
Hotel carried over to future years.
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24.

BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)
2018-19
Actual

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and deposits
Receivables
Advances and investments
Prepayments
Total current assets

$000

2018-19
Original
budget
$000

24 805
2 494
0
446
27 745

2 612
1 941
0
797
5 350

22 193
553
0
( 351)
22 395

Non-current assets
Advances and investments
Property, plant and equipment
Heritage and cultural assets
Total non-current assets
TOTAL ASSETS

0
17 371
7
17 378
45 123

0
16 447
7
16 454
21 804

0
924
0
924
23 319

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Payables
Provisions
Other liabilities
Total current liabilities

1 073
4 235
446
5 754

1 152
4 051
136
5 339

( 79)
184
310
415

TOTAL LIABILITIES

5 754

5 339

415

NET ASSETS

39 369

16 465

22 904

EQUITY
Capital
Accumulated funds
TOTAL EQUITY

49 033
(9 664)
39 369

35 907
(19 442)
16 465

13 126
9 778
22 904

Balance Sheet

Variance
$000

Note

1
2

3

4

5
6

Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2018-19 BP3 Agency Budget Statements
(May 2018), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in the corresponding
financial statement.
Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million, or where multiple
significant variances have occurred.
1. The above budget cash and deposits balance at the end of the financial year is a result of underspend in major
projects, Commonwealth funded Student Entitlement Program, economic stimulus grants and Regional Aboriginal
Economic Development Fund which are committed to future years.
2. The receivables balance is higher than budget as a result of increased GST receivables at the end of June 2019.
3. Property, plant and equipment was $0.92 million over budget mainly as a result of the capitalisation of the office fit
out at Level 4, Charles Darwin Centre.
4. Other liabilities relate to unearned revenue recognised for sponsorship revenue received in advance for various
events being held in 2019-20, as well as funding received in advance for the Beetaloo sub-basin study expected to
be conducted in 2019-20.
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24.

BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)

5. The increase in capital is largely represented by the equity injection for the Local Jobs Fund not required and has
been committed to future years, and equity transfers for the capitalisation of the office fit out at Level 4,
Charles Darwin Centre.
6. The variance in accumulated funds from the original budget reflects the carryover of expenditure from 2018-19 to
2019-20.
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24.

BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)
2018-19
Actual

2018-19
Original

$000

budget
$000

Variance
$000

1

148 553
17 849
8 072
2
175 031

151 864
15 281
411
2
167 558

555
0
(3 311)
2568
7661
0
7 473

(32 817)
(24 083)

(31 427)
(20 671)

(1 390)
(3 412)

5
6

(110 317)
(15 382)
(182 599)
(7 568)

(106 196)
(13 466)
(171 760)
(4 202)

(4 121)
(1 916)
(10 839)
(3 366)

7
8

1
1

0
0

1
1

( 63)
( 2)
( 65)
( 64)

0
0
0
0

( 63)
( 2)
( 65)
( 64)

Financing receipts
Equity injections
Capital appropriation
Other equity injections
Total financing receipts

12 000
12 000

0
0

12 000
12 000

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

12 000

0

12 000

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held
Cash at beginning of financial year
CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR

4 368
20 437
24 805

(4 202)
6 814
2 612

8 570
13 623
22 193

Cash Flow Statement
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating receipts
Grants and subsidies received
Current
Appropriation
Output
Commonwealth
Receipts from sales of goods and services
Interest received
Total operating receipts

555

Operating payments
Payments to employees
Payments for goods and services
Grants and subsidies paid
Current
Capital
Total operating payments
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities

Note

2
3
4

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investing receipts
Repayment of advances
Total investing receipts
Investing payments
Purchases of assets
Advances and investing payments
Total investing payments
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

9

Original budget amounts correspond to those disclosed in the NTG Budget 2018-19 BP3 Agency Budget Statements
(May 2018), classified on a basis that is consistent with the presentation and classification adopted in the corresponding
financial statement.
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24.

BUDGETARY INFORMATION (continued)

Notes:
The following note descriptions relate to variances greater than 10 per cent or $0.5 million, or where multiple
significant variances have occurred.
1. Grants and subsidies received have increased due to funding contributions received from multiple
Northern Territory Government agencies for the establishment of an independent Northern Australia Health
Innovation Centre (NAHIC) and supporting the Cooperative Research Centre for Developing Northern Australia,
which were not included in the original budget.
2. The decrease of $3.3 million in output appropriation is mainly due to the lower than anticipated applications
received for economic stimulus grant programs resulting in the transfer of budget of $6.3 million to future years,
offset by $2.6 million funding approved for the Local Jobs Fund in 2018-19 which has been delayed.
3. The increase of $2.57 million in Commonwealth appropriation is a result of receiving additional funding under the
National Partnership Agreement - Skilling Australians Fund.
4. Receipts from sales of goods and services is largely unbudgeted GST refunds of $6.197 million during the year and
funding recoveries resulting from under delivery of prior year training programs.
5. The increase in payments to employees was a result of additional employees required for the management of the
Aboriginal Contracting Framework which was not included in the original budget, and additional funding approved
during the year for the management of the Welcome to the Territory incentives program, and the additional
resources for Procurement Services required to provide services to the Department of Education and Territory
Families.
6. Payments for goods and services were above budget by $3.41 million predominantly as a result of timing of
expenditure on the Ship Lift and Marine Industry project, Luxury Hotel, and Seniors Lifestyle Village. Due to the
nature and complexity of these projects, it is difficult to predict exact timing of expenditure.
7. Current grants paid were $4.12 million higher than the original budget due to additional funding approved during
the year for the Home Renovation Scheme of $7.7 million, offset by the reduced demand in the Student
Entitlement Program funded by the Commonwealth National Partnership Agreement – Skills Reform.
8. Capital grants paid were above budget by $1.92 million as a result of the capital grant payment of $12 million to
Darwin Turf Club to upgrade infrastructure, offset by the $10 million capital grant funding for the Darwin Luxury
Hotel carried over to future years.
9. An equity injection of $12 million to fund the grant payment to the Darwin Turf Club was not incorporated in the
original budget.
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Appendix A
Statutory responsibilities and legislation administered
The Department of Trade, Business and Innovation is responsible for the following principal areas of
government and for administering the legislation detailed below.

Areas of government
•

Aboriginal business enterprise support

•

Apprenticeships and traineeships

•

Business and industry support and
development

•

Business and skilled migration

•

Defence community liaison

•

Development of defence-related industries

•

Desert Knowledge Australia

•

Economic development

•

Facilitation and coordination of major
projects and investments, and infrastructure
policies

•

Financial assistance to industry associations
and business

•

Industry, economic and labour market
analysis

•

Industry engagement and participation

•

Innovator in Residence Program

•

International education

•

International engagement

•

International investment promotion and
attraction

•

Northern Australia development policy,
coordination and intergovernmental liaison

•

NT Build

•

Procurement policy

•

Procurement Review Board

•

Quality of training

•

Regional coordination of economic
development

•

Research and innovation

•

Strategic defence

•

Team NT

•

Territory Business Centres

•

Trade development, strategy and policy

•

Training and employment programs and
assistance schemes

•

Territory marketing and investment attraction

•

Veterans support

•

Vocational education and training
administration

Legislation
•

Biological Resources Act 2006

•

Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 2005

•

Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003

•

Ichthys LNG Project Act 2008

•

Northern Territory Products Symbol Act 1982

•

Port of Darwin Act 2015

•

Procurement Act 1995

•

Training and Skills Development Act 2016
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Statutory Authorities and Boards
Desert Knowledge Australia
Desert Knowledge Australia Act 2003
Desert Knowledge Australia is established pursuant to section 5 of the Desert Knowledge Australia
Act 2003 (the Act) to provide direction and oversee the activities of Desert Knowledge Australia.
Part 3 and sections 11 to 20 of the Act established a Board for Desert Knowledge Australia. The Act is
therefore the Terms of Reference/legislative framework for Board functions.

NT Build
Construction Industry Long Service Leave and Benefits Act 2005
NT Build is a body corporate established pursuant to section 53 of the Construction Industry Long Service
Leave and Benefits Act 2005 (the Act) to administer the NT Build Portable Long Service Leave Scheme, and
to advise and make recommendations to the Minister about the operation of the Act.

NT Veterans Affairs Ministerial Advisory Council
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in March 2016
The NT Veterans Affairs Ministerial Advisory Council was established to provide advice and support to the
Government on issues affecting Australian Defence Force veterans and their families; to facilitate a
collective approach to raising issues important to the veterans' community and assist in collating a body of
knowledge to support local veterans' concerns.

Procurement Review Board
Procurement Act 1995
The Procurement Review Board (PRB) is established pursuant to section 6 of the Procurement Act 1995.
The PRB determines appeals in relation to the eligibility or admissibility of a quote to tender in accordance
with the Procurement Directions; reviews or audits agencies’ procurement procedures or procurement
activity; and advises the Minister, agencies or any other person in relation to procurement procedures or
procurement activity in agencies.

Regional Economic Development Committees
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in June 2013
The aim of the Regional Economic Development Committees is to assist each region to grow its economic
base by providing independent advice to the government and other stakeholders on the regional
development needs and priorities of the region.
Regional Economic Development Committees have been established in Alice Springs, East Arnhem,
Katherine and Tennant Creek.

Strategic Defence Advisory Board
Non-statutory, established by the Minister in December 2014
The Strategic Defence Advisory Board (the Board) is a consultative group of defence sector specialists
focused on providing high level strategic advice to the government. The role of the Board is to assist the
Government to achieve its strategic directions regarding the attraction and retention of defence-related
investment to the Territory. The Board establishes and maintains strategic relationships with senior
Australian and foreign government, and Defence Force leaders.
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Appendix C
Business and Innovation NT Grants and Funding
This appendix provides a breakdown of grants and funding $10 000 and above only as identified through
the department’s business system records, and does not list all grants. Figures have been rounded to the
nearest ten.

Business Growth Program
A suite of innovative grants and consultant services that helped existing businesses, Indigenous enterprises
and not-for-profit organisations grow and become more viable.
Business Growth Program
Alice Springs Town Council
Angkerle Aboriginal Corporation Inc.
Arjays Sales & Services Pty Ltd
Arramwelke Aboriginal Corporation
Binjari Community Aboriginal Corporation
Bodhi Bus Limited
Finke Desert Race Inc.
Frontier Marine Services Pty Ltd
Henley-On-Todd Inc.
Solar Energy Management Group Australia Pty Ltd
St Philip's College
Territory Property Group Pty Ltd
The Arnhem Club Incorporated
Wright Expeditions Pty Ltd

Value ($)
13 640
10 050
12 270
12 010
10 000
11 830
14 550
12 290
12 380
12 730
12 690
10 670
12 680
13 640

Smarter Business Solutions
Delivered technical advice, assistance and guidance to business people looking to adopt resource-efficient
practices that are good for the financial bottom line, as well as being good for the environment.
Smarter Business Solutions
A.A. & G.M. Whitehouse Pty. Ltd.
Aileron Pastoral Holdings Pty Ltd
B F HEASLIP & G.F HEASLIP & J E HEASLI P & L. L HEASLIP
Bellette Media Pty Ltd
Blimey Charlie Pty Ltd
Bradvick Pty Ltd
Cazalys Palmerston Club Inc.
Club Eastside Incorporated
DavMax Pty. Ltd. & SF Station Pty Ltd as Trustee for Anningie Station Trust
Doyle, William Henry
Foster Baldwin Pty Ltd
JAJV Pty Ltd
Lyndavale Pty Ltd & The Trustee for Lyndavale Family Trust No 2
Manungurra Development Corporation Ltd
McKay Family Trust & Umbeara Holdings Pty. Ltd.
Mount Denison Proprietors Pty Ltd
NTFG Pty Ltd
Oceanview Developments Pty Ltd
Salty Plum Pty Ltd trading a Yots Café
Scott, William Leslie
Seidel Contract Mustering Services Pty Limited
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Value ($)
10 000
20 000
11 200
20 000
13 890
20 000
11 150
12 030
11 970
22 350
12 050
12 160
19 600
10 000
10 000
20 000
20 000
17 380
10 280
20 000
17 330
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Smarter Business Solutions
SGRD Cafe's Pty Ltd
St Philip's College
The Desert Fruit Company Ltd
The Trustee for Hotel Darwin Unit Trust
The Trustee for Middle Creek Hybrid Trust
The Trustee for the Kevin Lang Family Trust
Todd River Pastoral Company Pty. Ltd.
Undoolya Holdings Pty. Ltd.
Victory Grazing Pty Ltd
Wild & Willing Pty Ltd
Yipirinya School Council Inc.

Value ($)
15 350
22 850
18 370
13 650
11 780
15 640
26 770
21 460
19 620
20 000
20 000

Community Based Childcare Centre Program
Delivered grants and consultant services to ensure good governance and effective business systems exist
in parent managed community based child care services to strengthen their viability.
Community Based Childcare
Braitling Neighbourhood Centre Inc.
Humpty Doo Community & Childcare Centre Inc.
Katherine East Childcare Centre

Value ($)
29 040
11 910
16 800

Aboriginal Business Development Program
Assisted Aboriginal people and joint ventures (where Aboriginal people hold significant equity) to enter or
expand commercial business arrangements, that will support/facilitate employment and/or wealth creation
opportunities.
Aboriginal Business Development Program
Amangarra Aboriginal Corporation
Ancestral Creations Pty Limited
Anthony Jarrod Ah Kit
Arlparra Aboriginal Corporation
Arruwurra Admin Services Pty Ltd
Bartalumba Mini Mart Aboriginal Corporation
Centre Pest Management Pty Ltd
Cleavon John Davis
Confetti and Skeet Pty Ltd
Creative Pitches Pty Ltd
Darcy Innes McBean
Graham Kenyon and Lynette M Kenyon
Ikuntiji Artists Aboriginal Corporation
Iltja Ntjarra Aboriginal Corporation
J9 Recruitment Pty Ltd
Jamie Christine Collins
Kakadu Native Plants Pty Ltd
Kathleen Buzzacott
L.F Bayetto & S.E Tilmouth
Langley Rhys Dyllan
Mathew Robert Patterson
Michael W Jack and Sharee W Jack
Namunidjbuk Aboriginal Corporation
Nhawe Enterprises Pty Ltd
P.A Mitchell & P Mitchell
Papunya Community Store Aboriginal Corporation

Value ($)
24 880
12 570
30 000
27 270
27 270
14 820
20 490
17 870
26 930
14 720
26 850
27 220
18 430
12 980
24 940
24 830
25 780
25 780
27 270
17 640
21 640
26 720
28 150
33 990
27 190
27 270
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Aboriginal Business Development Program
Rhys Tang Griffiths
Richard Anthony Mitchell
Ricky John Postrak & Andrea Maria Postrak
Romelo Joseph Desmond
Rurrangala Bush Produce Pty Ltd
Russell Neil Jarmyn
Sam M Smith Timothy Fergusson-Calwell and Addison C Young
Stavrinos Stephen
Thomas Coen Flight
Veronica Rose McClintic
Waaban Civil Pty Ltd
Waltja Tjutangku Palyapayi (Aboriginal Corporation)
Warrija Construction and Civil Pty Ltd
Yalu Marnggithinyaraw Indigenous Corporation

Value ($)
16 550
11 140
20 600
24 760
14 520
27 190
15 270
25 580
26 090
15 630
19 860
27 230
27 270
18 260

Industry Support Program
Provided funding to peak industry bodies to assist with industry sector development.
Industry Support Program
Aboriginal Resource and Development Services Aboriginal Corporation
Australian Hotels Association NT Branch Incorporated
Australian Industry Defence Network - Northern Territory
Australian Institute of Company Directors Pty Ltd
Australian Strategic Policy Institute Limited
Battery Hill Mining Centre Incorporated
Business Enterprise Centre (Darwin Region) Incorporated
Business Promotions (N.T.) Pty Limited
Charles Darwin University
Civil Contractors Federation Northern Territory Branch
Darwin City Waterfront Retailers Association Incorporated
Darwin International Airport Pty Ltd
Darwin Turf Club Incorporated
Energy Club NT Incorporated
Gong-Dal Aboriginal Corporation
Malak Marketplace Incorporated
Motor Trades Association (NT) Incorporated
Northern Territory Chamber of Commerce and Industry Incorporated
Northern Territory Indigenous Business Network Incorporated
Palmerston Regional Business Association Incorporated
Parap Village Traders Association Incorporated
Territory Resources Services Association Incorporated
Wildlife Management International Pty Limited
∗

Value ($)
215 000
339 000
170 000
220 000
75 000
230 000
517 000
240 000
555 640
102 000
60 000
147 640
12 000 000
43 530
15 000
20 000
66 000
619 000
503 640
40 000
45 000
130 000
32 500

these recipients received funding across multiple application rounds

Business Innovation Support Initiatives
Provided funding to initiate and promoted innovation by assisting businesses to commence research and
development projects in the areas of science engineering technology and design.
Business Innovation Support Initiatives
Aerotech Australia Pty Ltd
Air Tip Pty Ltd
Ambrose Indigenous Business Pty Ltd

Value ($)
10 000
15 280
34 650
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Business Innovation Support Initiatives
Armed Technologies Pty Ltd
DEVA Darwin Pty Ltd
Edutech Designs Pty Ltd
Hyra
i-Vet (Australia) Pty Ltd
Kakadu Plum Pty Ltd
Lateral Industries Pty Ltd
Legend Legacy Pty Ltd
Makenit Pty Ltd*
Nutrient Recovery Solutions*
Solflow Pty Ltd
Station Innovation Pty Ltd
The Hair Twins Pty Ltd
The Trustee for JTCK Family Trust
∗

Value ($)
32 830
10 800
49 650
14 630
25 000
25 000
46 890
25 000
19 500
35 640
50 000
14 190
13 260
16 500

these recipients received funding across multiple application rounds

National Disability Insurance Scheme Grants
National Disability Insurance Scheme Grants
AT Lab
Australian Regional and Remote Community Services Ltd
Autism NT
Barkly Regional Council
Carpentaria Disability Services Incorporated
CASA Central Australia Incorporated
Down Syndrome Association of NT Incorporated
East Arnhem Regional Council
Every Bodies Journey Pty Ltd
Golden Glow Corporation (NT) Pty Ltd
Henbury School Council
Homebase Hope
HPA Incorporated
Kalano Community Association Incorporated
Laynhapuy Homelands Aboriginal Corporation
Lifestyle Solution (AUST) Ltd
Malabam Health Board Aboriginal Corporation
Mental Health Association of Central Aust Incorporated
Miwatj Employment and Participation Ltd
Miwatj Health Aboriginal Corporation
MJD Foundation Ltd
Nemarluk School Council
Nick Kenny Investments Pty Ltd
NT Friendship and Support Incorporated
Roper Gulf Regional Council
Somerville Community Services Incorporated
Step Out Community Access Services Incorporated
Sunrise Health Service Aboriginal Corporation
Tangentyere Council Aboriginal Corporation
Thamarrurr Development Corporation Limited
Top End Association for Mental Health Incorporated
Total Recreation NT Incorporated
Travelling Tadpole Pty Ltd
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Value ($)
23 640
23 590
22 730
14 550
22 730
14 550
13 640
18 780
23 640
11 000
18 100
15 270
22 730
13 870
24 550
23 640
27 730
23 640
19 090
33 640
20 000
27 100
27 270
23 640
18 000
22 730
18 000
23 290
18 180
28 180
15 450
18 180
23 640
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National Disability Insurance Scheme Grants
Victoria Daly Regional Council
Waltja Tjutangku Palyapayi Aboriginal Corporation
Youthworx
Zest Projects Pty Ltd

Value ($)
22 500
28 180
22 500
18 180

Home Renovation Grants
First home buyers of an existing property were eligible to receive a first home owner’s renovation grant up
to $10 000 of which a maximum of $2000 could be spent on household goods.
Region
Alice Springs and Central Australia
Barkly
Daly-Tiwi-West Arnhem
Greater Darwin
Katherine
Total

Number of approved
applications
200
3
12
508
28
751

Value ($)
1 490 000
30 000
63 000
5 307 000
223 000
7 113 000

Smart Energy Grants
Smart Energy Grants assisted Territorians to access energy-efficient initiatives for their homes.
Region
Alice Springs and Central Australia
Barkly
Daly-Tiwi-West Arnhem
East Arnhem
Greater Darwin
Katherine
Total

Number of approved
applications
136
3
27
1
1475
20
1662

Value ($)
172 000
4 000
50 000
600
2 023 000
34 000
2 283 600

Biz Secure
The Business Security Assistance Program (Biz Secure) helped eligible Territory businesses access funding
to undertake permanent security improvements to protect their premise against break-ins.
Region
Alice Springs and Central Australia
Barkly
Daly-Tiwi-West Arnhem
East Arnhem
Greater Darwin
Katherine
Total

Number of approved
applications
47
4
15
5
167
27
265
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Value ($)
228 000
4 000
47 000
4 000
893 000
95 000
1 271 000
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Alcohol Secure
The Alcohol Secure Program helped eligible Territory businesses access funding to undertake permanent
security improvements to protect their stock of alcohol against theft and damage.
Number of approved
applications
6
4
22
2
34

Region
Alice Springs and Central Australia
Daly-Tiwi-West Arnhem
Greater Darwin
Katherine
Total

Value ($)
22 000
13 000
146 000
12 000
180 000

Workforce NT Grants and Funding
This appendix provides a breakdown of grants and funding $10 000 and above only as identified through
the department’s business system records, and does not list all grants. Figures have been rounded to the
nearest ten.

Aboriginal Employment Program
Aboriginal Responsive Skilling Grants
Provided funding for training to meet the needs of Aboriginal people living in urban, regional and remote
NT communities.
Region
Alice Springs
Barkly
Darwin
East Arnhem
Katherine
West Arnhem

Number of business
16
12
17
8
4
5

Value ($)
338 380
361 920
562 420
193 830
268 850
197 700

Aboriginal Apprentices and Trainees Program for Regional and Remote Areas
Funding to support this program was provided to Group Training Northern Territory to support Aboriginal
people and employers in the following regions.
Region
Alice Springs
Barkly
East Arnhem
Katherine
West Arnhem

Value ($)
400 000
400 000
400 000
400 000
400 000

Aboriginal Workforce Grants and project partnerships
Provided the Aboriginal Workforce Grants competitive funding round and project partnerships that
supported initiatives resulting in sustainable jobs or career advancement for Aboriginal people.
Aboriginal Workforce Grants
Aboriginal Medical Services Alliance of the NT Inc
Aboriginal Resource and Development Services Aboriginal Corporation
Angkerle Aboriginal Corporation Inc*
Arnhem Land Progress Aboriginal Corporation*
Arnhem Northern and Kimberley Artists
Bhagwan Marine Pty Ltd
Carers NT
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Value ($)
64 000
16 000
71 630
30 150
87 910
64 000
59 280
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Aboriginal Workforce Grants
Central Australian Aboriginal Congress
Charles Darwin University*
Darwin Aboriginal Art Fair Foundation Limited
Djilpin Arts Aboriginal Corporation
ECB Training Services Pty Ltd
First Nations
Green Glass Trading Pty. Ltd.
IE Project (NT) Pty Ltd
Larrakia Nation Aboriginal Corporation
Menzies School of Health Research
MJD Foundation Ltd
NPY Women's Council
Nungalinya College
PwC's Indigenous Consulting
Saltbush Social Enterprises Limited
Six Seasons Investments Pty Ltd
Starwin Management
Tangentyere Council Inc
Trustee for Gulkula Mining Trust
Trustee for YBE Unit Trust
Waltja Tjutangku Palyapayi Aboriginal Corp
∗

Value ($)
64 000
207 100
32 800
48 000
32 000
24 000
24 000
21 600
59 220
16 000
64 000
16 000
20 000
20 180
99 620
62 190
30 180
60 370
24 000
20 000
34 400

these recipients received funding through more than 1 grant.

Pre-employment training
Pre-employment training programs give people practical skills to help them get a job, an apprenticeship or
traineeship. Priority is given to programs that led to employment in occupation shortage areas and
occupations that are to be filled.
Pre-employment Program
Born To Win Consulting
Charles Darwin University
ECB Training Services
HITSA Industry Training
Youthworx NT

Value ($)
35 500
60 000
36 260
28 300
58 960

Industry Buildskills
The Industry Buildskills program is a government initiative that assisted Northern Territory employers to
upskill or reskill existing workers.
Industry Buildskills
Chamber of Commerce NT
Charles Darwin University
Civil Train – SA
Industry Skills Advisory Council Northern Territory
Master Builders Association (NT)
Mt Riddock Pastoral Co
The Pharmacy Guild of Australia

Value ($)
19 600
25 400
30 560
682 050
299 000
37 200
11 090
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User choice funding
Provided to registered training organisations to provide training and assessment to apprentices and
trainees to achieve nationally recognised qualifications.
UserChoice (Apprenticeships and Traineeships)
Alan Bartlett Consulting Pty Ltd
Alana Kaye Training
AMA Skills Training
ARO Educational Services
Asset Training (Allie Investments)
ATEC – Adelaide Training and Employment Centre
Aviation Australia
Carey Training Pty Ltd
Central Outback Training (K.A. Boast)
Centre for Appropriate Technology
Charles Darwin University
Civil Safety Pty Ltd
Coastal and Rural Training
Dovaston Training and Assessment Centre
ECB Training Services
Fire Industry Training
Fox Education and Consultancy
FS Alliance (Food Safety Operations)
GTNT Training Plus
Hastings Deering Institute of Technology, IML International
Housing Industry Association Ltd
International College of Advanced Education
JB Hunter Technology
Karen Sheldon Group
Lab Tech Training Pty Ltd
Matrix on Board Training
Melbourne Polytechnic
Municipal Training - Learning, Knowing Achieving
Murray Mallee Training Company Ltd
Nhulunbuy High School Council
Northern Territory Police, Fire and Emergency Services
Outback Stores Pty Ltd
Outsource Institute of Technology
River Murray Training
RMIT University
Rowe Training and Consulting
Site Skills Training ; Site Institute
Swinburne University of Technology
TAFE NSW - North Coast
TAFE NSW – Riverina – Training Blocks
TAFE NSW - Sydney
TAFE Queensland
TAFE SA
TasTAFE
The Arnhem Land Progress Aboriginal Corporation
The Pharmacy Guild of Australia - National Secretariat
Tiwi Islands Training and Employment Board
Transforming Training (NT Christian Schools)
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Value ($)
92 710
104 590
53 040
16 200
39 220
19 240
230 000
84 810
284 300
46 260
13 091 710
195 690
585 340
317 680
196 280
10 490
165 840
69 840
201 450
32 860
59 280
20 420
24 950
22 720
10 870
235 560
53 210
383 730
96 120
37 740
40 490
202 500
224 170
20 540
310 510
325 200
115 640
66 200
34 850
26 000
53 270
52 190
118 750
277 390
351 940
28 630
63 010
106 280
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UserChoice (Apprenticeships and Traineeships)
Upskilled Pty Ltd
William Angliss Institute of TAFE

Value ($)
10 360
430 270

Equity training grants
Provided funding for programs that increase training and employment opportunities for people with
disabilities; parents returning to the workplace after an absence of five years or more; long-term
unemployed migrants; refugees; mature-aged people and very long-term unemployed people, or those at
risk of becoming very long-term unemployed.
Equity Grants
Carers NT
Kintore Street School
Melaleuca Refugee Centre Torture and Trauma Survivors Service of the NT

Value ($)
19 890
10 040
131 000

Provider training funding
Included recurrent funding, student entitlements and the training loans scheme.
Registered Training Organisation
Alana Kaye Training
Australian Careers College
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous Tertiary Education
BCA National Training Group Pty Ltd
BJ Network Consulting Australia
Carey Training Pty Ltd
Centre For Appropriate Technology Ltd
Charles Darwin University
Darwin Human Resource and Computer Academy
Desert Peoples Centre Inc
Dovaston Consulting Group Pty.Ltd
Eagle Training Services NT Pty Ltd
Fox Education and Consultancy
Industry Skills Advisory Council Northern Territory Inc
Institute for Aboriginal Development
Learning Potential International
NT Christian Schools
Nungalinya College
Outback Stores
Rowe Training and Consulting
Seafood and Maritime Industries Training Ltd
Site Skills Group Pty Ltd
The Pharmacy Guild of Australia

Value ($)
588 760
131 000
12 148 110
493 900
23 850
72 970
761 720
28 123 790
119 400
200 000
118 330
65 750
210 660
525 000
86 970
34 900
118 790
207 030
31 780
12 720
475 680
122 780
15 900

Other funding
Scheme or Recipient Name
Australian Council for Private Education and Training
Employer Support Scheme
Industry Skills Advisory Council NT
NT Working Women’s Centre
Workwear/Work Gear Bonus Scheme
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Value ($)
117 260
2 950 000
3 180 000
201 740
1 000 000
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StudyNT
Grants that encouraged and supported international students to study in the NT.
Scheme or Recipient Name
Association of Independent Schools for the Northern Territory
Council for International Students Australia
Independent Tertiary Education Council Australia
NT Farmers Association Incorporated
Study in Australia’s Northern Territory Scholarship Program

Value ($)
50 000
18 000
37 000
31 750
120 140

Higher Education Scholarships
Higher education scholarships were awarded to year 12 graduates undertaking their first degree.
Scholarships are worth $5000 per year. Two recipients have requested anonymity and are not listed below.
Alisa Mai
George Kypreos
Maddison Purnell
Bilal Mir
Gio Remulla
Matika Marchant
Bradley Murphy
Imogen Bowden
Molly Sutherland
Britney Cusher
Jane Humphreys
Paulos Rigas
Cassandra Ho
Jenna Considine
Rizal Fenwick
Da Yeol Youn
Joe Hedger
Rodney Nyandoro
Emily Kowalewycz
Karlee Thackeray
Sarah Othman
Ernest Quin
Layla Johnson
Shaine Taborada
Essie Grose
Leonie Higgins
Finlay Dale
Maddison Politis

Northern Australia Development and Trade Grants and Funding
This appendix provides a breakdown of grants and funding $10 000 and above only as identified through
the department’s business system records, and does not list all grants. Figures have been rounded to the
nearest ten.

Regional Economic Development Fund
The Regional Economic Development Fund supported the development of businesses and industry in all
regions of the Northern Territory. The grants are a one-off payment that contribute to the total cost of a
project.
Registered Training Organisation
City of Palmerston
Developing East Arnhem Limited – East Arnhem Land Owner Prospectus
Katherine Town Council
Papulu Appar-Kari – Barkly REDC
The Earth Sanctuary
Yugul Mangi Development Aboriginal Corporation

Value ($)
50 000
22 000
30 000
15 000
36 200
14 110

Other funding
Recipient Name
Darwin Major Business Group
Gumatj Corporation
Industry Capability Network NT
Northern Territory Indigenous Business Network
The NT Seafood Council
The Waste Recycling Industry Association NT

Value ($)
61 360
10 910
45 580
48 320
31 820
10 000
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Trade Support Scheme
Provided financial help to NT businesses to offset the costs of international marketing activities.
The scheme provided funding for up to 50% of the cost of approved activities.
Recipient Name
Asia Pacific Aircraft Solutions Pty Ltd
Australia China Business Council NT
Desart Incorporated
Engineers Australia (Northern Division)
Halkitis Bros Pty Ltd
Outback Cycling Pty Ltd
SDR - NT Pty Ltd
Top End Group Training Pty Ltd

Value ($)
24 530
35 190
20 000
19 060
11 660
11 520
16 810
21 280

Remote Aboriginal Economic Development Fund
Supported initiatives in remote communities that have a positive impact on economic development,
employment opportunities and improving governance and capacity in communities.
Recipient Name
Areyonga Store Aboriginal Corporation
Baniyala Garrangali Aboriginal Corporation
Bawinanga Aboriginal Corporation
Central Land Council
Gapuwiyak Culture & Arts Aboriginal Corporation
Gumatji Corporation
Gundjeihmi Aboriginal Corporation
Gurindji Aboriginal Corporation
Hermannsburg Historical Society
Laynhapuy Homelands Aboriginal Corporation
Next Generation Workforce Pty Ltd
Ngurratjuta/Pmara Ntjarra Aboriginal Corporation
Njanjma Aboriginal Corporation
Papunya Tjupi Arts
Tarntipi Homelands Aboriginal Corporation
Tilmouth Well Nominees Pty Ltd
Yapa-Kurlangu Ngurrara Aboriginal Corporation

Value ($)
45 460
25 000
22 930
20 020
43 920
10 000
100 000
47 500
50 000
18 780
22 000
50 000
50 000
49 790
32 470
24 260
28 990

DefenceNT
The below grants are provided to support defence community organisations and the defence industry in
the Northern Territory.
Recipient Name
Australian Industry Defence Network Northern Territory
Australian Strategic Policy Institute
Master Builders Association Northern Territory Inc
Triathlon Association of the Northern Territory
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Value ($)
297 000
123 200
119 000
15 000
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Appendix D
List of engagement activities including delegations, missions, tradeshows and expos
Inbound missions and delegations
Date

Delegation name

Country engaged

Outcomes/follow-up Inbound

July-August
2018

Territory’s trade and
investment
opportunities
Information Sessions

Philippines

Over July-August 2018, the Philippines’ Sports Commission, the Consul-General for Brazil and
Papua New Guinea’s High Commissioner visited the Territory, meeting with the Office of
International Engagement, Trade and Investment representatives to learn about the Territory’s
trade and investment opportunities.

Brazil
Papua New
Guinea

October 2018 October Business
Month 2018 South
Korean Business and
Cultural Workshop

South Korea

Funded the South Korean Business and Cultural Workshop in Darwin as part of October
Business Month 2018.

October 2018 October Business
Month 2018 TerritoryIndia Engagement
Forum

India

Hosted the Territory-India Engagement Forum in Darwin and Alice Springs as part of October
Business Month 2018.

February
2019

Guangzhou Dried
Seafood and Nut
Association buyers’
mission

China

Representatives from the Guangzhou Dried Seafood and Nut Association in Southern China
visited in February 2019. The delegation aimed to gain a better understanding of opportunities
for trade and investment and make connections with Territory businesses in agribusiness
(specifically seafood and fishmeal, dried seafood, dried fruit and other processed food products).

April 2019

Conference for
Australian and
Indonesian Youth
(CAUSINDY)

Indonesia

Supported the Conference for Australian and Indonesian Youth (CAUSINDY) held in Darwin
from 26-30 April 2019 to coincide with the Arafura Games.

April – May
2019

Arafura Games Business Various
Engagement Program
(BEP)

In April and May 2019, Office of International Engagement, Trade and Investment delivered the
Arafura Games BEP to capitalise on sport diplomacy and leverage previous visits to showcase
the Territory’s boundless potential for trade and investment.
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Date

Delegation name

Country engaged

Outcomes/follow-up Inbound

May 2019

BIMP-EAGA Senior
Officials meeting

Brunei
Darussalam

The department hosted the BIMP-EAGA Senior Officials meeting on 2 May 2019 in Darwin.
This was so that it aligned with the Arafura Games BEP.

Indonesia
Malaysia
Philippines

Outbound missions and delegations
Date

Delegation name

Target country

Outcomes/follow-up Outbound

August 2018

Reaching South to the
Territory

China

In August 2018, coordinated the Chief Minister’s delegation to South China and the
‘Reaching South to the Territory’ event in Shenzhen, including international launch of the
Territory Masterbrand ‘Boundless Possible’. The delegation comprised NT Government officers
and 52 local businesses from some of the Territory’s key industry sectors including
International education and training; major projects and infrastructure and logistics; minerals
and energy; tourism; and tropical health and research.

International launch of
the Territory
Masterbrand
‘Boundless Possible’

Five events were held during the two day visit, including showcase dinner, Trade and
Investment Plenary, and roundtables and seminars. Over 50% of participants from the Territory
had never travelled to China prior to Reaching South, and 100% of participants surveyed said
they generated new business connections as a result of participating in Reaching South.
The delegation and Territory’s Masterbrand was well received by Chinese audiences and
attracted substantial Chinese media attention. The Team NT delegation comprised:

August 2018

18th Asian Games

Asia

•

52 businesses and industry representatives

•

27 NT Government representatives.

In August 2018, supported attendance by the Minister for the Arafura Games at the
18th Asian Games to promote the 2019 Arafura Games. This was held in Jakarta and
Palembang, Indonesia.
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Date

Delegation name

Target country

Outcomes/follow-up Outbound

September
2018

Showcase of the
Territory’s investment
potential

Vietnam

In September 2018, a joint delegation with the Chamber of Commerce NT (CCNT) visited
Vietnam to meet with the Vietnamese Government and private organisations to showcase the
Territory’s investment potential and CCNT’s commitment to increase trade activities between
the jurisdictions.
The delegation worked with the Vietnam Chamber of Commerce and Industry to finalise a
Memorandum of Understanding supporting trade and investment links between the Territory
and Vietnam, and met with prospective Vietnamese investors to extend NT Government and
local business support on their proposed investment in the Territory. A significant investment
has now been finalised by a Vietnamese company in pastoral operations in the Victoria River
Downs region of the Territory.

October 2018

Australia Korea/Korea
Australia Joint Meeting

South Korea

In October 2018, attended the Australia Korea/Korea Australia Joint Meeting in Busan, South
Korea to foster relationships with Korean investors.

October 2018

Energy Club NT

United States of
America

Supported an Energy Club NT delegation to the United States of America to obtain a better
understanding of the potential opportunities and impacts that may arise from the development
of a sustainable onshore gas industry.

October 2018
– March 2019

Australia Fest India
(OzFest)

India

From October 2018 to March 2019, sponsored the Australia Fest India (OzFest).

October 2018

Trade Expo

Indonesia

In October 2018, facilitated the Territory delegation’s participation at a trade expo in Indonesia,
led by the Assistant Minister Ms Kate Warden MLA.

November
2018

Meet with existing and
prospective investors

Singapore

In November 2018, visited Singapore to meet with existing and prospective investors.

November
2018

BIMP-EAGA Senior
Officials Meeting

Brunei

In November 2018, facilitated the Territory’s representation at the BIMP-EAGA senior officials
meeting in Brunei. Delegates from OIETI attended as a dialogue partner, and provided an
update on the agreed plan of action and shared its experience on best practices for national
park management and cruise tourism.
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Date

Delegation name

Target country

Outcomes/follow-up Outbound

November
2018

Showcase Territory
capabilities and capacity

Vietnam

In November 2018, facilitated the Chief Minister’s delegation to Japan and Vietnam to
establish relationships with ministers and private organisations, including investors, reaffirming
the NT Government’s commitment to the trade relationship, facilitating foreign investment,
and research and development cooperation activities. The delegation showcased Territory
capabilities and capacity for future trade and investment in gas, energy, minerals, agribusiness,
space, tourism and education.

Japan

A delegation of vocational education providers and the Chamber of Commerce NT joined the
Chief Minister in Vietnam to promote the Territory’s international education capabilities. The
Chief Minister also witnessed the signing of a Memorandum of Understanding between the
Chamber of Commerce NT and the Vietnam Chamber of Commerce and Industry, and the
opening of an international education provider’s office in Vietnam. A total of eight vocational
education providers including the Chamber of Commerce NT participated in this mission.
December
2018

City of Darwin Lord
Mayor’s delegation to
South China

China

In December 2018, department representatives joined the City of Darwin Lord Mayor’s
delegation to South China to strengthen relationships and showcase investment trade
opportunities.

February
2019

Chamber of Commerce
Northern Territory
delegation

United States of
America

Supported a Chamber of Commerce NT delegation to the United States of America that
provided industry representatives a better understanding of some of the possible impacts of
the development of an onshore gas industry.

April 2019

Chair Gas Taskforce

United States of
America

Supported the Chair of Gas Taskforce to understand how different US jurisdictions have
succeeded in safely and productively developing gas resources both for export and to drive
manufacturing investment and aligned services.

Major Northern Territory and Interstate conferences and expos
Conference or
event

Date and
location

Focus/purpose

NT Airfreight
Conference

July 2018

Facilitated a presentation on the Trade Support Scheme

Darwin
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Conference or
event

Date and
location

Focus/purpose

NT PGA
Championship

August 2018

Sponsored the event to help grow the profile of the Territory as an investment destination.

Renewable
Hydrogen
Conference

August 2018

Chief Minister’s
NT Export and
Industry Awards

September
2018

NT Resources
Week

September
2018

Palmerston

Perth

Recognised, promoted and celebrated NT’s successful exporters.

Darwin

Darwin
Australian
Pipelines and Gas
Association
(APGA) 50th
annual
Conference and
Expo

Participated in the conference to gain industry knowledge and develop networks to facilitate understanding of
potential opportunities for the Territory.

September
2018
Darwin

Land Forces 2018 September
2018
Adelaide

Coordinated NT Government participation in the event including the address by the Chief Minister and
bilateral meetings with the oil and gas industry. The Chief Minister launched the Northern Territory gas
strategy: five point plan and the Chairman of the NT Gas Taskforce provided further narrative. The department
collaborated with the Department of Primary Industry and Resources (DPIR) to deliver a government exhibition
stand that promoted the petroleum and minerals industries.
Sponsored this event and coordinated the government’s participation including a presentation by
Jason Schoolmeester, Executive Director Northern Australia Economic and Industry Development and an NT
Government exhibition stand delivered in collaboration with DPIR.

DefenceNT led a delegation of 12 Territory businesses and three industry associations to showcase the
Territory’s defence industry capability to Defence and industry decision makers at the Land Forces 2018
tradeshow. The Defence and National Security Advocate and members of the Strategic Defence Advisory
Board met with high level government, military and senior corporate executives at this event.
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Conference or
event

Date and
location

Focus/purpose

Facing North
2018

September
2018

A collaborative arrangement between government and the Darwin Major Business Group that aims to forge
key relationships for the future business and economic benefit of the Territory with the event providing a
unique opportunity to connect with key government and business decision-makers. 164 delegates travelled
from the Territory, with recorded RSVPs of 331 and estimated attendance by around 400 guests including
federal parliamentarians and staff.

Canberra
NT Space
Industry Forums,
in partnership
with the Space
Industry
Association of
Australia

October 2018

Australia-Japan
Joint Business
Conference

October 2018

AFR Energy
Summit

October 2018

Northern
Australia Defence
Summit

October 2018

Darwin and
Nhulunbuy

Sydney

Sydney
Darwin

Forums informed the speakers and their organisations (SIAA, CSIRO, Boeing, Nova Systems, Australian Space
Agency) of space industry opportunities in the Territory, with particular reference to Equatorial Launch
Australia’s Arnhem Space Centre in Nhulunbuy.

This event was used to maintain industry knowledge and relationships and to facilitate Chief Minister’s visit to
Japan in November 2018.
The summit provides delegates with market information and provides an opportunity for the Territory to
engage with industry.
DefenceNT facilitated key members of the defence industry, Defence, government, think tanks and other
stakeholders attending the 6th Northern Australia Defence Summit. The summit was supplemented by a
number of additional defence focused events including two defence industry roundtables, the Commonwealth
Shipbuilding and Consultative Forum and a formal meeting of the Strategic Defence Advisory Board.

National Trade
November
Working Group
2018
and National
Adelaide
Investment Group

Represented the Territory at these biannual national working group meetings.

National Export
Awards

Supported Territory export award winners on the national stage and promoted the Territory’s trade capability.

November
2018
Canberra
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Conference or
event

Date and
location

Focus/purpose

Ministerial Forum
on Northern
Development

November
2018

Supported Minister Moss and the whole-of-government priority issues on the Developing of North agenda
such as regional infrastructure, tourism and water security.

2nd OECD
Meeting of
Mining Regions
and Cities

November
2018

Australasian Oil &
Gas (AOG) Expo
and Conference

February 2019
Perth

Consistent with the NT Gas Strategy, this event is used to grow the Territory’s service and supply industry.
This event has strong Territory industry and small and medium enterprise support and participation.

Avalon 2019

February –
March 2019

DefenceNT led a delegation of four Territory businesses and a number of industry associations to showcase
NT defence industry capability to Defence and industry decision makers at the Avalon 2019 trade show.

Mt Isa
Luke Bowen, General Manager Northern Australia Development and Trade, delivered an opening presentation
and facilitated a panel discussion. The event was attended by 155 people from across 11 countries.

Darwin

Geelong
Annual
Geoscience
Exploration
Seminar AGES

March 2019
Alice Springs

Participation allows the Territory to maintain and obtain industry knowledge and relationships. The event was
also used as an opportunity to promote the NT Gas Strategy and related initiatives through bilateral
engagements.

Australian Space
Industry
Conference

March 2019

Engaged in various networking and space investment-attraction activities.

Katherine
Regional
Resources
Conference

16-17 May

Melbourne
Promote and develop the Katherine region as a service and supply hub for the mining and the oil and gas
industry.
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Conference or
event

Date and
location

Focus/purpose

Australian
Petroleum
Production and
Exploration
Association
APPEA

May 2019
Brisbane

Australia’s largest oil and gas conference. Supported Minister Kirby in promoting Northern Territory as an
investment destination for the oil and gas industry. Participation provided opportunity to maintain industry
relationships and build knowledge.

ASPI International June 12-14
The event is sponsored by government and is an element of the broader ASPI program that seeks to highlight
Conference: War 2019 Canberra to national and international decision-makers the Territory’s strategic importance to Indo Pacific geopolitics.
in 2025
The event was attended by the Australian Minister for Defence, the Chief of the Defence Force, Vice Chief of
Defence Force, senior members of the ADF and other national policy influencers and think tanks.
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Appendix E
Projects with Major Project Status
•

As at 30 June 2019, there were 14 private sector projects across NTG that have Major Project Status as outlined in the following table. Two projects are
unable to be disclosed at the time of report publication.
Proponent

Project

Description and status

Arafura
Resources

Nolans Rare
Earth

In November 2018 Arafura Resources announced that it would site its separation facility at the mine near Aileron some
135 kilometres north of Alice Springs. The Nolan’s rare earth facility is now a $1.1 billion mine, beneficiation and
intermediate processing and separation plant. Products are phosphoric acid; Neodymium-Praseodymium oxide;
SEG Heavy Rare Earth Carbonate; and Cerium Hydroxide. Arafura Resources proposes to achieve its final investment
decision in April 2020.

Avenira Limited

Wonarah
Phosphate

Phosphate project in the Barkly region, 280 kilometres east of Tennant Creek. Avenira Limited proposes to use the
proprietary Novophos technology to produce phosphoric acid.

Halikos Group

Northcrest

The old Berrimah Farm redevelopment will occur over a period of around 15 years, in 11 stages and comprises more
than 2000 dwellings, a mixed use secondary activity centre, a research precinct and two primary schools. The Stage 2
Development Permit was granted in April 2019.

INPEX

Bladin Point
Expansion
(Trains 3 to 6)

Future expansion at Bladin Point is subject to identification of suitable gas resources; relevant commercial terms being
achieved; and the necessary planning and environmental approvals being obtained.

KGL Resources

Jervois Copper
Project

A $217 million open cut and underground mine 270 kilometres north east of Alice Springs with onsite processing to
produce copper/gold/silver concentrate and lead/zinc concentrate.

Neptune Energy

Bonaparte Gas
Project

Neptune Energy is examining all options to develop the reserves at Petrel, Tern and Frigate fields, 250 kilometres west
south west of Darwin.

Seafarms Group
Limited

Project Sea
Dragon

A $2.14 billion world class aquaculture business to produce more than 100 000 tonnes of prawns per year, grown in
10 000 ha of ponds at Legune.

Shell

Prelude FLNG

World’s largest Floating LNG facility, 850 kilometres west of Darwin. The project commenced operation in
December 2018, when gas was introduced into the facility. The first condensate shipment occurred in March 2019, and
LNG in June 2019. Operations and maintenance base for the Project is located the East Arm Logistics Precinct.

Tellus Holding

Chandler Salt
Mine

A $676 million underground salt mine with an allied processing and packaging facility, with a waste and licensed storage
facility in the resultant void.
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Proponent

Project

Description and status

TNG Limited

Mount Peake
Mine

A $207 million Iron-Vanadium-Titanium mine and beneficiation facility located 235 kilometres north-north west of
Alice Springs with a $546 million TiVAN® processing facility proposed for Middle Arm Darwin.

Verdant Minerals
Limited

Ammaroo
Phosphate

A $755 million open cut mine and beneficiation, exporting 2 million tonnes per annum of phosphate rock concentrate.
Located about 180 kilometres south east of Tennant Creek on Ammaroo station.

Vista Gold

Mount Todd
Gold Mine

A $1.5 billion open cut gold mine, 55 kilometres north of Katherine.

Facilitated investment projects
•

As at 30 June 2019, the department had responsibility for the delivery of 11 facilitated investment projects valued at over $30 billion as outlined in the
following table.
Project

Proponent

Description

Status

Alice Springs
Tourism and
Commercial
Precinct

TBA

Development of a new and unique mixed use
tourism commercial development

The government continued engagement with native title holders in
Alice Springs regarding development opportunities.

Darwin Luxury
Hotel

Landbridge
Westin (now
Darwin
Westin
Hotel)

Development of a Darwin Luxury Hotel at the
Darwin Waterfront.

The government continued to facilitate delivery of the
$200 million Darwin Westin Hotel including, Development
Consent Authority approval July 2018, site release for the Hotel
and Apartment sites in April 2019 and McMahon Services
awarded the first contract in December 2018.

Darwin Port Lease

Landbridge
Group

Darwin Port has been leased for 99 years to the
Landbridge Group with Landbridge paying
$506 million for the lease.

The department continued to facilitate strategic engagement and
partnership between Landbridge and the government through
ongoing management of the Darwin Port lease.

Darwin Water
Theme Park

N/A

An international standard Water Theme Park located
in the inner Darwin area to attract increased tourist
visitation, extend the period of stay for tourists and
enhance the liveability of Darwin.

The NTG is no longer actively pursuing the development of the
Darwin Water Theme Park project.

Ichthys LNG

INPEX

Completion of further requirements onsite

Ongoing completion of the combined cycle power plant and
remedial works being undertaken at Bladin Point. Trains is
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Project

Proponent

Description

Status
complete. First LNG cargo left Bladin Point on 22 October 2018
and first LPG cargo on 16 November 2018.

Mount Isa to
Tennant Creek
Railway

TBA

Around 620 kilometres standard gauge railway
connecting the Darwin to Adelaide line with the
Mount Isa to Townsville line.

The NT, Queensland and Australian Governments commissioned a
strategic options paper to consider options to advance the railway.
Technical assessment to de-risk the engineering and
environmental elements of the project is complete. These reports
are publicly available.

Seniors Lifestyle
Accommodation in
Darwin and Alice
Springs

TBA

Development of retirement villages in Darwin Rural
and Darwin Urban.

An EOI for the Darwin Rural Senior Lifestyle Accommodation
closed in December 2018 and the shortlisted proponents have
been invited to participate in the Request for Details Proposals
phase.
A one stage Request For Details Proposals for Darwin Urban
Senior Lifestyle Accommodation opened in May 2019.

Development of retirement village in Alice Springs.

The government continued engagement with native title holders in
Alice Springs regarding Senior Lifestyle Accommodation
development opportunities.

Northern Gas
Pipeline

Jemena
Northern Gas
Pipeline Pty
Ltd

Construction of a 622 kilometres pipeline from
Tennant Creek to Mount Isa, linking the NT Gas Grid
with the Eastern Australian Gas Grid

Construction was completed in October 2018 with commercial
operations commencing on 3 January 2019.

Ship Lift and Marine
Industries

NT Govt

$100 million commitment from the NTG to
developing ship lift infrastructure to catalyse the
development of a new marine engineering and
servicing sector to grow Darwin as a marine service
centre for North Australia.

The government continued to progress project with the FEED
phase completed in September 2018 and a vessel market, financial
and economic analysis report completed in February 2019.

Super Yacht
Facilities

TBA

Darwin is strategically located, and offers the
potential to establish super yacht industry servicing
hub for Northern Australia.

Strategic business case is currently underway.

Luxury Lodge
Accommodation

TBA

The development of new luxury accommodation
experiences that leverage the NT’s natural
environment offer the potential to grow a
high-value segment of the tourism industry.

Strategic business case is currently underway.
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Appendix F
Acronyms
Acronyms

Full form

AASB

Australian Accounting Standards Board

ABE

Aboriginal Business Enterprise

ADF

Australian Defence Force

AIDN-NT

Australian Industry and Defence Network NT

AKBC-KABC

Australia Korea Business Council-Korea Australia Business Council

ARDS

Aboriginal Resource and Development Services

ATO

Australian Tax Office

BAP

Business Acceleration Program

BEP

Business Engagement Program

BISI

Business Innovation Support Initiative

BOM

Board of Management

BP3

Budget Paper No. 3

CADO

Central Australia Development Office

CCTV

Closed circuit television

CDU

Charles Darwin University

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

DAMA

Designated Area Migration Agreement

DCIS

Department of Corporate and Information Services

DLGHCD

Department of Local Government, Housing and Community Development

EDF

Economic Development Framework

EIA

Economic (and social) impact assessment

EMG

Executive Management Group

FEED

Front End Engineering and Design

FVOCI

Fair value through other comprehensive income

FVTPL

Fair value through profit or loss

GST

Goods and Services Tax

ICT

Information and Communication Technology

IET

International Education and Training

ISACNT

Industry Skills Advisory Council NT

KMP

Key management personnel

LDM

Local decision-making
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Acronyms

Full form

MAP

Multi-Agency Partnership

METS

Mining, Equipment, Technology and Services

MINT

Migration Innovation NT

NADO

Northern Australia Development Office

NAHIC

Northern Australia Health Innovation Centre

NDIS

National Disability Insurance Scheme

NT

Northern Territory

NTG

Northern Territory Government

NTPS

Northern Territory Public Sector

NTSOPL

NT Skilled Occupation Priority List

OBM

October Business Month

OCI

Other comprehensive income

OCPE

Office of the Commissioner for Public Employment

PIIF

Paspalis Innovation Investment Fund

PSEMA

Public Sector Employment and Management Act 1993

RAEDF

Remote Aboriginal Economic Development Fund

REDC

Regional economic development committees

REDF

Regional Economic Development Fund

SBC

Small Business Champions

SDAB

Strategic Defence Advisory Board

STEM

Science, technology, engineering and mathematics

TBC

Territory Business Centres

TPC

Territory Property Consultants

TSS

Trade Support Scheme

USA

United States of America

VET

Vocational education and training

WHS

Work Health and Safety
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Appendix G
Contacting the department
Department contacts
Darwin
GPO Box 3200
Darwin NT 0801
Telephone: (08) 8982 1700
General Contact: BusinessNT@nt.gov.au
Chief Executive Officer: ceo.dtbi@nt.gov.au

Territory Business Centres
Email: territory.businesscentre@nt.gov.au
Phone: 1800 193 111

Darwin

Katherine

Building 3, Darwin Corporate Park
631 Stuart Highway, Berrimah

Shop 1, Randazzo Building
18 Katherine Terrace, Katherine

Alice Springs

Tennant Creek

Ground Floor, The Green Well Building
50 Bath Street, Alice Springs

Shop 2, Barkly House
Corner Davidson and Patterson Streets,
Tennant Creek

Other Contacts
Division

Phone

Email

Business and Innovation NT

(08) 8999 5218

BusinessNT@nt.gov.au

Workforce NT

(08) 8935 7708

WorkforceNT.dtbi@nt.gov.au

StudyNT

(08) 8999 6399

StudyNT@nt.gov.au

Procurement NT

(08) 8999 5427

ProcurementNT@nt.gov.au

Northern Australia Development and Trade

(08) 8999 6099

NADO@nt.gov.au

Office of International Engagement, Trade
and Investment

(08) 8946 9555

International.engagment@nt.gov.au
tradesupport@nt.gov.au

Northern Australia, Economic and Industry
Development

(08) 8999 3873

DefenceNT@nt.gov.au
industrydevelopment@nt.gov.au
gasdevelopment@nt.gov.au

Regional Economic Development

(09) 8951 5785

CADO@nt.gov.au

Strategic Infrastructure and Projects

(08) 8999 6167

SIP@nt.gov.au

Strategic Services

(08) 8999 1829

News.DTBI@nt.gov.au

Executive

(08) 8999 5204

CEO.DTBI@nt.gov.au
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How to access information
Details on how to apply for access to information in line with the Information Act 2002 are available at:
https://nt.gov.au/law/rights/freedom-of-information
Further assistance can be provided by contacting:
Information Officer
Department of Trade, Business and Innovation
GPO Box 3200
DARWIN NT 0801
Email: Centralrecords.DTBI@nt.gov.au

Feedback
We value your feedback and input. You can contact us with anything from procurement queries to new
ways to support and grow Territory businesses and the Territory economy. We would also appreciate your
input on how we can better report activities to you. You can provide feedback on the department’s
website: https://business.nt.gov.au/contact/website-feedback-form
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